
AB
CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING INEQUALITIES 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MONDAY 18 JULY 2016
7.00 PM

Bourges/Viersen Room - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for absence

2. Declarations of Interest and Whipping Declarations

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 
Members must also declare if they are subject to their party group whip in 
relation to any items under consideration.

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 March 2016 3 - 12

4. Call In of any Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Key Officer Decisions

The decision notice for each decision will bear the date on which it is 
published and will specify that the decision may then be implemented on the 
expiry of 3 working days after the publication of the decision (not including 
the date of publication), unless a request for call-in of the decision is 
received from any two Members of a Scrutiny Committee or Scrutiny 
Commissions.  If a request for call-in of a decision is received, 
implementation of the decision remains suspended for consideration by the 
relevant Scrutiny Committee or Commission.

5. Appointment Of A Co-Opted Member 13 - 14

6. School Attendance Including Behaviour and Attendance Panels and 
Pressure on School Places

15 - 34

7. Review of Progress Against Action Plan Following Ofsted Inspection 
of Children's Services, 2015

35 - 114

8. Child and Adolescent Mental Health Transformation Programme 115 - 118

9. Prevent and the Work of the Channel Panel 119 - 124

Public Document Pack



10. Review Of 2015/2016 and Draft Work Programme for 2016/17 125 - 136

11. Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 137 - 160

12. Date of Next Meeting

Monday, 12 September 2016.

There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Karen S Dunleavy on 01733 452233 as soon as possible.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take 
photographs and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the 
public. A protocol on this facility is available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%
20Recording.pdf

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Committee Members:

Councillors: Aitken (Chair), J Peach (Vice Chairman), B Rush, Bisby, J Shearman, Amjad Iqbal 
and D Fower

Substitutes: Councillors: Ayres, Ellis and Barkham

Education Co-optees: Paul Rossi, Roman Catholic Church Representative
Miranda Robinson, Church of England Representative

Alastair Kingsley, Independent Co-opted Member

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Karen S Dunleavy on telephone 
01733 452233 or by email – karen.dunleavy@peterborough.gov.uk

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf


AB
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE

CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
HELD IN THE

BOURGES/VIERSEN ROOM, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH
ON MONDAY 14 MARCH 2016

Present: Councillors Saltmarsh (Chairman), Fower, Rush, Peach, Harper and Yonga.

Cabinet Member: Councillor Coles

Also present: Alistair Kingsley, Independent Co-opted Member
Miranda Robinson, Church of England Representative 
Stuart Francis, Parent Governor

Officers in 
Attendance: Wendi Ogle Welbourn, Corporate Director People and Communities

Gary Perkins, Head of School Improvement
Lou Williams, Service Director Children’s Services and Safeguarding
Pat Carrington, Principal/Head of Post 16 
Ian Phillips, Social Inclusion Manager
Councillor Thulbourn, Chairman of Design and Implementation Group
Alison Stuart, Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services
Karen S Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer 

1. Apologies for absence 

Apologies for absence was received from Councillor Shearman, Councillor Jamil was in 
attendance as substitute.

2. Declarations of Interest and Whipping Declarations 

There were no declarations of Interests or whipping declarations.

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 18 January 2016 

The minutes of the meetings held on 18 January 2016 were approved as a true and accurate 
record of the meeting, subject to the correction of Miranda Robinson’s surname being 
recorded correctly.

4. Call In of any Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Key Officer Decisions 

There were no requests for Call-in to consider.

5. Presentation Of 2015 Final and Validated Assessment Results By Pupil 
Characteristics for EYFS, Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 

The Head of School Improvement introduced the report which summarised the 2015 final and 
validated assessment results by pupil characteristics for the Early Years Foundation Stage 
(EYFS – Reception Year – YR), Key Stage 1 (Y1 and Y2) and Key Stage 2 (Y6).  Members 
were also advised that the KS4 results by pupil characteristics (validated) were not yet 

3



available they were due to be published on 29 March 2016 by OfSTED, which was too late to 
report to this Committee. 

Observations and questions were raised and discussed including:

 Members commented that the main strands of proportion data had been included 
within the report.  Members asked about the Pupil Premium and English as an 
additional language (EAL) academy and how the strategies would become embedded 
and broader across all schools in the city?  The Head of School Improvement advised 
Members that the Authority would need to demonstrate that the Pupil Premium and 
EAL strategies had been successfully implemented in schools in order to retain the 
funding and demonstrate whether the strategies had been value for money.  Members 
were also advised that regardless of any funding review conducted, the Authority would 
continue to make arrangements for Pupil Premium to disadvantaged groups and EAL 
should be self-sustained by teachers in schools.  

 Members asked whether there had been any specific data of EAL learners in the 
strategy that stood out and whether there had been improvements the authority could 
make? The Head of School Improvement advised the Pakistani heritage group of EAL 
learners had increased, but not in terms of attracting membership for school governors.  

 Members commented about Peterborough’s education development and the success 
rate and asked when the Authority anticipated that the education gap would be closed?  
The Head of School Improvement advised Members that the gap would be closed as 
soon as the progress could speed up.  Headteachers, Teachers and Governors also 
had an important role to champion the education progress required to close the gap.

 Members commented that it seemed to be difficult for schools to close the gap and 
that there may be other reasons in addition to strong leadership that had contributed 
to not meeting the expectations sooner.  The Head of School Improvement advised 
Members that both strong leadership and good teaching were important in schools in 
order to close the gap in addition to holding those responsible to account for low 
performance.

 Members asked why some cohorts had appeared at the bottom of the scale in closing 
the gap performance figures?  The Head of School Improvement advised that 
performance was dependant on good teaching to make a difference in closing the gap 
and that trends had improved over time, which had demonstrated that education for 
Peterborough was heading in the right direction.  The Authority needed to ensure that 
support systems implemented for schools would be replicated and that rigour was 
maintained in order to attain success across the City to close the gap.

 Members commented whether there had been education issues for those children that 
had not attended nurseries or playgroups prior to joining primary education.  The Head 
of School Improvement advised Members that education outcomes for children that 
had attended a pre-school experience had made a difference and that it was an avenue 
that the Authority planned to promote school readiness and set a level that pre-school 
children should be at. Members were also advised that there needed to be a joined up 
approach for nursery and schools.

 Members commented that there had been mixed heritage children in attendance at 
local schools where parents had stated that their children had already undertaken 
some of the lessons in their own country.  Members asked why the Authority had 
performed poorly in the national league for education attainment as well as globally? 
The Head of School Improvement advised Members that the Authority’s education 
aspirations needed to focus on what qualifications and skills businesses required from 
potential employees and aimed to provide the education opportunities appropriately. 

4



 Members asked how schools could encourage children to speak the English language 
at home that they had learnt on a school day?  The Head of School Improvement 
advised that it had been important for pupils to become conversant in studies using 
the language spoken at home and then the English speaking skills would develop over 
time.  Members were also advised that there should be an opportunity provided for all 
to learn English and that some children in Peterborough were phenomenal linguists. 

 Members commented that the Pupil Premium (PP) should be properly allocated for 
EAL and asked whether the PP funding was allocated elsewhere by schools?  The 
Head of School Improvement advised that there had been a desire by some schools 
to use PP funding in a more targeted way such as on EAL for adults.  The funding was 
introduced to support students that were disadvantaged, however, there had been a 
feeling that too much funding was used on staff, rather than on, for example, warm 
clothes and high quality books for disadvantaged children and further research was 
required in this area to ascertain where the funding support had been utilised.

 Members commented that it had appeared that one reason the Authority seemed to 
struggle to close the education gap was due to the breakdown between parent and 
teachers and asked whether the governing body could provide any influence on 
improvement measures by encouraging better communications between home and 
school?  The Head of School Improvement advised that it had been important to 
encourage better communication between schools and home and that this could be 
driven by strong leadership through the governing body. 

 Members asked what the Authority’s position was on ensuring schools improved 
communication links between home and school?  The Head of School Improvement 
advised that the parent body would need to raise issues with the school if they felt that 
communication had not been properly conducted.  The Authority could only encourage 
good communication between school and home and would only become involved in 
an issue if a complaint had been raised against a school.  

 Members commented that the performance figures in appendix 5 of the report in 
relation to the any other white background had shown a poor result and asked which 
improvements listed in paragraph 5.8 of the report would be put in place for this 
particular group?   The Head of School Improvement advised that in terms of the 
scores it had been demonstrated that the Authority had made some improvements.  It 
had also been recognised that although improvements were made in areas such as 
reading skills for other white background pupils across all year groups  there was 
further work to be done.  High priority schools had been identified to ensure that 
improvements were replicated across all schools in  the City.

 Members asked for examples of what initiatives the Authority had undertaken to make 
improvements across all vulnerable groups in the City as outlined in the report?  The 
Head of School Improvement advised that the Authority had improved data capture by 
school leaders and teachers and know how to retrieve the information required.  It was 
anticipated that significant  improvements would be seen in 17/18.

 Members asked why the Key Stage 4 data had not been presented at the meeting? 
The Head of School Improvement advised that there had been a timing issue in terms 
of when the results were released by Department for Education (DfE) and when the 
Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities meeting was due to be held.

 Members asked that where some schools were scored as outstanding by OfSTED 
whether these were the highest performing schools in Peterborough?  The Head of 
School Improvement advised that it was not always the case as school situations 
changed over time.

   

5



ACTIONS AGREED

The Committee:

 Analysed the performance in the 2015 assessments;
 Scrutinised People and Communities actions to improve 2015/16 performance; and
 Supported the People and Communities leaders in challenging and intervening in 

schools where performance is inadequate.

6. Skills Strategy 

The Principal/Head of Service City College Peterborough introduced a report to Members on 
the draft Peterborough Skills Strategy, which Members were requested to recommend for 
approval at Cabinet. 

Observations and questions were raised and discussed including:

 Members asked whether the city-wide approach statement outlined on page 37, 
paragraph 5.1 of the report was accurate?  The Principal/Head of Post 16 confirmed 
that the statement should state that there was no city-wide approach to the post 16 
and adults schools agenda. 

 Members complemented the Officer on an excellent report and asked whether the key 
areas for skill development of business growth would be dominant from the public 
sector?  The Principal/Head of Post 16 advised that the main challenges had been to 
engage with local business, within the timeframe.  Members were also advised that 
Opportunity Peterborough and Local Chamber of Commerce had been engaged in 
order to strengthen the skills for local businesses by forming a sub-committee to 
encourage a more partnered approach to improve the representation of what is 
required by local businesses.

 Members asked whether the City College intended to work in joined up way with 
primary and secondary schools in order to improve the outcome for children at risk of 
growing up with no education prospects?  The Principal/Head of Post 16 advised that 
discussions were being held to explore a more joined up approach to education 
schools at an earlier stage and had identified the sector led pathways in order to 
provide a route for pupils career journey.

 Members asked how confident the college was over the performance of the Skills 
Strategy action plan?  The Principal/Head of Post 16 advised Members that the college 
had developed a report mechanism for all groups involved in the plan and that progress 
updates would be fed through to the Skills Board and the Health and Well Being 
Programme Board. 

 Members asked whether the approach would be maintained up to a 12 month period?  
The Principal/Head of Post 16 confirmed that the college was very enthusiastic and 
would maintain the approach to complete the task. 

RECOMMENDATION

The Committee recommended that there was more involvement in consulting with local 
businesses going forward to undertake the actions included in the Skills Strategy.

6



AGREED ACTION

The Committee endorsed the Skills Strategy for approval by Cabinet and also agreed that the 
wording at paragraph 5.1 of the covering report should be amended to state that there was no 
city-wide approach to the post and adult skills agenda.

7. Children and Families Joint Commissioning Board Achievement Report 

The Service Director Children’s Services and Safeguarding introduced the report which 
summarised the activities and achievements of the Children and Families Joint 
Commissioning Board during 2015/16.

Observations and questions were raised and discussed including:

 Members commented on the further £1.5m from the Government to address the 
national priority to support mental health issues.

AGREED ACTIONS

The Committee noted the contents of the report and suggested that a further summary report 
be presented in 12 months’ time as a briefing note under the alternative governance system.

8. Outline Child Poverty Strategy 

The Social Inclusion Manager introduced the report to the Committee, which outlined the Child 
Poverty Strategy, and requested that the Committee note the next steps for developing the 
strategy and make any initial observations or recommendations.

Observations and questions were raised and discussed including:

 Members commented on page 89 of the report in relation to Special Educational Needs 
and Disability (SEND) and the latest reforms and asked how the strategy dealt with the 
pinch points highlighted for schools?  The Service Director Children’s Services and 
Safeguarding advised that the aim was to provide clear support and advice to schools 
and partners on how to effectively resource support over the issues to tackle child 
poverty.

 Members commented that there was a need to provide the right financial support as 
well as effective governing bodies in order to meet the requirements of the Poverty 
Strategy to support families. The Service Director Children’s Services and 
Safeguarding advised that there had been a good understanding of child poverty 
across the City, which would help to develop the Poverty Strategy.  The issues for 
some children had been most significant where families were living in constant poverty.  
The Corporate Director People and Communities also advised Members that areas for 
development such as SEND would be allocated to a lead officer to take forward, which 
could involve exploring joined up funds and commissioning for services.

 Members commented that there were many factors which contributed to the issues of 
poverty and asked about whether there had been any thought given to the amount of 
money lending companies and gambling establishments located in the City?  The 
Service Director Children’s Services and Safeguarding advised Members that the 
Authority ensured that there were alternative options available such as encouraging 
credit unions that could provide affordable financial support and advice to families.

 Members commented that poverty had been defined as families with an income of less 
than 60% of the average household income and asked what the actual average figure 
was?  The Social Inclusion Manager advised that the poverty household income was 

7



set at around £13k when using local household income data..   The Service Director 
Children’s Services and Safeguarding also advised that the poverty figure was 
dependent on number of children in the house and other measures in order to capture 
all aspects. 

 Members commented on page 94 of the report in relation to the expensive housing 
and poor living conditions and asked how these properties were being identified?  The 
Social Inclusion Manager advised that the properties were identified through a broad 
range of intelligence that had been received by the Authority from partner agencies 
such as the Citizens Advice Bureau and Social Worker visits.

 Members commented that some residents may feel that complaining about their 
property could cause repercussions for them and asked if there was a way that tenants 
could identify issues in a confidential way?  The Service Director Children’s Services 
and Safeguarding advised that the Authority aimed to work with landlords to raise 
standards and improve properties, particularly through the Selective Licensing 
proposals..

 Members asked about Pupil Premium funds and how it had been allocated in relation 
to poverty and asked how the Authority had captured projects within the Poverty 
Strategy such as the supermarkets provision of food boxes?   The Social Inclusion 
Manager advised that there were a number of initiatives such as food banks and 
Citizen Advice that had engaged with supermarkets and that there were around 2,000 
residents in the last year that were able to access the services and receive help with 
the issues being experienced.  The Chairman commented that volunteer organisations 
that provided support for families that experienced poverty should be congratulated for 
their dedication in supporting the community.

AGREED ACTIONS

The Committee approved the Outline Child Poverty Strategy as presented to Committee and 
agreed the plans for further development. 

The Committee also asked for further information on the 18 indicators for tackling health 
inequalities for Peterborough which had ranked significantly better than the national average.

9. Service Director and Portfolio Overview Report: Children & Safeguarding, Including 
an Update On The Ofsted Action Plan 

The Service Director Children’s Services and Safeguarding introduced the report to Members 
which provided an overview of the key activities within the portfolio of the Service Director for 
Children and Safeguarding, as well as providing a summary of key performance information 
in respect of Children’s Social Care.

The report also provides a brief update on progress being made in relation to the action plan 
put in place following the findings of the OfSTED inspection of Children’s Services in 
Peterborough, as published in the inspection report on 18 September 2015. 

The Services Director Children’s Services and Safeguarding also advised members that 
Social Worker caseloads had reduced to an average of 20.  In addition, Members were 
advised that recent inspections of both short break homes, by OfSTED had resulted in both 
homes achieving ‘Good’. .

Observations and questions were raised and discussed including:

 Members asked whether the Authority sought Social Workers thoughts and opinions 
about the current social service provision in an anonymous way?  The Service Director 

8



for Children and Safeguarding advised that Social Workers had Regular opportunities 
to provide thoughts and opinions about services; The Social Work Forum provided a 
means by which social workers could convey their opinions to senior managers; this 
was chaired by the Principal Social Worker and consisted of representatives from most 
teams in the service. The Service Director and other senior officers also undertook 
regular case audits alongside social workers, which provide them with an opportunity 
to raise any issues directly with senior officers. In general, morale appeared to be 
generally positive. Members asked how the Authority was performing in relation to 
statistics for ethnic minority foster carers for Children in Care (CiC)?  The Service 
Director for Children and Safeguarding advised Members that the population of foster 
carers did not match the Authority’s diversity needs.  There had been a number of 
targeted recruitment drives but these had not had the hoped for success. The 
recruitment and retention of black and minority ethnic foster carers was a key 
performance target for the proposed Permanency Service. Members asked whether 
the statement in paragraph 4.38 of the report had alluded to the Authority not meeting 
the needs of children and young people adequately?  The Service Director for Children 
and Safeguarding advised Members that there would always be a number of children 
that would require care arrangements; what is the ‘right’ number of children and young 
people in care can be difficult to specify but that current numbers in care in 
Peterborough are in line with statistical neighbours.   

 Members commented over the statement in paragraph 4.44 of the report in relation to 
the accuracy and asked why the inaccurate figures were being included?  The Service 
Director for Children and Safeguarding advised Members that the system could not 
cope with the timeline of when children came into care over a number of scenarios, 
which was why the figures were inaccurate.  The figures had been included within the 
report in accordance with transparency.

 Members commented about transparency and asked what plans were in place to 
further expand on planned work to identify causes of high numbers of re-referrals and 
the timeliness of visits in line with good practice?  The Service Director for Children 
and Safeguarding advised that there had been an initial audit of re-referrals that had 
identified that part of the reason for the high rate was that the service was not closing 
contacts down quickly enough; a contact open for more than 24 hours automatically 
became a referral, many of which would be closed down shortly after. If a subsequent 
referral was then made on the same child, this would then be a re-referral; however 
had the initial contact been closed down within the 24 hour period, then the second 
referral would not count as a re-referral. More work is necessary to identify the issues 
here, however, and further dip-samples of case decision making and audits would be 
taking place over coming months to explore the causes of this in more detail. 
Performance on visits is one that needs to improve and be sustained; there will always 
be some visits that do not take place – where children on child protection plans have 
left the country for example – but in most cases this was about managers having high 
expectations of the quality of practice by workers. current practice in terms of 
organising visits in a timely manner and work had been underway to put plans in place 
and holding services to account over the timeliness of visit issues currently being 
experienced.  In addition an audit had identified that there had been an issue of when 
a decision was made to conduct a looked after child re-referral or whether the visit 
should have been a contact in the first place.  The process would be reviewed and a 
recommendation put forward as to what good practice was, which would be fed back 
to this Committee in due course.

 Members commented about dental checks conducted for looked after children 
highlighted within the report, which had presented low performance figures and asked 

9



what had been put in place to improve the outcome? The Service Director for Children 
and Safeguarding advised Members that the performance result is reliant on carers 
telling Social Workers when dental checks had been conducted.  Members were also 
advised that the relevant Heads of Service and Managers had been assigned to 
improve outcomes for dental checks, however, there were a number of older children 
that refused to attend a dentist appointment which provided an additional challenge.

 An amendment had been required at paragraph 4.4 of the report to note that the year 
should state November 2015.

 The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services commented that it had been positive to 
see consistent improvement across most areas in Children’s Services since the recent 
OfSTED inspection, and while there was still more to do, the progress made in general 
was encouraging.

ACTION AGREED

The Committee noted the contents of the report and requested:

1. To be supplied with the number of Looked After Children that were placed outside of 
the City; and 

2. An update to be included in a report later in the year to outline the outcome of the 
review and recommendation for practice improvements in conducting re-referrals and 
timeliness of CiC visits.

The Committee would review the OfSTED action plan once it had been formally updated at a 
Scrutiny Committee later in the year, subject to the Governance procedure after May 2016.

10. Alternative Governance 

The Chairman of Design and Implementation Group introduced the report to Members on the 
next steps for the Alternative Governance system following Council’s decision on 27 January 
2016 to confirm its earlier decision to adopt a hybrid model of governance to take effect from 
the Annual Council meeting in May 2016. 

Observations and questions were raised and discussed including:

 Members commented on the reduction of the topics for Scrutiny Committees through 
the new Alternative Governance system and asked whether there would be a greater 
onus on the Committee workload? The Chairman of Design and Implementation Group 
advised Members that the Committees workload and function would change to an 
Overview Scrutiny and that most reports would be presented in a traffic light format.  
Members were also advised that the aim of the Alternative governance system was to 
involve Scrutiny at an earlier stage of the decision making process.  The system would 
also encouraged a more intense concentration to issues such as education 
development in order to drive change.

 Members commented that the new Alternative Governance system seemed to be a 
more logical way to conduct Council business, which would provide an opportunity to 
become involved in the decision making process at an earlier stage. Members asked 
where Scrutiny Committees would be provided with the opportunity to discuss topics 
in an in-depth way when the workload would so be condensed?  The Chairman of 
Design and Implementation Group, advised that the traffic light system would allow the 
Committee to call issues for scrutiny where the service performance was at risk of 

10



underperformance.  Members were also advised that Minority reports would also 
become a significant part of the decision making function.

 Members of the Committee that were not Councillors would continue to be involved in 
the Scrutiny process.

 Members commented that there should be priority topics identified for each meeting 
and that it would be important to develop a clear definition of what was expected from 
Committee in order to focus on what the key strands were.  The Chairman of Design 
and Implementation Group advised that the Scrutiny Committee would focus on 
digging deep into certain areas of Authority services, which would be strictly set for the 
year in a more structured way.  It was up to the Committee to develop the key areas 
of focus for the year. 

 Members commented that consideration should be given to provide the training 
session in the daytime.  

 Members asked what was the planned time of day to hold Scrutiny Committee 
meetings?  The Chairman of Design and Implementation Group advised Members that 
there had been suggestions for both day and evening training sessions.  Members 
were advised that the meeting times would be dependent on Cabinet and when 
decisions were due to be taken.  Members were also advised that reports would be 
directorate driven, however the system would ensure that items would not need to be 
presented to lots of different Committees.

ACTIONS AGREED

That the Committee:

1. Noted the update on the outcome of the Scrutiny Workshops;
2. Noted the actions to be taken following the Annual Council meeting in May 2016 to 

embed the hybrid model and in particular to advise Scrutiny Members of the impact of 
those proposals on their work programme; and  

3. Commented on the induction programme. 

11. Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 

The Committee received the latest version of the Council’s Forward Plan of Executive 
Decisions, containing key decisions that the Leader of the Council anticipated the Cabinet or 
individual Cabinet Members would make during the course of the following four months.  
Members were invited to comment on the Forward Plan and where appropriate, identify any 
relevant areas for inclusion in the Committee’s work programme.

ACTION AGREED:

The Committee reviewed the Forward Plan and requested confirmation over whether the 
‘Vivacity Premier Fitness Invest to Save Scheme’ non key decision item was intended for 
consideration by the Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny Committee and 
asked to be provided with the reasons why it had been assigned to the Committee.

The chairman thanked the Committee for their work throughout the year.

7:00pm – 9:03

CHAIRMAN
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Agenda Item No. 5

18 JULY 2016 Public Report

Report of the Director of Governance                                      

Contact Officer(s) – Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Contact Details - Tel:  01733 452508 email: paulina.ford@peterborough.gov.uk

APPOINTMENT OF A CO-OPTED MEMBER

1. PURPOSE

1.1 The purpose of this report is to request that the Committee consider retaining Alistair Kingsley 
as a co-opted Member to the Committee.  As per the constitution Part 4, Section 8 – Scrutiny 
Committee and Scrutiny Commission Procedure Rules, paragraph 3:

3.1 The Scrutiny Committee or Scrutiny Commissions shall be entitled to co-opt, as non-
voting members, external representatives or otherwise invite participation from non-
members where this is relevant to their work.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 It is recommended that the Committee retain the membership of Alistair Kingsley to the 
Committee as an Independent Co-optee with no voting rights for the municipal year 2016/2017.  
This to be reviewed on an annual basis.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 Alistair Kingsley became a co-opted member of this Committee as a Parent Governor 
Representative in May 2010, his term of office was for three years and this ended in May 2013.  
Alistair was unable to continue for another three years as his role as Parent Governor had 
changed and he was therefore no longer eligible to be co-opted to the Committee as a Parent 
Governor Representative.  On 22 April 2013 this Committee considered and agreed that Alistair 
could remain on the Committee as an Independent Co-opted Member with no voting rights.  
Alistair has been an active and valuable member of the Committee providing effective and 
challenging scrutiny at all meetings.  He has also been a member of two Task and Finish 
Groups during his appointment to the Committee and also a Member of the working group 
which planned the Scrutiny in a Day event. Alistair has expressed a keen interest in continuing 
as a co-opted member and Committee Members have also expressed an interest in retaining 
Alistair as a Member.

6. IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None

7. CONSULTATION

7.1 None

8. NEXT STEPS

8.1 If the Committee agree to appoint Alistair Kingsley as a Co-opted Member of the Committee 
from July 2016 Alistair can continue to attend all meetings of the Committee and any Task and 
Finish Groups that the Committee agree that he may be assigned to.  Alistair will however have 

13



no voting rights.

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 None

14



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6

18 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of the Corporate Director of People and Communities
Terry Reynolds – Interim Service Director (Education) Tel. 863912Contact 

Officers Gary Perkins – Head of School Improvement Tel. 863729

SCHOOL ATTENDANCE INCLUDING BEHAVIOUR AND ATTENDANCE PANELS AND PRESSURE 
ON SCHOOL PLACES

1. PURPOSE

1.1 This paper summarises the current context and position regarding attendance rates at schools 
and the current context and position regarding the planning of school places and admissions to 
schools.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 The committee is asked to:

 Consider the context and position regarding attendance rates at schools, school place 
planning and admissions to schools;

 Scrutunise People and Communities actions to promote good school attendance, ensure 
the efficient and effective supply of school places and an efficient admissions system;

 Support People and Communities leaders in supporting, challenging and intervening in 
schools where necessary if provision is less than good.

3. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PRIORITIES

3.1 Improve educational attainment and skills

4. BACKGROUND

4.1

4.1.1

The Attendance Service

The purpose of the Attendance Service is to fulfil the obligation of the city council to promote 
good school attendance and monitor the quality of provision for children whose parents/carers 
elect to educate them otherwise than at school.  Until 2013 the service was a standalone 
section of the Education and Resources division of Children’s Services, and suffered from some 
ineffective leadership and lack of focus. 

In September 2013, the service was incorporated into the School Improvement Team within the 
Education, Resources and Property division of the People and Communities directorate, under 
the leadership of the Head of School Improvement. The team was reconstituted to include 2 
Senior Attendance Officers, reporting to the Head of School Improvement, and 2 Attendance 
Officers, reporting to the seniors.  In addition there was the appointment of a 0.6fte Elective 
Home Education (EHE) monitoring officer and two posts involved in the tracking and monitoring 
of Children Missing Education (CME).  During June 2016 these 2 CME posts were moved out of 
the Attendance Service, enabling the service to focus fully upon school attendance and elective 
home education.  The links between attendance at school and behaviour at school are 

15



achieved through co-operative working between the School Improvement Team (Attendance) 
and the behaviour monitoring panels which are led and managed through the Pupil Referral 
Service (PRS).  The Head of School Improvement reports to the Service Director (Education).

4.2 School Place Planning and Admissions

This element of work is undertaken by two teams working within the Schools Infrastructure 
team within the Education division of the People and Communities directorate, led by the Head 
of Schools Infrastructure.  The Admissions team is led by a Head of Admissions and consists of 
admissions officers and administrative support officers.  The school place planning element is 
overseen by a school place planning team, co-located with the admissions team and sitting 
within the Schools Infrastructure team.  The Head of Schools Infrastructure reports to the 
Service Director (Education).

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

School Attendance

The guidance document “Promoting Good School Attendance” states that:

“Peterborough City Council (PCC) (The Local Authority/LA) considers that school
attendance, and the improvement of it, is an integral part of our raising achievement agenda.
We are committed to working in partnership with all schools to achieve improved rates of 
attendance and to reduce rates of persistent absence across the city.

We believe that in order to bring about significant educational improvement good habits need to 
be formed at an early age.  It is vital that robust arrangements are in place to support pupils at 
all stages.  Parents and carers whose own experience of school may have been less than 
positive must be encouraged to see the value of educational opportunities for their children.

The LA will contribute to improving attendance by:

a) Providing high-quality advice, support, analysis of data and casework services to 
schools and other settings in order to ensure the prompt identification of children 
whose attendance is a cause for concern; 

b) Deploying resources in a targeted fashion to address areas of greatest need, and 
having particular reference to our local priorities and objectives;

c) Ensuring that there is a clear rationale and explanation for the trading of this 
service with schools;

d) Working with other local and external agencies as appropriate;

e) Issuing Penalty Notices and pursuing Non School Attendance 
Prosecutions as appropriate, including for Y11 students until the end of the 
first half term in the summer term.”

In order to achieve our aims, we work in a targeted fashion in order to deploy resource to areas 
of greatest need, whilst being available to provide support where necessary when it is 
requested.  

The Attendance Officers are linked to specific schools, and each school receives a 
proportionate amount of support related to its outcomes – the greater the need to improve, the 
greater the degree of support and guidance offered.  All schools which are maintained by the LA 
receive a core service without further charge.

A number of schools in Peterborough (27%) are academy schools and many of these schools 
employ their own attendance staff.  The PCC Attendance Officers offer support and guidance to 

16



5.7

5.7.1

5.7.2

5.7.3

5.7.4

5.7.5

5.7.6

5.7.7

5.7.8

5.7.9

5.7.10

5.7.11

5.7.12

5.7.13

these schools as well, but on a traded basis.

There are two measures used to judge attendance rates at school.  These are:

Overall Absence (OA) rates (the number of sessions missed by pupils in the school during the 
school year expressed as a percentage)

Persistent Absence (PA) rates (the proportion of pupils within a school whose attendance rates 
are below 90%.

The aim of the School Improvement Team, as stated in the guidance document, is that 

“…  both OA and PA should be at least in line with top 20% when compared to Statistical 
Neighbours by 2016 and also at least in line with the national average by 2017.”

Outcomes in relation to these two measures, and the performance trend, are included as 
Appendix 1.

Between 2012 and 2015, overall attendance at Peterborough state-funded schools 
improved by 0.8%, from 94.5% to 95.3%.

The gap to the national average has closed by 0.3% from 0.4% to 0.1%.

Attendance rates at Peterborough schools are now 0.2% better than the average of the LA 
Statistical Neighbours, and Peterborough is ranked 2nd of 10 in this regard.

The gap to the national average is consistent at 0.1% below in each phase of education, 
and for secondary and special schools in particular has improved markedly from 2013.

The proportion of pupils in Peterborough state-funded schools judged to be persistent 
absentees (PA) has reduced by 1.7% since 2012 and the gap to the national average has 
narrowed.

Outcomes in comparison to the LA Statistical Neighbours have been maintained and 
extended in terms of a positive gap and Peterborough is ranked 1st for overall PA outcomes 
and for primary school outcomes.

The situation in secondary schools is less positive and the gap to the national average is 
widening.  This is a focus of work for the 2015-16 and 2016-17 school years, wherever the 
LA is able to have a direct impact (9 of 12 secondary schools are academy schools and the 
LA has no right of intervention).

The original aims as stated above (5.8) have been achieved, and these will now be 
reconsidered.  Given the ongoing improvement to outcomes, Peterborough should now be 
aiming to be better than the national average for both overall attendance and persistent 
absence.  The LA will retain a statutory duty to promote good school attendance beyond 
2016-17.

To give an indication of the type of work which is undertaken with schools, case studies are 
included as Appendices 2, 3, 4 and 5.  Discussion and questions regarding any and all of 
this work (not just in relation to the case studies) would be welcomed.

6.0

6.1

BEHAVIOUR:

IMPROVING THE BEHAVIOUR OF PRIMARY-AGED CHILDREN 

Lead: Claire George, Executive Headteacher  / Head of Service - Pupil Referral Service

17



6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

6.11

Aims:

 Access and achievement for all; 
 The right support in the right place at the right time; and
 Working together holistically, with the child’s needs at the heart of the process, to 

reduce permanent and fixed term exclusions for primary age children.

Priorities:

Achieving meaningful partnerships with all stakeholders to develop, and implement, a strategy 
for supporting children with social, emotional and behavioural needs, which offers an integrated, 
responsive continuum of support.

 Establishing transparent and consistent protocols and processes to ensure purposeful 
assessment and interventions.

Implementing robust systems for the review and evaluation of interventions, processes and 
Outcomes. 

Delivering a Difference:   
                  
The Primary Behaviour Strategy is built on a belief that children presenting with emotional, 
social and behavioural needs and their families require a holistic, multi-agency response 
together with the right support in the right place at the right time. The delivery model for this is 
the Primary Behaviour Panel.  

Primary Behaviour Panel 

The Behaviour Panel started in November 2014 and considers cases referred by mainstream 
primary schools for any child on their roll whose presenting emotional, social and behavioural 
needs are putting them at risk of permanent exclusion.
 
It meets every 2 weeks during term time. Chaired by the Head of the Pupil Referral Service it 
includes active representation from:

 Police;
 Early Help;
 Educational Psychology;
 CAMH  (since November 15);
 Primary Headteachers;
 Primary Learning Centre; and
 Service Intervention Team.

In addition the Panel has established rapid response referral routes from the Panel to:

 Fire Service;
 Anti-social Behaviour team; 
 NSPCC;
 Drink and Drug Sense;
 School Nursing; and
 Cross Keys Housing.

ALL referrals to the Panel must have an open Early Help Assessment as well as a completed 
Panel Referral Form. These are submitted a week before the Panel meeting so that all partners 
can complete their relevant checks prior to the meeting. 

A robust inter-agency Information Sharing Agreement is in place and the referral form requires 
written consent from the parent / carer for this to occur. Safeguarding children, young people, 

18



6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

6.17

6.18

vulnerable adults and professional workers is always the focus of information sharing. All case 
recording is done on E-cins which is a secure web based system already used by the 
Cambridgeshire Constabulary. 

This means that contacts and actions conducted by a multi-professional team can be effectively 
and securely located in a central place and all updates are available in a timely and flexible 
way.    

At the Panel meeting a list of initial actions is agreed and partners then implement these. The 
first action for the Service Intervention Team is a joint home visit, the focus of which is to gain a 
greater insight into home circumstances as well as fully capture the voice of the parent and 
pupil. 

Visit outcomes, together with the information already available, create a holistic picture of the 
needs and presenting issues for the child and family and form the start of the Targeted 
Intervention Plan. This is then extended through a classroom observation in the relevant school 
and the allocation of a Family Support Worker, where appropriate. 

Since November 2015 the Panel has benefitted from the addition of a Child & Adolescent 
Mental Health (CAMH) worker. Where a Panel Referral identifies a potential neuro-
developmental need in a child then the CAMH worker is tasked with undertaking an 
observation. Their findings provide additional guidance for the school and where this indicates 
further assessment is required the CAMH worker then triggers an internal referral. This process 
is working well, however there is still then a considerable waiting list for the actual 
assessments. 

Family issues identified:

The breadth of issues found within the families of children referred to the Panel clearly evidence 
the need for a holistic, multi-agency response, rather than interventions targeted at individual 
children. 

Issues identified through the initial referral and subsequent home visits include:  
 

 Poor parenting;
 Poverty; 
 Family finance issues – including benefit caps and changes; 
 Housing  - inadequate / eviction / rent arrears;
 Bereavement – children and adults;
 Drug and alcohol use – young people and adults;
 Undiagnosed neuro-developmental conditions;
 Additional learning needs – children and adults;
 Isolation / lack of social support networks;
 Mental health issues – children and adults;
 Self-harm – children and adults;
 Criminal activity – young people and adults;
 Impact of parent / partner in prison;
 Victims of crime;
 Domestic abuse and violence; 
 Abuse - Historical and current – children and adults; 
 Emotional trauma – past and present – children and adults;
 Community issues – anti-social behaviour / calls for service to police and fire;
 Exploitation  - of children and adults; and 
 Honour based violence.  

The Primary Panel has been so well received that Secondary Headteachers requested their 
own Panel. The Secondary Panel started in November 2015 using a similar model but is also 
incorporating in-year transfers, Fair Access admissions and Managed Moves.

19



7.0

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

7.7

7.8

7.9

7.10

7.11

7.12

7.13

School Place Planning and Admissions to Schools

Primary
 
Since 2014, building works to expand schools have created some 1515 new primary school 
places.  This means that the published admission number (PAN) for reception-age children 
(age 4 – 5 years) into school for September 2016 is 3172.

We have 278 current vacancies in Reception for September 2016. These vacancies are 
concentrated in a small number of schools (eg Gladstone, Ormiston Meadows, Beeches, 
Paston Ridings).

To illustrate the growth there are 531 more children in the present reception year than the 
present Year 6.

At present, we have no new building projects. Southfields opened in April 2016, expanded by 1 
form of entry (FE). St Michaels expands from 1 FE to 2 FE from September 2016.We are 
monitoring very closely the growth taking place on the Cardea estate.

Paston Reserve and Norwood developments will both have a primary school (dates to be 
agreed and presently being considered);

Two primary schools are to be built at Hampton Gardens (dates to be agreed and presently 
being considered).
 
Secondary
 
There are a limited number of current vacancies in each year group (Year 7 = 178, Year 8 = 
307, Year 9 = 253, Year 10 = 109 and Year 11 = 62).  This will present challenges for expected 
In-year demand and new arrivals to the city. A key dependency here is to have accurate data 
from schools regarding their  “leavers”.

City Of Peterborough Academy, The Voyager Academy and Ken Stimpson Community School 
are the only schools with capacity. It is noteworthy that The Voyager Academy at Year 7 is 50% 
below PAN.

The challenge is to create sufficient places in Year 7 following the expansion in recent years of 
primary pupil numbers. The present PAN is 2674 but in year 4 there are 2801 children, year 3 is 
2997, Year 2 is 3018, Year 1 is 3123 and Reception is 3073 a shortfall of between 127 and 449 
places.

The constraints are that we have rebuilt or redeveloped all secondary schools in Peterborough 
during the last 10 years and that the school sites are largely at their maximum with little room 
for expansion that enables compliance with Sport England’s requirements re loss of playing 
fields and the DfE Section 77 requirements re loss of area.

There are some expansion options like Jack Hunt which we are hoping, subject to planning 
approval, later this year to expand by 1 form of entry.

We are assessing the feasibility of expanding both Nene Park Academy and Ormiston Bushfield 
Academy by 2 forms of entry each whilst being compliant with both Sport England and Section 
77 requirements.

Key is that we expand schools based on where the demand is and the school population reside, 
in order to mitigate transport costs. However the dependency is that those schools have the site 
capacity to expand as well as the educational  capability / capacity to expand.

20



7.14

7.15

7.16

7.17

7.18

7.19

We are building Hampton Gardens Secondary School (8 forms of entry). This is to respond to 
the new housing developments but it also provides 4 forms of entry for children from the Yaxley 
primary schools.

We will be developing a new 8 form of entry secondary school at Paston Reserve to 
accommodate children from the new Paston and Norwood housing estates. We estimate a 
buffer of 3 forms of entry to cater for children from other areas thus providing “additional” 
capacity for the city’s growth.
 
In Year Growth
 
Every 2 weeks we run an allocation of school places for those applying for a school. During this 
period we also clean the database of leavers based on the information that the schools provide 
us with.

Every 2 weeks we receive circa. 100 applications. New to area applications again are typically 
around 50% of these.

A detailed review of school place planning is in its final stages using the January 2016 census 
data, latest NHS Birth Forecast data, the recent primary and secondary school allocations and 
the latest data on the tribal Admissions systems.

For the updated school Organisation Plan later this year recommendations will be made for 
expansions to address both primary and secondary shortfalls.

8.0 IMPLICATIONS

8.1 There are no legal or financial implications to this report.  The report has a city-wide focus.

9.0 CONSULTATION

9.1 Consultation takes place regarding all of the above with senior leaders and governors in 
schools, Schools Forum and elected members via the Education Scrutiny and Challenge 
Group.

10.0 NEXT STEPS

10.1 Following feedback from the committee, all responses will be considered by the senior officers 
and taken to headteacher and governor group meetings. 

Actions taken will also be discussed and scrutinised further by the Education Scrutiny and 
Challenge Group.

11.0 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

11.1  Promoting Good School Attendance – PCC Guidance for Schools;
 Attendance Statistics released by the Department for Education; and
 School Organisation Plan.

12.0 APPENDICES

12.1 Appendix 1 – COTI July 16 Education Appendix 1 – Attendance Pb v National Data Trend
Appendix 2 – COTI July 16 Education Appendix 2 -  Attendance Case Study 1
Appendix 3 – COTI July 16 Education Appendix 3 – Attendance Case Study 2,3,4
Appendix 4 – COTI July 16 Education Appendix 4 -  Attendance Case Study 5
Appendix 5 – COTI July 16 Education Appendix 5 -  Attendance Case Study 6
Appendix 6 – COTI July 16 Education Appendix 6 -  School Places Plan

21



22



Appendix 1 - Attendance (Absence) Outcomes Trend for Peterborough State-Funded Schools by Phase

Lower outcomes are better.
A negative number (blue) means better performance than the comparator.
A positive number (red) means worse than the comparator.

Gap to National means the difference between outcomes in Peterborough and the National Average
SNs = Statistical Neighbour Las

Overall Absence = the % of sessions missed for any reason when aggregating all pupils of compulsory school age
Persistent Absence = the % of pupils with absence rates above 15% (for 2016+ this will be 90%)

Overall Absence % Peterborough Overall Absence Gap to National Overall Absence Gap to SNs
2012 2013 2014 2015 2012 2013 2014 2015 2012 2013 2014 2015

All 5.5 5.4 4.7 4.7 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 -0.2 -0.1 -0.2

Primary 4.6 4.8 4.0 4.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0 -0.2 -0.1 -0.2

Secondary 6.4 6 5.5 5.4 0.5 0.1 0.3 0.1 0.3 -0.2 -0.1 -0.3

Special 10.2 8.5 7.6 9.5 0.6 -1.1 -1.4 0.1 0.8 -1.8 -2.2 -0.5

PRS 48.8 49.6 16.9 18.1 16.6 22.9

Persistent Absence % Peterborough Persistent Absence Gap to National Persistent Absence Gap to SNs
2012 2013 2014 2015 2012 2013 2014 2015 2012 2013 2014 2015

All 5.7 4.7 3.6 4.0 0.5 0.1 0 0.3 -0.2 -0.6 -0.6 -0.4

Primary 3.5 2.8 1.7 2.0 0.4 0.1 -0.2 -0.1 -0.2 -2.4 -0.6 -0.5

Secondary 7.8 6.8 6.0 6.3 0.4 0.3 0.7 0.9 -0.4 -0.3 -0.2 -0.1

Special 18.0 15.7 13.1 15.5 1.7 -0.5 -1.5 0.1 0 -3.1 -3.2 -1.5

PRS 68.7 62.7 31.1 24.4 35.2 28.6

23



T
his page is intentionally left blank

24



Appendix 2 – Attendance Case Study 1

Secondary School (Academy)

Whole School – 2155 pupils of which 1641 pupils Y7-Y11.

07 Sept - 20 June 2016 

Years OA PA at 85% PA at 90%

Y7-10 95.8% 3.0% 6.8%

Y7-11 94.7% 4.3% 10.2%

 Given the extension of PA rate from 85% to 90% the figures would be on target without the reduction. 

 Bi monthly meetings – ongoing monitoring in conjunction with Attendance Lead (weekly contact for 
queries/follow ups - FPN’s, open cases with Attendance Service (AS) & legal meetings or pending 
cases. 

 Excellent working relation with LA Attendance Officer and Attendance Lead, resulting in focused 
outcomes and solution-focused approach to attendance concerns. 

 Impact of support from LA Attendance Officer with Academy is very good.  However, early preventive 
measures could be more beneficial to families.

 AO– follow up meeting with partner school following inconsistencies with logging details necessary 
especially in cases of FPN. Process for early stages of intervention identified

 Attendance Lead chairs weekly meetings with Heads of House and administrators across each house. 
Some inconsistencies with logging details and requirement for documentation for Attendance Lead to 
proceed with FPN. AO offered support to deliver presentation for Interventions 1 – 3 with (HoH) and the 
requirement for consistent communication log and follow ups with parent/carers if and when pupils are 
absent. 

 AO chair informal meeting with HoH (26.05.16) – share legal requirement for stringent recording of 
communication with parents/carers for potential legal cases. Not relying on FPN’s to promote 
attendance but instead, early identification of potential PA’s and need for referral/support measure for 
Early Help/Youth Worker/Family Support worker input.

 Attendance Lead unable to complete figures for 2013/14 or 2014/15 due to new IT system (SIMS). 
CMIS previously in use and school unable to obtain data.

 AO continues to raise use/support of a Family Liaison Officer (FLO). A number of the cases discussed 
with educational welfare issues, which can be better supported by FLO’s, as a conduit between 
school/home and if necessary AS. AO discussed how this works in other schools, given the number of 
pupils on roll (2155).  The Attendance Lead does not have the capacity for follow up/Home visits etc. 
AO has raised concern for safeguarding/door knocks etc. with Attendance Lead’s Manager VP for Well-
being who does not feel the Academy would benefit from a FLO and staff are not in schools to do the 
job of parents/carers to get pupils into school.

 AO has raised the need for an Attendance Team and FLO to manage the academy and this be retained 
by the LA for quality assurance.

 Current PA’s - 26 and school refuser queries. Several cases of school refuser. AO directs for Early Help 
Support/potential CAMHS referral as prosecution or FPN’s non holistic.  Onus on school to use Pastoral 
Team for Welfare issues for pupils and not rely upon PN/or referral to Attendance Service.

25



 Preventative measure/promotion of attendance - AO Chairs YR 11 talks – 56 pupils with <95% 
attendance, micro sessions on “promoting attendance”. Talks for final weeks at school (15.03.16). 
truanting raised along with expectation for college/sixth form and references for FE/employers going 
forward.

 Interpreters/Support staff available for necessary meetings. Otherwise translated documents sent out in 
correspondence for parent/carers.

 Academy has improved process for obtaining medical evidence for unauthorised absences. School 
nurse support and follow suggested for confirmation and support of pupils during school day.

 Complex cases whereby multiple FPN’s issued has had no impact, referred to AS – AO chairs meetings 
at BP.  Attendance Lead in attendance meetings resulting in positive relations with parents & academy.

 Increased number of cases now referred to AS following PN for NSA issued and no effect with 133 
issued for 2015/16 as of 25.4.16; 

 Of 133 PN’s issued (109 holiday and 24 NSA) out of a total of 1213 penalty notices accounts for 
10.96% of the total number of penalty notices issued in the current academic year.

 Previous academic year only 105 penalty notices issued, which was equal to 6.12% of the total number 
of penalty notices (1717) issued in the 2014/2015 academic year.

26



Appendix 3 – Attendance Case Studies 2,3 4

Case Study 2: (Secondary School – LA maintained)

This school is a secondary school with 716 pupils on school roll with 502 (70%) pupils identified 
as EAL.  The school is supported by the Attendance Service with weekly visits to undertake 
data and school attendance meetings.   During the previous academic year, data analysis 
revealed that Year 11 had the biggest impact on the attendance particularly in the post-
Christmas period during the second term.  As a result, the Attendance Service worked with 
the school on a targeted drive to focus on Year 11 pupils.  The following actions and outcomes 
were achieved:

 There are 128 students in Year 11 in 2015/16.   65 had attendance of 95%+ in the 
previous academic year.

 At the start of the current academic year in September 2015, 61 targeted letters were 
sent to pupils with attendance under 95% in the previous year (Year 10) 

 Of the 61 target students, 42 (69%) have improved their attendance in comparison to 
the previous year.  

 14 students had attendance of less than 90% in 2014-15.  Of these,  3 (21%) students 
failed to improve and 7 (50%) students achieved over 90% in the current academic 
year. 

 The Overall school attendance for the whole school in 2014/15 was 94.6%, currently 
the school is on course to achieve a slightly improved outcome for the year of at least 
95%.

 As a result of the targeted work, there has been a positive impact on the PA figures in 
comparison to last year during the same period.  The overall PA rate at the end of term 
5 during 2014/15 stood at 17.3%.  During the current academic year, end of term 5 PA 
rate stands at 12.9% - an improvement of 4.4%.

Case Study 3: (Primary – LA maintained)

This primary school currently has a total of 283 pupils on roll.  There is a significant population 
of pupils from the traveller community at the school and, given the community traditions, it 
provides a major challenge to school attendance.  The Attendance Service provides support 
to the school through regular fortnightly visits to analyse attendance data and hold attendance 
meetings with parents.  The Attendance Service also provided a training programme for the 
Attendance lead to put in place processes to challenge poor attendance and promote good 
attendance.  

 It is noted that given the attendance pattern of pupils from GRT community, it is having a 
significant impact on the attendance figures for the school.  Currently, the overall attendance 
for the whole school stands at 95.6% and if we remove the GRT pupils from the data, the 
attendance goes up slightly to 96.4%- a difference of 0.8%.  

The real extent of challenge with GRT pupils’ attendance is highlighted in the analysis of 
figures for Persistent Absentees (PA).  There are 47 pupils under 90% which equates to PA 
level of 16.6%.  However, out of these 47 pupils, 25 are GRT pupils and when they are 
excluded from the data as above, the PA level drops to 7.8 - a difference of 8.8%.

It is clear that this school has a unique challenge to its attendance outcomes with the 
significant GRT population. The Attendance Service has been working extensively with the 
school, LA GRT officer and the families to try and address this issue.  However, it remains a 
major challenge and one which perhaps needs a more strategic approach. 

27



Case Study 4: (Primary School – LA Maintained)

This school has an overall absence rate of 6.6%.  The PA rate at 90% is 18.7% and at 85% it 
is 6.0% which is similar to the previous academic year.  

The figure that is really interesting/concerning is that until May 2016, the school had lost 834 
sessions to unauthorised leave of absence. This is a real challenge to this particular school 
as an overwhelming majority of the pupils are identified as EAL and the families, despite the 
PNs, are choosing to go abroad for a variety of reasons.  

The school and Attendance Service drew parents’ attention to this in the latest school 
newsletter but it remains to be seen what impact this will have. 

28



Appendix 4 – Attendance Case Study 5

Primary School (LA Maintained)

Whole School – 507 pupils on roll.

Years OA PA 90%

R - 6 5.43% 14.5%

 Priority A school – weekly contact although Bi monthly meetings – ongoing monitoring in conjunction 
with Attendance Lead (weekly contact for queries/follow ups - FPN’s, open cases with Attendance 
Service (AS) & legal meetings or pending cases. 

 School has a lot of movement with pupils often being directed from across the City – whereby, issues 
of transport and siblings on roll at other schools cause attendance concerns. Pupil Premium Grant 
used appropriately to support families with transport costs etc.

 Increased numbers of EAL pupils -16%, of PA’s (2014/15 – 10.7%). No Support staff currently in place 
to interpret for or support this cohort. School relies on letters which are interpreted into appropriate 
language. Early identification for concern could be decreased on early entry in Reception year/on 
admission with support staff in place.

 Demographics of the school clearly have an impact on attendance of which 22.8% who are FSM. 

 The school also previously had a high number of traveller pupils on roll that can affect attendance for 
cultural reasons.  However this number has declined (currently only 14 pupils recorded as traveller 
background). This community have good relations with the school staff. 

 SLT do not have the capacity to chair meetings and or send out appropriate correspondence to 
parents. AO part of shortlist and interview panel for recruitment of Attendance/Admissions Officer 
(December 2015). Subsequently, Attendance Lead appointed January 2016, upon AO 
recommendation at the start of Autumn Term (2015).

 Autumn Term – school offered additional LA Attendance Support (chargeable) for a fixed period to 
review data <97% and follow up process for potential PA’s. AO worked with key attendance lead at 
the time.

 As a result of Attendance Lead in post school are very good at obtaining medical evidence for 
absences and logging details on file and communication across staff team. Recent staffing issues 
(June 2016), has however, meant that the Attendance Lead has had to support with generic school 
administration.  AO explained this should be discussed with SLT and logged during 1:1.

 Excellent working relations with LA Attendance Officer and Attendance Lead and SLT, resulting in 
focused outcomes and solution-focused approach to attendance concerns. Impact of support from LA 
Attendance Officer with school is very good.  Family Liaison Officer in-situ. The school hold a list of 
high priority cases to cross reference with attendance issues and to allow further, closer monitoring 
of these cases. FLO attends review meetings as and when necessary to discuss complex cases and 
follow ups.  SENCO also readily available to follow up on open cases with AO. 

 Robust electronic tracking for PA’s and communication logs held on file. Attendance Lead consistent 
with letters of attendance concern, monitoring and improved attendance for parents/carers. 
Attendance lead is extremely knowledgeable of the children and the reasons for absence.

 Attendance Lead chairs regular meetings with parents prior to referral or request for FPN from LA. 

29



 Current PA’s - 44. Onus on school to follow up Welfare issues for pupils with FLO and not rely upon 
PN/or referral to Attendance Service.

 Complex cases whereby multiple FPN’s issued has had no impact, referred to AS – AO chairs 
meetings at BP.  Attendance Lead in attendance resulting in positive relations with parents & 
academy.

 Early June AO request for identification of cases that are open/previously open to CSC and or early 
Help.  Of the <95% currently being monitored; 26 cases are currently open to Early Help, 6 with CP, 
8 current CIN and 3 LAC.  This equates to 31% of the children below 90% and those currently open 
to the AS as PAs. 

30



Appendix 5 – Attendance Case Study 6

Primary School (LA Maintained)

In July 2015 concerns were raised regarding the low attendance levels and high number of 
persistent absentees at this Primary School following a Data Meeting between the school 
and the Attendance Service.

A Note of Visit towards the end of the 2014/2015 academic year caused several concerns to 
the Head of Service and a subsequent discussion was held within the service between the  
Attendance Officer (AO) and the Head of Service (HoS).  Regular meetings had been 
avoided by the school over the 2014/2015 school year and put off due to various reasons 
given by the school.  Concerns were raised included:

 No clear processes for children whose attendance was a concern
 Letters to parents refusing Leave of Absences were sent, but no follow up or action 

taken when children returned to the school from such events 
 No clear meetings with SMT
 No regular analysis of data

Following this meeting the HoS visited the school to discuss the concerns raised by the AO.  
The AO visited the school post this meeting and several new strategies were discussed and 
processes, which although available but not in place, were set out with the intention to 
implement in the new academic year.

At the end of 2014/2015 academic year the overall attendance at the school was 5.2% 
(National Average 3.9%) and persistent absentee at 85% was 7.9% (National Average 
2.8%).

From the onset of the new term, the new strategies, such as inviting parents to the school as 
soon as attendance became an issue, rather than writing to the family first, has had a 
profound effect on both overall absence and persistent absentee rates at the school.  The 
school have implemented new weekly meetings to discuss vulnerable children.  This 
meeting is recorded and actions listed and personnel are held accountable for undertaking 
the assigned actions.  Half Termly meetings with the Deputy Headteacher and Office 
Manager are held with the AO and any cases requiring intervention are also identified.  

Overall the attendance at the school has improved and is currently 4.1% (National 4.0%) and 
persistent absenteeism is spectacularly improved.  Currently for those on 85% and below it 
stands at 0.8% (National 1.9%).  DfE guidelines currently state that any child with an 
absence of 10% is a persistent absentee, however for comparison, I have used 15%.  The 
school have clearly shown that with clear defined processes and procedures implemented in 
a consistent manner attendance can be improved significantly.

In addition, a recent OfSTED report, which evaluated the school as providing a good quality 
of education, commented on improved quality of attendance processes and outcomes.

31



Mini Case Study on the impact of persistent absenteeism at 85% and below following 
the change in DfE legislation to 90% from September 2015.

A data analysis was undertaken with all schools to which the Attendance Service has 
access.  The data collated was the number of persistent absentees, including leavers, at the 
end of the Spring Term 2015 and repeated at the end of the Spring Term 2016.  The 
rationale for undertaking this task was to ascertain if targeting children under the new DfE 
guidelines had a positive or negative effect on children’s attendance in our schools.

The analysis was undertaken on 47 primary schools, 46 maintained and 1 academy.  Overall 
the data collated showed that the majority of schools, 36 in total (77%), showed a reduction 
in the number of children with attendance below 85% and an improvement in the overall, 
attendance at the schools.

The data analysis also highlighted the schools where the proportion of children with an 
attendance of 85% and below had increased.  This allowed for further in-depth analysis, 
discussion and strategies to be suggested to the schools.

Whilst the analysis has shown a positive effect on the overall attendance of children at the 
schools in the analysis, a repeat of the comparison will be taken at the end of the 2017 
Spring Term to see if the trend continues.

32



School Name PAN

Reception 

On roll

Waiting 

List PAN 

Year 1 On 

roll

Waiting 

List PAN 

Year 2 On 

roll

Waiting 

List PAN

Year 3 On 

roll

Waiting 

List PAN

Year 4 On 

roll

Waiting 

List PAN

Year 5 On 

roll

Waiting 

List PAN

Year 6 On 

roll

Waiting 

List

Abbotsmede Primary School 60 60 12 60 58 0 60 59 8 60 58 0 60 59 4 60 57 1 60 60 23

All Saints CE (Aided) Primary School 60 60 9 60 60 15 60 60 10 60 60 9 30 30 12 60 60 21 60 61 19

Barnack CE Primary School 30 28 0 23 30 2 28 26 0 28 21 0 28 28 3 28 16 0 28 23 0

Bishop Creighton Academy 30 30 10 30 30 2 30 30 9 60 54 0 30 30 2 30 25 0 30 29 1

Braybrook Primary School 30 30 12 30 30 5 60 51 0 60 60 2 30 30 3 30 30 4 30 30 1

Brewster Avenue Infant School 60 60 3 60 60 9 60 54 0

Castor Voluntary Controlled Primary School 22 24 0 22 25 9 22 23 1 22 22 0 25 25 2 25 18 0 22 24 1

Discovery Primary School 90 89 2 90 84 0 90 89 2 90 83 0 90 85 0 60 60 2 60 60 2

Dogsthorpe Infant School 90 89 6 90 90 29 90 84 23

Dogsthorpe Academy 90 85 0 90 87 2 90 90 9 90 90 33

Eye Voluntary Controlled Primary School 60 57 1 60 57 0 60 52 0 60 55 0 60 60 3 60 49 0 60 54 0

Eyrescroft Primary School 60 41 0 60 58 2 60 57 0 60 52 0 60 56 0 60 42 0 60 59 1

Fulbridge Academy 120 120 7 120 119 35 120 120 40 120 117 18 90 90 43 90 90 53 90 90 47

Gladstone Primary School 90 82 0 90 87 2 90 88 4 90 73 0 90 89 3 60 61 8 60 62 4

Gunthorpe Primary School 60 60 7 60 59 1 60 58 1 60 57 0 60 58 0 60 50 0 60 59 0

Hampton College 60 61 15 60 60 1 60 60 0 60 60 10

Hampton Hargate Primary School 90 90 15 90 90 5 90 90 6 90 90 7 90 92 5 90 90 3 90 91 9

Hampton Vale Primary School 90 90 8 90 88 1 90 89 6 90 90 7 90 90 1 90 90 2 60 60 36

Heritage Park Primary School 30 31 26 30 30 28 30 30 14 30 30 19 30 30 1 30 30 3 30 30 8

Highlees Primary School 60 58 0 60 59 6 60 58 0 60 55 0 60 60 7 60 60 1 60 60 1

John Clare Primary School 15 17 3 15 17 7 15 17 5 15 16 8 15 14 3 15 13 0 15 15 0

Leighton Primary School 60 60 6 60 60 4 60 58 2 60 56 0 60 54 0 60 60 2 60 57 0

Longthorpe Primary School 60 60 9 60 60 58 60 60 48 60 60 45 60 60 25 60 60 15 60 59 5

Middleton Primary School 60 50 0 60 59 4 60 57 0 60 59 0 60 58 0 60 53 0 45 42 1

Nene Valley Primary School 45 45 12 45 45 36 45 45 14 45 45 31 45 45 8 45 45 9 45 43 3

Newark Hill Academy 60 60 21 90 90 4 60 60 31 60 57 23 90 89 3 90 90 2 60 59 17

Newborough Voluntary Controlled Primary School 30 31 9 30 31 2 30 29 1 30 31 0 30 30 2 30 26 0 30 29 0

Northborough Primary School 30 32 1 30 29 1 30 30 2 30 31 3 30 31 4 30 31 4 30 28 0

Norwood Primary School 30 30 2 30 30 3 30 30 3 30 29 0 30 30 0 30 29 0 30 30 0

Oakdale Primary School 30 30 12 30 30 19 30 30 8 30 30 7 30 30 6 30 28 0 30 30 1

Old Fletton Primary School 60 60 30 60 60 33 60 60 4 60 60 5 45 44 3 45 44 0 45 45 0

Ormiston Meadows Academy 30 29 0 30 30 9 30 21 1 45 36 0 45 34 0 45 38 0 45 42 1

Orton Wistow Foundation Primary School 60 60 7 60 61 12 60 59 1 45 45 3 45 45 2 45 41 0 45 45 2

Parnwell Primary School 45 44 1 45 39 0 45 42 0 45 43 3 45 42 0 45 38 0 45 33 5

Paston Ridings Primary School 90 77 0 90 76 0 90 86 0 90 68 0 90 67 0 90 77 0 60 60 2

Peakirk cum Glinton C of E (VA) Primary School 30 30 1 30 30 2 30 30 11 30 30 4 30 30 0 30 30 0 30 31 7

Queen's Drive Infant School 90 90 4 90 89 1 90 84 0

Ravensthorpe Primary School 60 38 0 60 59 3 30 30 0 60 38 0 30 30 5 30 29 1 30 30 1

Sacred Heart RC (VA) Primary School 30 30 3 30 30 23 30 30 15 30 30 18 30 30 13 30 30 7 30 30 1

Southfields Primary School 90 90 27 90 90 29 90 90 15 90 88 16 60 60 4 60 60 5 60 59 2

St Augustine's C of E (Aided) Junior School 60 58 0 60 59 2 60 58 0 60 60 0

St Botolph's Voluntary Controlled Primary School 60 59 0 60 60 3 60 60 0 60 57 0 60 60 0 60 60 1 60 60 2

St John's Church (VA) Primary School 60 60 14 60 59 3 60 56 1 60 48 0 60 47 0 36 35 5 36 35 1

St Michael's C of E (VA) Primary School 60 60 58 60 59 2 30 30 6 30 29 2 30 25 0 10 21 4 10 12 2

St Thomas More RC (VA) Primary School 60 60 14 60 59 6 60 60 17 60 60 21 60 60 10 60 58 2 60 60 19

Stanground St John's Church of England Primary School 30 30 1 30 30 6 30 30 0 30 26 0 30 29 0 30 30 0 30 30 1

The Beeches Primary School 90 86 2 90 87 6 90 90 11 90 89 2 90 89 8 90 90 9 75 75 1

The Duke of Bedford Primary School 30 22 0 30 27 0 30 27 0 30 22 0 30 27 0 30 25 0 30 27 0

The King's (The Cathedral) School 15 18 49 15 15 50 15 16 39 15 15 32

The Thomas Deacon Academy 90 92 11 93 94 8

Thorpe Primary School 90 89 4 60 60 12 60 61 11 60 60 10 60 60 15 60 60 15 60 60 7

Watergall Primary School 60 57 0 60 58 1 60 53 1 60 57 0 52 49 6 45 42 0 45 43 6

Welbourne Primary School 30 30 0 30 29 2 50 36 0 30 28 0 30 25 0 30 25 0 30 30 0

Welland Academy 60 60 4 60 60 9 60 60 11 60 51 0 60 56 1 30 29 6 50 50 1

Werrington Primary School 60 60 21 60 61 12 60 60 3 60 60 2 60 59 0 60 60 0 60 60 0

West Town Primary Academy 45 46 1 45 50 5 45 44 3 45 48 9 45 41 0 45 40 0 45 42 1

William Law CE Primary School 90 90 6 90 90 7 90 90 11 90 90 1 90 91 2 90 90 0 90 90 0

Winyates Primary School 30 30 8 30 30 9 30 29 1 30 30 8 30 30 0 30 29 2 30 30 1

Wittering Primary School 60 51 0 60 55 0 60 46 0 60 50 0 60 33 0 60 42 0 60 24 0

Woodston Primary School 60 60 15 60 60 16 60 60 3 60 50 0 30 30 3 30 30 1 30 30 2

Totals 3172 3073 429 3165 3123 501 3130 3018 364 3185 2997 353 2928 2801 274 2724 2580 236 2621 2542 310

33

aac536
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX 6



School Name PAN

Year 7 On 

roll

Waiting 

List PAN 

Year 8 On 

roll

Waiting 

List PAN 

Year 9 On 

roll

Waiting 

List PAN

Year 10 

On roll

Waiting 

List PAN

Year 11 

On roll

Waiting 

List

Arthur Mellows Village College 264 264 82 264 264 27 264 264 73 264 264 62 264 264 39

City of Peterborough Academy 180 142 0 180 119 0 120 104 0

Hampton College 210 209 1 180 180 9 180 180 7 162 161 36 150 144 3

Jack Hunt School 300 299 60 300 298 7 300 295 0 300 296 6 300 295 8

Ken Stimpson Community School 210 209 5 210 160 0 210 142 1 210 177 0 210 189 0

Nene Park Academy 180 193 3 180 173 0 180 180 11 180 170 1 180 179 3

Ormiston Bushfield Academy 160 153 0 150 150 2 150 150 2 150 150 3 150 143 0

St John Fisher Catholic High School 133 109 0 133 117 1 133 111 0 133 130 12 133 133 16

Stanground Academy 300 283 0 300 253 0 270 224 0 270 249 0 270 247 0

The King's (The Cathedral) School 135 166 164 135 135 191 135 151 143 135 150 156 135 151 171

The Thomas Deacon Academy 332 338 32 332 332 51 332 328 43 332 341 171 332 351 149

The Voyager Academy 270 131 1 270 146 0 270 162 0 270 209 1 270 236 0

Totals 2674 2496 348 2634 2327 288 2544 2291 280 2406 2297 448 2394 2332 389

34



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Agenda item no. 7

18 JULY 2016 Public report

Report of the Corporate Director for People and Communities

Contact 
Officer

Nicola Curley; Assistant Director, 
Children’s Social Care

Tel: 864065

REVIEW OF PROGRESS AGAINST ACTION PLAN FOLLOWING OFSTED 
INSPECTION OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES, 2015
1. PURPOSE

1.1. This report provides an update on progress being made against the action plan developed 
following the OfSTED inspection in 2015. OfSTED inspectors made a number of 
recommendations following the inspection and their assessment of Children’s Services as 
‘Requiring Improvement if they are to be Good’. Adoption services in Peterborough were 
assessed as already being ‘Good’ by the inspectors. 

1.2. This report provides Members with information about progress made against this action 
plan, as we work to bring the quality of services to a consistently good standard. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. Members are asked to note the content of this report, and in particular:

 The positive progress that has been made in areas such as improving the stability of 
the workforce and the improvements in relation to compliance issues;

 That while there have been improvements in a number of areas of practice, overall we 
are not yet delivering consistently good outcomes for children and young people, and 
not yet consistently recording and evidencing the quality of all the work that we do to 
support vulnerable children and their families.

2.2. Members are recommended to ask for a further report on progress against the OfSTED 
action plan in 12 months’ time. 

3. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

 This is linked to the priority of ‘Safeguard vulnerable children and adults’.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1. The Inspection Report published by OfSTED in September 2015 identified some 
significant areas of strength in relation to Children’s Services in Peterborough. These 
included early help and prevention services and adoption. Inspectors also expressed 
confidence in the leadership and management of the service to deliver continuing 
improvements.  The inspection also identified a number of areas where action was needed 
if Children’s Services in Peterborough were to be in a position to deliver consistently good 
outcomes for children and young people.

4.2. The findings by OfSTED were welcomed by senior managers and leaders in Peterborough 
and resulted in the development of a comprehensive action plan, progress against which 
is the subject of this report to Committee. This plan is being used to drive improvements 
in service delivery, and is kept under regular review.

35



4.3. The full action plan is available as Appendix 1 of this report. The plan is set out in such a 
way so as to evidence progress made after each review. 

4.4. The remainder of this report provides a summary of progress made against the action 
plan, together with areas where continuing progress continues to be required. 

Performance Management Information

4.5. Although there was significant performance management information available to 
managers in Children’s Services at the time of the inspection, the issue identified by the 
inspection was that this information was not available in or close to ‘real time’. Managers 
need timely performance information in Children’s Services so that they can track the 
performance of plans and activities relating to individual children and young people.  

4.6. Timely reporting also enables variations in expected performance to be investigated 
quickly. An example of this would be an unexpected increase in numbers of children 
subject to child protection plans, for example. At the moment this information is only 
available monthly or more in arrears. This makes it more difficult for managers to 
investigate reasons for a change of performance until after the change has happened. 

4.7. Addressing this issue has required significant activity and investment. This has included 
upgrading the client database used in Children’s Social Care [Liquid Logic] to the most 
recent version, the purchase of additional software [Business Objects and ClickView] 
which enables the display of information extracted from Liquid Logic to be displayed in 
performance dashboards accessible by managers and others within the service. 

4.8. The current position in terms of the availability of performance data has not changed since 
the inspection. Data is available but is not yet available on a self-serve basis and, 
depending on the information, continues to be only available a day, week or month in 
arrears. Despite this, very significant progress has been made. The majority of the 
necessary software and infrastructure upgrades have been completed and the 
functionality of Liquid Logic has been significantly extended. 

4.9. The outstanding actions relate to building the performance information ‘dashboards’ 
themselves. Test environments are scheduled for trial in July 2016, with an expectation 
that the first self-serve performance management information dashboards should be 
available from September 2016. 

4.10. Access to information in this way will make a significant difference to practitioners and 
managers at every level in the service. At a strategic level, changing trends will be possible 
to identify at the time, rather than 4 to 6 weeks after they have become established. This 
will enable analysis of whether there have been changes in practice that need to be 
explored further, or whether there is clear evidence of changing needs that requires a 
strategic response. 

4.11. Team managers will be able to have a clear view of the performance of their team and of 
any areas where performance needs to be addressed. For practitioners and managers 
alike, there is the potential to link performance, finance and outcome information, helping 
to establish a view of the types of intervention that are most likely to deliver outcomes 
while securing value for money. 

Ensuring Consistent Quality of Practice 

4.12. The current senior leadership team [the Director of People and Communities, the Service 
Director for Children and Safeguarding, and the Assistant Director for Children’s Social 
Care] in Children’s Social Care had been in place for less than 6 weeks at the time that 
the inspection took place.  

4.13. One of the first actions undertaken by this then new leadership team was to undertake a 
detailed self-assessment in order to establish a bench-mark for ourselves about the extent 
to which the service was delivering good outcomes, and to identify areas of weakness. 

36



This self-assessment identified that quality of practice was being impacted by high levels 
of turnover among social workers and managers. This was in turn impacting on the quality 
of relationships with children and families, on the level of management oversight of 
practice, the quality of plans and resulting in social workers holding caseloads that were 
too high.

4.14. Inspectors noted that in the short time that the new leadership team had been in place, 
these issues were beginning to be addressed. Our awareness of the issues that needed 
to be addressed in order to improve outcomes for children and young people  in turn gave 
inspectors confidence in the leadership team’s ability to continue to drive improvement. 

4.15. Since the inspection, significant progress has been made in many of these areas. Staff 
turnover at head of service, team manager and social worker level has reduced 
significantly. At head of service level, four of five are occupied by permanent members of 
staff, all of whom have been in place since the inspection. We have now just successfully 
permanently recruited to the final head of service role, and expect the new appointee to 
commence by September 2016.  

4.16. Only one team manager role is covered by a locum in the front line teams, and use of 
agency social workers has reduced across the whole service. This reduction in agency 
social workers has been particularly evident in the family support service. This is the area 
of the service that works with children subject to child protection plans, child in need plans 
and that makes the decision about whether children and young people need to come into 
care in order to be safeguarded and is an area where instability in the workforce has a 
particular impact on the quality of service experienced by children and young people.

4.17. At the time of the inspection, only 19 of the 32 qualified social worker roles in family support 
were held by permanently appointed members of staff. Today, 30 of these roles are held 
by permanently appointed qualified social workers. Progress towards continuing 
permanent recruitment is expected to continue following the introduction of a new 
recruitment and retention scheme. This scheme was previously agreed at Cabinet, and 
provides incentives for qualified social workers to join and remain in those posts to which 
permanent recruitment has traditionally been more difficult. 

4.18. Securing a stable workforce is a vital step in achieving a consistently high standard of 
practice. It is very difficult to deliver high quality services in the face of high levels of 
turnover among team managers and social workers in particular. 

4.19. Audits of case files are demonstrating consistent improvements in management oversight 
as evidenced by frequency of supervision and by management comment on individual 
case files since the inspection. A recent decision to increase the number of team 
managers in the family support service from four to five is expected to improve this further. 
This increase in management capacity should help to ensure that improved management 
oversight is more consistently evidenced in case files and in the recording of supervision 
– areas that the most recent audit continue to indicate is not yet taking place consistently. 
This increased management oversight should also become evident in helping to improve 
the quality of plans for children and young people. 

4.20. Alternatively Qualified Team Support Workers joined the service in November 2015 as a 
12 month pilot. These workers undertakes direct work with 200 children in need cases, 
where an assessment by a qualified social worker has identified the type of intervention 
required and determined that presenting risks to children and young people are 
manageable without the need to allocate a qualified social worker to work with the family. 

4.21. This pilot is proving to be successful; prior to the pilot, this group of children and young 
people would be allocated to qualified social workers who had a mixed caseload that 
would include a number of children subject to child protection plans or where we had 
issued legal proceedings because of high level concerns about risks of significant harm. 
Prior to the initiative to pilot alternatively qualified workers, the group of children assessed 

37



as being at less risk of harm frequently received less attention from their social worker 
because higher risk children would draw attention away from them.

4.22. The impact of the pilot has been two-fold; this group of children with assessed lower levels 
of risk receive a much better service because the worker working with them does not hold 
higher risk cases. This means that the issues that need to be addressed within the family 
are addressed more quickly and difficulties are less likely to escalate and become more 
entrenched. Meanwhile, this group of workers has helped to contribute to qualified social 
workers holding lower caseloads. At the time of the inspection, average caseloads were 
above 23-25 across the service; they are now below 20 across the service. 

4.23. Where services are recovering from a period of instability, the first priority is to bring 
stability to the service in terms of staffing. The next is to improve compliance with policies 
and procedures, ensuring that there are clear frameworks in place upon which to build 
consistency in practice. The improvement in the quality of the service in Peterborough is 
following this pattern. As noted above, staff stability is much improved; compliance is also 
significantly improved: assessments are being completed within the required timeframes, 
supervision is taking place consistently, and timeliness of visits is also much improved. 
While some areas of practice have improved, there remain areas where this is not yet 
consistent. 

4.24. So while the most recent audit of the extent to which the voice of the child is present in 
assessments, plans and case notes shows considerable improvement, use of 
chronologies remains an area where progress has not yet been made consistently. An 
effective chronology enables a new worker to quickly understand key developments in a 
child’s life – including in relation to any times when the family may have previously had 
social work involvement. Maintaining an up to date chronology that contains the right level 
of detail is not an easy task for any practitioner, particularly when the day to day work is 
highly pressured. 

4.25. Independent chairs [of child protection case conferences] are now alerting team managers 
wherever they believe that a case worker has taken insufficient account of historical 
information in assessing risk and protective factors. This is helping managers to identify 
workers who need support in developing the quality of their practice. 

4.26. Another area where practice remains inconsistent is in relation to management audits. 
Managers and leaders are required to undertake a certain number of casefile audits per 
month, which helps us to understand where workers may need additional support or where 
there are remaining practice issues. While these audits are taking place, the target 
numbers are not yet being met consistently. This is an area on which heads of service will 
focus on once again in coming months. 

4.27. Despite these areas where there is a need for improvement, there are others where the 
mechanisms for delivering practice improvements are becoming more embedded. The 
Principal Social Worker chairs the social work forum, for example, and this is now used 
as a means for front line staff to be involved in the development and dissemination of good 
practice to their teams. Practice development workshops are taking place regularly, and 
we have now established a means of monitoring the impact of these on changes in 
practice.

4.28. Although there is more work to do to ensure consistency of plans, the quality is improving, 
and certain specific steps have been taken within the service to improve the robustness 
of planning for most vulnerable children. For example, a multi-agency unborn baby 
protocol has been developed with key partners. This sets out the roles of each key agency 
where there are significant concerns about an unborn baby. This means that we are 
becoming much better at undertaking parenting and risk assessments in a timely way 
before birth, enabling more effective planning to ensure good outcomes for the child.  

38



4.29. This, combined with a new process around planning prior to issuing legal proceedings in 
relation to any child or young person means that social workers and team managers are 
now much more pro-actively planning for good quality permanent outcomes for children – 
through placements within the extended family, adoption or long term fostering. 
Importantly, they are also making sure that there are effective contingency plans should 
the initially preferred outcome not be possible to achieve. 

4.30. Finally, all heads of service regularly review the progress of all children within their service 
area. There is less drift as a consequence, with many fewer children subject to child in 
need or child protection plans for 12 and 18 months or more than was the case at the time 
of the inspection. For children and young people in care, there is evidence of better care 
planning and the quality of pathway plans is improving. 

Neglect

4.31. Inspectors identified evidence of significant levels of neglect within the City, a finding with 
which all partners working with children and families would agree. Inspectors 
recommended that both the Council and the Safeguarding Children Board develop neglect 
strategies in order that all those working with children and young people [and perhaps, 
most importantly, families with young children] are supported to improve outcomes for 
children affected by neglect. 

4.32. The Council and Safeguarding Children Board have been working closely together to 
ensure that the two strategies complement one another. A multi-agency approach has 
been taken to developing the strategies and the assessment and support tools that 
practitioners can use to help them to identify and address neglect, hopefully before it 
becomes entrenched. 

4.33. Both strategies will be presented to the July 2016 Safeguarding Children Board for 
agreement by all key partners working with children, young people and their families. The 
Board will then lead a series of training and workshop events to support practitioners in 
using the tools and approaches to support improved outcomes for children affected by 
neglect. 

Child Sexual Exploitation and children and young people who go missing from 
home, care or school

4.34. Members will be aware of considerable activity to investigate child sexual exploitation in 
the City. This has resulted in a number of arrests and successful prosecutions of 
perpetrators who have exploited vulnerable young people. This activity has been 
accompanied by a significant programme of awareness raising and development of 
preventative measures to help the community to identify where children may be at risk of 
exploitation, and to know what to do if they suspect exploitation is taking place. 

4.35. The OfSTED inspection recognised the considerable amount of work taking place in the 
City in this area and found that once child sexual exploitation was recognised, the 
response of agencies including the police and Children’s Services was good. However 
they also identified that this response could be even better if there was better sharing of 
information between key partners about patterns of behaviour that may indicate a risk of 
Child Sexual Exploitation. Inspectors also identified that there needed to be a better and 
more consistent use of risk assessments by social workers wherever there were any signs 
of a young person being at possible risk of exploitation. 

4.36. We can never be complacent about issues such as Child Sexual Exploitation, and it is 
very important that we maintain a strong focus on the issue. Since the inspection, we have 
developed a number of approaches to help us to identify risks of sexual exploitation and 
disrupt the activities of potential offenders at an early stage. 

4.37. For example, we have established a multiagency strategic group that meets regularly and 
shares all intelligence and information about young people who may be at risk by virtue of 

39



being missing from care or from home or being absent without permission from school. 
This information is linked to intelligence about the activities of those who are suspected of 
being involved in seeking to exploit young people. 

4.38. This group is leading to much better sharing of information between agencies and is 
helping to ensure that risks towards young people are being addressed. It is also 
reassuring that in a recent Joint Targeted Area Inspection in Bedfordshire which was 
focused on approaches to protecting children and young people from exploitation, this 
type of approach was praised by inspectors. 

4.39. Our strategic response to children who go missing from home or care has also improved 
since the inspection. Return interviews when children go missing from home are 
completed by an independent agency [Barnardo’s]. Children who go missing from care 
are offered return interviews from another independent agency [the National Youth 
Advisory Service.

4.40. Importantly, information from these interviews is collated and trends or patterns identified. 
This information is then shared with the multiagency strategic group described in 
paragraph 4.37 above. This ensures that any potential links with risks of exploitation are 
made. 

Initial Health Assessments

4.41. Children and young people who come into care and remain looked after for more than 28 
days should have an initial assessment of their health needs. Children and young people 
who remain looked after should have an annual health assessment, and this should 
include an assessment of their emotional and mental health. 

4.42. The OfSTED inspectors made recommendations concerning both initial health 
assessments and the extent to which health assessments included consideration of 
emotional and mental health needs. These recommendations were made because in the 
financial year 2014/15, fewer than 20% of children and young people had an initial health 
assessment within the target timescale of 20 working days, and Children’s Services had 
stopped using Strength and Difficulty Questionnaires [which provide an overview of a 
child’s emotional health and mental wellbeing] in 2014, arguing that these were not 
necessary and that health assessments would address these issues without the 
questionnaire having to be completed. 

4.43. Performance in respect of initial health assessments is much better; with 71% of children 
having such an assessment within 20 working days in May 2015, and monthly 
performance typically around the 70- 80% mark of assessments taking place within the 
target timeframe. Although improved, performance does remain below the stretch target 
of 95% that we have set ourselves, however. This is a challenging target to achieve for a 
number of reasons. The 20 day target is very tight; a number of steps are needed before 
a child can have a medical assessment. These include obtaining consent from the person 
with parental responsibility and arranging the actual appointment at a time convenient to 
child and carer. Even where these steps are completed, some young people refuse to 
have a medical assessment. 

4.44. Because overall numbers coming into care in any one month are small, the refusal by one 
young person or the failure to complete an assessment in relation to a sibling group of two 
results in a significant variance in the percentage performance for that month.

4.45. A further challenge relates to children and young people who are placed outside the 
Peterborough area. In this situation, we are reliant on services in the host area to 
undertake the assessment – services that are often stretched in meeting their own local 
demand. 

4.46. Members will be reassured, however, to know that our overall performance in terms of the 
percentage of children and young people who have an assessment of their medical needs 

40



is good, with almost all children and young people benefiting from health assessments. 
The particular challenge is for all or most of these to be completed within the 20 working 
day timeframe which children and young people first become looked after. 

4.47. Re-establishing the routine use of Strength and Difficulties Questionnaires has taken a 
little longer to achieve. This is partly because we wanted to address another perceived 
failing in the system in place when these were last used by the service – the perception 
that there was little strategic use made of the information that these questionnaires 
contained within them to improve services. 

4.48. We have established a route for information from these questionnaires to be collated and 
fed into the Children in Care Board, chaired by the Assistant Director for Children’s Social 
Care. This information will help us to identify common support needs among our child in 
care population and, where necessary, use this information to inform the commissioning 
of support services. 

4.49. The questionnaires, which are completed by the child or young person’s carers, are being 
fed into the annual medical review process, meaning that all children and young people 
will benefit from this approach by the end of this calendar year. 

Children’s Participation and Corporate Parenting

4.50. OfSTED inspectors identified that more needed to be done to secure effective participation 
of children and young people in care, and that this, combined with a more robust approach 
to corporate parenting, would support elected Members and senior leaders to hear and 
act upon the views and experiences of children and young people. 

4.51. There have been a number of significant activities in relation to these recommendations. 
The first is that additional funding has been secured to enable the recruitment of a 
dedicated participation officer to support children and young people in care and care 
leavers. A participation strategy and pledges for children and young people in care and 
care leavers have been developed in partnership with children and young people. 

4.52. As well as setting out an undertaking to children and young people about the quality of the 
services they are entitled to expect, the pledge helps Members and senior leaders to judge 
services based on the experiences of children and young people in care, providing a 
bench mark against which these experiences can be compared. 

4.53. Corporate Parenting responsibilities are significant and Members need support to carry 
them out effectively. With this in mind, training for Members who are part of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel or Committee through the Local Government Association has been 
arranged for autumn 2016. 

4.54. The Leader has also been working to review the status of the Corporate Parenting Panel, 
and there will be a recommendation to full Council that the Panel is replaced by a 
Committee. Should Council agree to this change, Corporate Parenting functions would 
have the same status and formal authority as other Committees of the Council.  

4.55. The proposals suggest that the Corporate Parenting Scrutiny Committee would meet 
formally and informally on an alternating basis. Press and public would be able to attend 
the formal meetings, increasing the level of openness and transparency about Council 
actions to secure improved outcomes for children and young people in care. 

4.56. Closed informal meetings provide the opportunity to enable Members to engage with 
children and young people in care and care leavers in new ways. Feedback from children 
and young people to OfSTED inspectors was that they experienced Corporate Parenting 
Panel meetings as a ‘Snooze Zone’. The proposed change to Committee status brings 
with it the opportunity for informal meetings taking place in a completely different format, 
and to support the development of strong relationships between Members and young 
people in care and who have left care. 

41



The Virtual School for Children and Young People in Care

4.57. OfSTED inspectors recommended that we review the capacity of the Virtual School to 
ensure that there was sufficient capacity to meet need. They particularly identified a lack 
of capacity to support young people in education beyond the age of sixteen. 

4.58. A number of activities have taken place to address the areas for development identified 
by OfSTED. All children and young people of school age should have a Personal 
Education Plan [PEP]. The PEP sets out learning goals for children and young people, 
and identify whether additional support is necessary. The PEP is the main mechanism for 
evaluating whether the child or young person is making progress, and that any additional 
support or resources are delivering results and improving learning outcomes. 

4.59. We have invested in an electronic PEP system, which enables central monitoring of 
individual pupil performance, making it easier to identify any children and young people 
who are not making the progress that might be expected, and to focus attention on these 
individuals to help address any difficulties they are experiencing. This has made the 
system of monitoring progress more efficient and effective.

4.60. Additional funding has also been identified to recruit a specific post-16 adviser for the 
virtual school. The intention is to recruit to this role in time for the new academic year, 
which will help to address the specific recommendation about supporting pupils aged 16 
and above. 

4.61. The impact of these changes will be evaluated; any indication that there continues to be 
a lack of sufficient resource to meet need will be addressed as these changes bed down.

Care Leavers

4.62. The inspection identified that many aspects of our support to care leavers are good. 
Specifically, they noted that care leavers felt safe in their accommodation, felt that they 
had been able to make choices about accommodation, and that the service supported 
‘Staying Put’ arrangements well. Staying Put refers to the situation where young people 
aged 18 and above are able to remain with their former foster carers until age 21, with 
funding provided by the Council. 

4.63. There were a number of specific recommendations made about how we can improve the 
support offered to care leavers, however. Progress against most of these 
recommendations has been generally good. Health passports and care leavers’ 
information packs, for example, have been developed with care leavers and are now ready 
to be formally launched. These are an important part of helping young people to make the 
transition into adulthood. They describe their rights and entitlements, together with 
responsibilities. They provide information about sources of support and provide 
information about relevant medical histories that may be needed in later life.

4.64. The website for children in care and care leavers is one area where progress has been 
limited. This is in part because children and young people have not been particularly keen 
on the idea. Children in care now have access to an App called ‘Mind of My Own’ that 
enables them to provide feedback on and views about their care and support plans. There 
is growing evidence from a range of sources that young people increasingly expect to 
access information through Apps, and websites are becoming outdated from their 
perspective. 

4.65. There is little point in investing in a form of communication that young people may not use, 
and so this aspect of the OfSTED action plan is currently being reviewed to assess 
whether it remains relevant, or whether other forms of communication and technology 
would have a greater impact. 

42



Learning from Complaints

4.66. Complaints have the potential to provide important information about how users of 
services experience those services, and provide a means for helping services to improve. 
OfSTED inspectors identified that services in Peterborough were not evidencing that we 
were learning from the findings of complaints, or that practice changed as a result of 
complaints. 

4.67. There has been a considerable amount of work to improve the way that complaints are 
responded to; practitioners and managers respond to complaints in a less defensive and 
more conciliatory way. Fewer complaints go out of timescale or escalate through the 
stages as was the case at the time of the inspection. 

4.68. Quarterly fact sheets summarising themes from complaints are produced by the quality 
assurance service and these feed into practice workshops and management meetings. 

4.69. While these are all positive developments, we would acknowledge that there is more for 
us to do to ensure that learning from themes within complaints is having a demonstrable 
impact on strategic service development or on staff training and development. This is an 
area for focus over the coming 6 to 12 months.  

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1. The inspection itself provided a very useful and intensive assessment of the strengths and 
areas for development of Children’s Services in Peterborough. The action plan developed 
in response to the recommendations following the inspection have provided a clear 
framework for managers and leaders to use to deliver sustainable improvements in service 
quality and outcomes for vulnerable children and young people.

5.2. Key issues arising from the implementation of the action plan include:

 Securing sustainable improvements in the quality of practice and hence outcomes for 
children and young people in a complex service such as children’s social care takes 
time and dedication;

 This is particularly the case where services are recovering from issues such as high 
levels of staff turn-over, high proportions of locum managers at every level and high 
caseloads such as was the case in Peterborough in the lead up to the OfSTED 
inspection;

 The initial focus in an improvement journey such as this is on stabilising the workforce, 
and there have been significant improvements in this area; 

 Although not specifically addressed in this report, key performance indicators such as 
the timelines of assessments have improved significantly since the inspection, 
indicating that compliance issues are also being addressed;

 Caseloads have fallen, care planning is more effective and management oversight is 
significantly improved; and

 We have yet to achieve a consistently good standard of practice across all areas, 
however. While much individual work with children and their families is very good, this 
is not always recorded effectively, and not all children and families yet benefit from 
good quality assessments and purposeful, effective intervention.

5.3. The foundations for continuing improvements are in place. The focus for the service in the 
coming six to twelve months is to ensure that practice is at a consistently good standard, 
and this is our aim for the next 9 to 12 months. 

5.4. Peterborough is a challenging City for Children’s Services, however. There is a high level 
of needs that results from relatively high levels of deprivation, especially in some areas of 
the City. The diversity of the population – while offering the City many benefits – also 
presents challenges in terms of differing cultural expectations and in respect of resources 
resulting from translation and interpretation needs.

43



5.5. Smaller authorities such as Peterborough are also less resilient to unexpected 
developments or sudden changes in need. Larger authorities are able to more easily move 
resources around to manage sudden increases in need; there is less flesh on the bone in 
Peterborough. 

5.6. These factors all contribute to making the City a challenging place to ensure consistently 
good outcomes over time. That said, our practitioners and managers are working hard to 
achieve this and remain very dedicated to achieving the best outcomes for the vulnerable 
children and families with whom they work.

6. IMPLICATIONS

6.1. Work to deliver consistently good outcomes for all children and young people in the City 
continues, and much progress has been made since the inspection. 

6.2. Other services are also changing alongside those commissioned and provided by the 
Council; we are working with key health partners to deliver integrated Child Health 
Services and to improve Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services. Schools are also 
working to deliver a large range of extended services including activities outside of school 
hours, parenting support and individual pastoral support to pupils. 

6.3. While this report is concerned with providing Members with an update in relation to the 
work of Children’s Services in delivering the improvements identified as being needed 
through our initial self-assessment and subsequent inspection, delivering consistently 
good outcomes for children and young people does require partnership working across 
health, care and education sectors. We are fortunate here in Peterborough that this is an 
area of strength.

6.4. There are no particular Human Resources or Legal implications arising from this report. 

6.5. This report is relevant to all wards in the City. 

7. CONSULTATION

7.1. This report has been shared with senior managers within Children’s Services, together 
with Legal and HR Services. 

8. NEXT STEPS

8.1. The OfSTED action plan will continue to be reviewed and used as a benchmark for the 
delivery of sustainable improvement in Children’s Services.

8.2. Work for the next period will focus on supporting the development of consistently good 
practice, as evidenced within the written records contained within children and young 
people’s files. 

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985:

9.1. Inspection of services for children in need of help and protection, children in care and 
care leavers in Peterborough.

10. APPENDICES

10.1. Action Plan following inspection of Children’s Services by OfSTED in 2015 – July Update.

44



1

APPENDIX 1

Peterborough City Council Action Plan following OfSTED Inspection of Services to Children in Need of Help 
and Protection, Children Looked After & Care Leavers
Background
The Council places a high priority on improving outcomes for children and young people. We are committed to supporting families to overcome their 
difficulties so that fewer children and young people need our services to protect them or come into care. Through effective early intervention, our 
children’s services will support families and prevent problems from escalating. We will work with our partners to continue to implement our transformation 
plans for Children’s Services.

We are pleased that the OfSTED Inspection in April 2015 found that we know ourselves well and that the new management team were already making 
progress to address the areas for improvement identified within the inspection. 

This third update continues to evidences progress in the majority of areas. In general terms, progress has been made in terms of increasing the proportion 
of permanently employed social workers and reducing turn-over. Caseloads have fallen across the service since the inspection, and timeliness of decision 
making and assessments is significantly better. Practice is not yet at the consistently high standards that we would wish, but by stabilising the workforce 
and reducing caseloads, we have put the foundations in place to deliver sustainable improvements in practice quality. 

There are some areas where target dates have slipped since the original action plan was developed in November. In most cases this is probably more a 
reflection of the ambitious nature or complexity of those targets rather than of any lack of action or commitment by managers and staff. 

Any remedial actions required where any areas where dates have slipped or where planned actions have not yet started are clearly set out with target 
dates for completion. Progress against the plan is monitored through the Children’s Social Care senior management team. Overall accountability is to 
Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny Committee and the Corporate Parenting Panel.

The plan is set out so that for each action, the RAG rating of overall progress as of November 2015 can be compared with our assessment of our position in 
March 2016 and now July 2016. 

45



2

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that performance management information systems are fit for purpose, provide reliable data 
and enable managers to identify and respond quickly to issues and areas of concern.

Recommendation 
1

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  Comprehensive, accurate and up to date performance management information is used in order to enable 

managers and practitioners in the service to understand the journey of children and young people;
 This information is used to ensure that services continuously improve.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people access high quality services and do not experience delays in assessments, care 
planning or decision making about their lives.

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Comprehensive, accurate and up to date performance management information is used in order to enable 

managers and practitioners in the service to understand the journey of children and young people;
 This information is used to ensure that services continuously improve.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people access high quality services and do not experience delays in assessments, care 
planning or decision making about their lives.

Actions Completed:  Cabinet paper completed and secured Council £350K funding to implement necessary changes;
 Upgrade to latest version of Liquid Logic completed;
 Testing of one model of live performance reporting completed but will not deliver live performance reports in 

required time frame so decision to operate using Business Objects agreed; 
 Corporate ICT Governance Board to drive changes and ensure that there is on-going overview of ICT 

infrastructure requirements;
 Social Care Systems Board established to ensure sufficient focus on needs of social care, reporting to the ICT 

Governance Board;
 Business Objects specialist resource engaged to support implementation of Business Objects as the data 

warehousing and reporting tool for Children’s Social Care;
 Additional capacity to ensure that Liquid Logic operation and data reporting from Business Objects meets 

business needs and is informed by front-line managers, including systems manager, dedicated project manager 
and business analyst;

 Infrastructure upgrades and move to cloud based server and storage on target. 

46



3

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Comprehensive, accurate and up to date performance management information is used in order to enable 

managers and practitioners in the service to understand the journey of children and young people;
 This information is used to ensure that services continuously improve.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people access high quality services and do not experience delays in assessments, care 
planning or decision making about their lives.

Actions Completed:  Business Objects data warehouse installed;
 Workshops held with staff and managers to increase efficiency of Liquid Logic while developing performance 

reports;
 Performance team upgrading Early Help module of Liquid Logic to optimise performance;
 Performance dashboards being tested in a protected environment prior to fully updating systems

Position as of 1st Nov 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Comprehensive, accurate and up to date performance management information is used in order to enable 

managers and practitioners in the service to understand the journey of children and young people;
 This information is used to ensure that services continuously improve.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people access high quality services and do not experience delays in assessments, care 
planning or decision making about their lives.

Actions Completed: 

Future/Uncompleted Actions: 

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Upgrade LL to latest version  To support workflows across 

the service
 Practitioners have access to 

the latest version, reducing 
time spent inputting into 
system

Tina Hornsby March 2016

Install LL data warehouse to 
integrate with Business Objects 
reporting. Establish support for 
data warehouse & Business 

 Business Objects cannot 
extract the data it needs to run 
reports directly from LL 

 A key step in enabling live 
performance reporting

Tina Hornsby End May 
2016 [new 
action]

47



4

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Objects
Scope action plan to ensure new 
version of LL is used at optimum 
level of functionality

 The current use of LL does not 
optimise the system. This 
impacts on ability to extract 
performance data.

 Following gap analysis and 
completion of optimisation, 
this will improve the depth of 
reporting for Children’s Social 
Care 

Tina Hornsby End of May 
2016 [new 
action]

Replace existing performance 
tools to enable production of live 
performance information and 
widen the suite of information 
available.

 Current performance systems 
are unable to run live data 
requests without significant 
input by performance team.

 To enable real time reporting 
with the ability to model data 
more readily, so we can 
identify emerging needs and 
areas needing attention

Tina Hornsby August 2016 
[slipped from 
June 2016] 

Build live dashboard reporting 
systems, team by team, based on 
the information needs of the 
service.

 Managers will have access to 
reporting via an internal portal 
through which they will be able 
to access a wide range of 
information and drill down to 
team and practitioner level

 Staff and managers develop an 
understanding of the value of 
performance reporting to their 
ability to deliver a more 
effective service that is 
responsive to changing needs;

 Staff and managers develop an 
understanding of the value of 
performance reporting in 
identifying performance issues 
relating to both individual 
members of staff and teams, as 
well as identifying where other 
issues may be emerging 
around practice issues, the 
application of thresholds etc.;

 Staff and managers able to 
identify any issues with work 
flows or early indications of 
changing need in real time.

Tina Hornsby August 2016 
[slipped from 
July 2016] 

Staff and Managers understand 
the importance of data quality 
and integrity and are held to 
account where data quality is poor 

 No matter how good an ICT 
system is, if the data is of poor 
quality, the reporting will also 
be of poor quality and/or be 

 Good data quality and 
information means that 
services are able to respond to 
changing needs more quickly;

July 2016

48



5

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
or is not provided in a timely way. inaccurate.  Any issues that are developing 

that may affect the quality of 
the overall services provided 
can be addressed before they 
have a significant impact. 

Key managers and staff are 
trained in using system.

 Staff and managers are fully 
competent in finding and 
manipulating performance 
reporting and dashboards.

 Managers able to interrogate 
performance information to 
identify detailed indications of 
emerging needs or issues; 

 Performance team able to 
focus on information and 
intelligence reporting, 
identifying changes in need, 
feeding into commissioning 
cycles

Tina Hornsby September 
2016 
[slipped from 
July 2016] 

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
Move to ‘live’ performance reporting has 
slipped from July 2016 to September 
2016. This follows a decision to develop 
performance dashboards in Clickview – a 
more user friendly and intuitive system 
than that available purely through 
Business Objects.  

 Above timelines in future actions 
have been pushed back but remain 
amber and some dashboards should 
be available during July/August – just 
not the full set;

 The Clickview server requires some 
reconfiguration in order to run the 
Business Objects fed dashboards for 
operational users.

Tina Hornsby now has the lead for this 
area of work - reporting in to the Social 
Care Systems Board for project 
management and technical resources.

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that robust service and actions plans, informed by audit findings, are used to drive continuous 
improvement at every level.

Recommendation 
2

49



6

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  Service and action plans are clear, specific, outcome focused and easy to understand. They provide a clear sense 

of purpose and direction for individual members of staff and managers and are used to increase accountability for 
continuous improvement.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from the support of continuously improving services that result in better 
outcomes by adopting evidenced-based approaches from practitioners demonstrating the best professional 
standards. 

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Service and action plans are clear, specific, outcome focused and easy to understand. They provide a clear sense 

of purpose and direction for individual members of staff and managers and are used to increase accountability for 
continuous improvement.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from the support of continuously improving services that result in better 
outcomes by adopting evidenced-based approaches from practitioners demonstrating the best professional 
standards. 

Actions Completed:  Detailed service improvement plan to drive delivery of improvements in practice in place;
 Comprehensive audit programme in place;
 Team manager development programme in place that includes elements on improving quality of practice;
 Bi-monthly service improvement meetings in place that disseminate learning from audits & complaints;
 Children’s Service Management Team incorporate learning from audit findings and complaints into review of 

service development plan;
 Themed practice workshop programme in place that reflects learning from audits and complaints. 
 Audits now use a simple language and identify accountability for outcomes requiring improvement;
 Workforce development function partially co-located with Conference and Review Service to facilitate the 

informing of training and development plans by audits;

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Service and action plans are clear, specific, outcome focused and easy to understand. They provide a clear sense 

of purpose and direction for individual members of staff and managers and are used to increase accountability for 

50



7

continuous improvement.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from the support of continuously improving services that result in better 

outcomes by adopting evidenced-based approaches from practitioners demonstrating the best professional 
standards. 

Actions Completed:  Overarching service improvement plan has been converted into specific service plans for each specialist area, 
increasing accountability;

 New PDR objectives for 2016/17 incorporate appropriate improvement plan objectives;
 Method of evaluating impact of workshops to practitioners established and will be in place from August 2016

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Service and action plans are clear, specific, outcome focused and easy to understand. They provide a clear sense 

of purpose and direction for individual members of staff and managers and are used to increase accountability for 
continuous improvement.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from the support of continuously improving services that result in better 
outcomes by adopting evidenced-based approaches from practitioners demonstrating the best professional 
standards. 

Actions Completed: 

Future/Uncompleted Actions: 

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Adopt simple language and 
outcome focus for audit reports 
that identify accountability for 
improvement.

 Audits are easily accessible to 
all members of staff;

 Managers and staff are able to 
identify the changes needed to 
improve outcomes.

 Practitioners and managers 
recognise their direct 
responsibility for and 
contribution to improving 
outcomes for children and 
young people.

Alison Bennett Jan 2016

Evaluation process to measure 
impact of practice workshops to 
be established.

 We need to understand which 
approaches have the biggest 
impact in securing 
improvements so we can focus 

 Improved practice will avoid 
delay and drift and ensure that 
risks to children and young 
people are identified and 

Alison Bennett August 2016 
[slipped from 
June 2016]

51



8

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
on doing what works. reduced.

All managers have a view of 
quality of practice across the 
service as evidenced by minimum 
80% compliance with 
management audits.

 Managers must be accountable 
for understanding strengths 
and weaknesses across the 
service; 

 Audits provide opportunities 
for learning and understanding 
across the hierarchy.

 Managers have increased 
accountability for quality of 
practice within their area of 
responsibility;

 Quality of practice improves 
across the service;

 Managers better understand 
the complexity of work within 
the service and can plan 
accordingly.

Nicola Curley 
& Heads of 
Service

Feb 2016 to 
achieve 80% 
compliance 

New target 
date end 
September 
2016

Learning from audits informs 
training and development plans.

 Managers and practitioners 
access training that is relevant 
to the needs of the children 
and young people for whom 
they are accountable.

 Children experience a 
continuously improving service 
that draws directly on their 
experience of their journeys.

Alison Bennett 
& Claire 
Gregory

Feb 2016

Closer links develop between 
workforce development and 
Children’s Services.

 WFD function aligns more 
closely with the QA service for 
children and adults.

 As above Alison Bennett 
& Claire 
Gregory

December 
2015

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

52



9

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
All managers have a view of quality of 
practice across the service as evidenced 
by minimum 80% compliance with 
management audits.

 Performance in this area has slipped 
over last three months and currently 
stands at 50% of audits being 
undertaken

 Assistant Director and Service 
Director to escalate compliance issues 
with heads of service and team 
managers, while recognising that 
pressures in service and capacity have 
been significant over recent months

Evaluation process to measure impact of 
practice workshops to be established 

 Evaluation workshops to be 
programmed in by end of August 
2016 with AD CSC and Workforce 
development – this has been slightly 
delayed as a result of the delay in 
implementing the new quality 
assurance service structure;

 The practice workshop programme 
itself is established, however.

 Alison Bennett, Nicola Curley, Clare 
Gregory and Heads of Service – by 
end of August 2016

53



10

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that effective action is taken to increase the stability of the Children’s Social Care workforce. Recommendation 
3

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  Social workers choose to come and work in Peterborough and stay in order to develop their careers here
Impact for Children:  Children, young people and their families benefit from consistent relationships with social workers and/or 

alternatively qualified workers, meaning that they do not have to repeat their stories and benefit from prompt 
support that is based on a good understanding of their needs.

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Social workers choose to come and work in Peterborough and stay in order to develop their careers here
Impact for Children:  Children, young people and their families benefit from consistent relationships with social workers and/or 

alternatively qualified workers, meaning that they do not have to repeat their stories and benefit from prompt 
support that is based on a good understanding of their needs.

Actions Completed:  The Council has agreed to enhanced recruitment and retention schemes to encourage applications from qualified 
social worker roles and incentivise workers to remain in post once appointed, which is now being consulted upon; 

 Caseloads for qualified social workers have fallen across the service and stand at an average of 19 across all 
service areas as of 1st March 2016, compared with an overall average of 21 and an average of 24 in Family 
Support at time of inspection;

 The pilot of alternatively qualified workers is underway.  These workers are supporting social workers in their 
work with complex situations, and also hold a number of less complex Child in Need cases;

 The team manager development programme has been implemented. This will build management skills and 
abilities, which will directly benefit social workers. The investment in team managers should also support 
retention;

 A new recruitment website is completed;
 Peterborough is a member of a consortium of local authorities [Peterborough, Cambridgeshire, Norfolk, Suffolk, 

Thurrock] enabling us to participate in the Step up to Social Work programme funded by DFE.

54



11

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Social workers choose to come and work in Peterborough and stay in order to develop their careers here
Impact for Children:  Children, young people and their families benefit from consistent relationships with social workers and/or 

alternatively qualified workers, meaning that they do not have to repeat their stories and benefit from prompt 
support that is based on a good understanding of their needs.

Actions Completed:   Recruitment activity continues with AYSE attracting 20% of the family support workforce;
 Team manager recruitment has resulted in 90% of team manager posts now permanently recruited to;
 Recruitment and retention scheme finalised and commencing 1st July 2016;
 Alternatively qualified staff now holding 200 children in need cases;
 Agency staff use reducing along with turnover rate. 

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Social workers choose to come and work in Peterborough and stay in order to develop their careers here
Impact for Children:  Children, young people and their families benefit from consistent relationships with social workers and/or 

alternatively qualified workers, meaning that they do not have to repeat their stories and benefit from prompt 
support that is based on a good understanding of their needs.

Actions Completed:   


Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Revised Recruitment and 
Retention Scheme formally 
approved by Cabinet.

 This will allow consultation 
with staff and implementation. 

 We will be able to advertise 
new scheme which should help 
with recruitment;

 Application of retention 
scheme will reduce turnover.

Lou Williams Jan 2016

Revised recruitment and retention 
scheme formally consulted upon.

 This final stage will allow the 
scheme to be implemented.

 As above. John Mear End March 
2016 
[slipped from 
Feb]

Revised Recruitment and  To secure changes and improve  As above. John Mear April 2016

55



12

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Retention Scheme implemented. recruitment and retention 

rates.
Slipped from 
end March

Relaunch of recruitment website.  Information about the benefits 
of working in Peterborough 
available to potential 
candidates;

 System will make it easier for 
potential candidates to 
complete their application.

 Greater availability of 
information about vacancies 
and benefits of working in the 
City;

 Increased numbers of 
applications to QSW roles in 
the City.

Nicola Curley, 
James 
Fordham & 
John Mear

Dec 2015

Alternatively Qualified Workers 
take on active caseloads.

 This group of staff have a key 
role to play in improving 
service to Children in Need and 
contributing to reduced 
caseloads of QSWs.

 Lower level CIN will access a 
more consistent service as will 
not compete for priority 
attention from QSWs who also 
carry high level CP cases;

 QSWs will have reduced 
caseloads enabling them to 
focus on their work with most 
complex situations, improving 
the consistency of service to 
this group of children and 
young people.

Richard Powell From Jan 
2016

Establishment of QSW roles 
reduces.

 As alternatively qualified 
workers are able to take on 
more of the work that is 
currently undertaken by QSWs, 
there will be a need for fewer 
QSWs in post;

 Reduced expenditure on 
agency budget is essential if 
alternatively qualified pilot is 
to be affordable.

 Work undertaken by staff in 
accordance with the 
complexity of need by a more 
broadly skilled group of staff;

 Reduced numbers of QSWs in 
the establishment will enable 
us to operate with a higher 
proportion of permanently 
appointed staff in post;

 Children and young people will 
experience a more consistent 
service.

Nicola Curley March 2016; 

Pilot of use of alternatively 
qualified workers is evaluated.

 We need to know whether this 
approach has improved 

 This will inform whether we 
continue with the model.

Nicola Curley September 
2016

56



13

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
outcomes for children and 
young people.

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
 
 

57



14

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that all staff receive regular good quality supervision which strengthens management oversight 
and challenge and provides opportunities for critical reflection. 

Recommendation 
4

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  Well trained managers have the skills, knowledge and capacity to deliver regular, high quality, reflective 

supervision.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from well-developed plans that include SMART goals and that are regularly 

monitored to ensure that progress is being made and outcomes are improving;
 Robust action is taken where plans are not delivering improved outcomes for children and young people. 

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Well trained managers have the skills, knowledge and capacity to deliver regular, high quality, reflective 

supervision.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from well-developed plans that include SMART goals and that are regularly 

monitored to ensure that progress is being made and outcomes are improving;
 Robust action is taken where plans are not delivering improved outcomes for children and young people. 

Actions Completed:  System in place whereby supervision activity is monitored by Head of Service and AD;
 Team manager development programme in place to support development of a range of management and 

leadership skills including supervision; 
 Specific programme of mandatory two day supervision training in place for all team managers and advanced 

practitioners;
 Team managers, heads of service, AD and service director complete case file audits and check compliance with 

supervision policy;
 Audit completed in December 2015 established that staff reporting increased consistency and quality of 

supervision although not yet at target.

58



15

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Well trained managers have the skills, knowledge and capacity to deliver regular, high quality, reflective 

supervision.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from well-developed plans that include SMART goals and that are regularly 

monitored to ensure that progress is being made and outcomes are improving;
 Robust action is taken where plans are not delivering improved outcomes for children and young people. 

Actions Completed:  Supervision policy has been reviewed and amended;
 June supervision audit established that supervision is taking place on most cases across the service;
 Supervision tracker in place to monitor supervision is taking place;
 Supervision agreements in place between managers and staff.

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Well trained managers have the skills, knowledge and capacity to deliver regular, high quality, reflective 

supervision.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from well-developed plans that include SMART goals and that are regularly 

monitored to ensure that progress is being made and outcomes are improving;
 Robust action is taken where plans are not delivering improved outcomes for children and young people. 

Actions Completed: 

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Review Case Supervision 
Template.

 To ensure reflects best practice 
standards and facilitates 
critical case reflection.

 Managers and staff are 
supported to make best use 
from supervision.

Alison Bennett Jan 2016

Management Information Target:
90% of social workers receive 
regular quality casework 
supervision.

 To ensure that there is 
effective management 
oversight of progression of 
children’s plans.

 Outcomes for children will 
improve;

 Drift or delays in auctioning 
plans will be addressed. 

Nicola Curley Dec 2016 
Unchanged

Audit identifies that supervision is 
delivered consistently and 

 To identify any areas of where  To address learning Alison Bennet 
– audit 

Dec 2016 
Unchanged

59



16

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
standards are met in 80% of cases 
samples.

supervision is not effective;
 To ensure that supervision 

carried out is recorded and 
complies with standards.

development or capacity issues 
where necessary to ensure 
managers are able to provide 
effective supervision.

process
Nicola Curley - 
outcomes

Audit identifies 90% of workers 
have supervision agreement in 
place.

 This is a core requirement of 
the supervision policy.

 All parties understand 
responsibilities and 
accountabilities around 
effective supervision.

Alison Bennet 
– audit 
process
Nicola Curley - 
outcomes

June 2016, 
evidence of 
prior positive 
trajectory 

Training for managers: Audit 
identifies that at least 90% of 
managers receive relevant training 
in supervision skills.

 Managers have the skills 
necessary to ensure effective 
supervision. 

 Quality of management 
oversight of cases is 
maintained at a high standard.

Claire Gregory June 2016, 
evidence of 
prior positive 
trajectory

Staff survey completed that 
includes feedback on effectiveness 
and regularity of case supervision 
that is used to support continuous 
improvement.

 To make sure that supervision 
is effective in supporting staff 
to move plans for children and 
young people forward.

 To enable the service to 
refresh training and practice 
standards in light of staff 
feedback.

Alison Bennett Annually 
commencing 
July 2016 
[slipped from 
June 2016]

The above actions in respect of 
management oversight support 
practitioners to develop SMART 
plans

 SMART plans articulate what 
changes are expected and how 
these can be measured 

 Outcomes for children improve 
in a measurable way

Nicola Curley Progress 
evident by 
July 2016

60



17

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
Audit identifies that supervision is 
delivered consistently and standards are 
met in 80% of cases samples.

 Although supervision is taking place 
much more consistently, the June 
2016 audit has continued to identify 
that quality remains inconsistent and 
in particular in respect of ensuring 
that objectives of plans are achieved 
and that there is recording of case 
reflection; practice workshops and 
line management expectations will 
continue to reinforce need for this. 

Nicola Curley and Heads of Service
Progress to be evident by time of next 
action plan update

Training for managers: Audit identifies 
that at least 90% of managers receive 
relevant training in supervision skills.

 The majority of team managers have 
received supervision training 
however this is a continuous process 
and is not currently at 90% owing to 
new starters over the last 3 months – 
new appointments will undertake 
training as required

Claire Gregory in partnership with heads 
of service in CSC by September 2016

Staff survey completed that includes 
feedback on effectiveness and regularity 
of case supervision that is used to 
support continuous improvement.

 Survey has commenced but results 
will not be known until July 2016. 
Results will be available for next 
action plan update.

Alison Bennett – End July 2016

61



18

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that all assessments are informed by chronologies and include a clear and comprehensive 
analysis of needs and risks which results in effective plans.

Recommendation 
5

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  All case files have clear and relevant chronologies that detail the significant events in the journey of the child. 
Impact for Children:  Plans for children and young people are informed by any relevant patterns of historical events;

 Plans for children are informed by a comprehensive analysis of needs and risks including an analysis of how 
whether and how these change over time;

 Information from the historical context informs reviews of progress of Child in Need, Child Protection Plans, Care 
and Pathway Plans;

 Children are more easily able to understand their personal history in the event that they access their files as 
adults.

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All case files have clear and relevant chronologies that detail the significant events in the journey of the child. 
Impact for Children:  Plans for children and young people are informed by any relevant patterns of historical events;

 Plans for children are informed by a comprehensive analysis of needs and risks including an analysis of how 
whether and how these change over time;

 Information from the historical context informs reviews of progress of Child in Need, Child Protection Plans, Care 
and Pathway Plans;

 Children are more easily able to understand their personal history in the event that they access their files as 
adults.

Actions Completed:  Chronology guidance has been re-issued to staff through Social Work Forum;
 Audit programme in place to assess extent to which chronologies are embedded into practice;
 Exemplar of good chronology developed and circulated through Social Work Forum;
 Independent chairs assess quality of care planning and extent to which chronologies inform this;
 Audits of chronologies completed in January 2016 show increased rate of completion. 

62



19

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All case files have clear and relevant chronologies that detail the significant events in the journey of the child. 
Impact for Children:  Plans for children and young people are informed by any relevant patterns of historical events;

 Plans for children are informed by a comprehensive analysis of needs and risks including an analysis of how 
whether and how these change over time;

 Information from the historical context informs reviews of progress of Child in Need, Child Protection Plans, Care 
and Pathway Plans;

 Children are more easily able to understand their personal history in the event that they access their files as 
adults.

Actions Completed:  A specific Head of Service now leads on chronologies;
 Briefing held for all teams on the new functionality for completing chronologies on Liquid Logic;
 Chronology guidance reissued;
 Need for chronologies raised with staff in all case audits.

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All case files have clear and relevant chronologies that detail the significant events in the journey of the child. 
Impact for Children:  Plans for children and young people are informed by any relevant patterns of historical events;

 Plans for children are informed by a comprehensive analysis of needs and risks including an analysis of how 
whether and how these change over time;

 Information from the historical context informs reviews of progress of Child in Need, Child Protection Plans, Care 
and Pathway Plans;

 Children are more easily able to understand their personal history in the event that they access their files as 
adults.

Actions Completed:   

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Team managers and independent 
chairs ensure that chronologies 
and analysis of risks and needs are 
informing plans and review of 

 To establish an expectation 
that this is a bedrock of good 
practice that will be addressed 
in all decision making forums 

 Use of chronologies and 
analysis of needs and risks will 
routinely inform planning and 
review;

Alison Bennett On-going 
target with 
evidence of 
consistent 

63



20

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
progress against plans. affecting children and young 

people.
 Children and young people will 

be less at risk of being 
impacted by drift and delay.

progress

Case Audit Target: at least 85% of 
case files audited include a 
chronology that meets required 
standards.

 To ensure that the relevant 
history of the child’s journey is 
readily understandable.

 Outcomes for children will 
improve because relevant 
historical patterns will be more 
easily identifiable;

 Children are more easily able 
to understand their personal 
history in the event that they 
access their files as adults. 

Nicola Curley Sept 2016, 
with positive 
progress 
before then

Case Audit Target: at least 85% of 
assessments demonstrate 
evidence of clear, child centre 
analysis of need and risk as 
informed by chronologies.

 To identify any areas of where 
supervision is not effective;

 To ensure that supervision 
carried out is recorded and 
complies with standards.

 To address learning 
development or capacity issues 
where necessary to ensure 
managers are able to provide 
effective supervision.

Alison Bennet 
– audit 
process
Nicola Curley - 
outcomes

Sept 2016, 
with positive 
progress 
before then

64



21

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
Case Audit Target: at least 85% of case 
files audited include a chronology that 
meets required standards;

Case Audit Target: at least 85% of 
assessments demonstrate evidence of 
clear, child centre analysis of need and 
risk as informed by chronologies.

 June audit identified that good 
quality chronologies are not present 
on the majority of case files, although 
there is better evidence that previous 
history is feeding into current 
assessments and plans; 

 New Liquid Logic functionality 
relating to chronologies needs to be 
embedded across all teams as this 
should make development of 
chronologies simpler;

 Team managers to be accountable for 
quality of chronologies in their part of 
the service through dip samples 
alongside case file audits

 Simon Green is head of service lead 
but with support from Alison Bennett 
– targets above require compliance 
by September 2016

65



22

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that all child in need plans, child protection plans, looked after children plans, pathway plans, 
and personal education plans are outcome focused, easy to understand and include specific and 
measurable objectives.

Recommendation 
6

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  All plans clearly state what needs to happen, who needs to undertake the work and when it will happen, and 

describe the expected outcome. Contingencies are also described;
 Any patterns of risky behaviours are addressed by specific risk assessments which inform an appropriately 

detailed risk management plan.
Impact for Children:  Plans for children and young people progress more effectively because all those working with them are clear of 

their responsibilities and accountabilities;
 Clear plans support positive engagement by families and this engagement makes it more likely that outcomes for 

children are improved in a sustainable way;
 Children and young people are protected where plans fail to deliver the required outcomes;
 Risks facing young people engaged in behaviours that may place them at risk of significant harm are reduced 

through a proportionate and focused response.

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All plans clearly state what needs to happen, who needs to undertake the work and when it will happen, and 

describe the expected outcome. Contingencies are also described;
 Any patterns of risky behaviours are addressed by specific risk assessments which inform an appropriately 

detailed risk management plan.
Impact for Children:  Plans for children and young people progress more effectively because all those working with them are clear of 

their responsibilities and accountabilities;
 Clear plans support positive engagement by families and this engagement makes it more likely that outcomes for 

children are improved in a sustainable way;
 Children and young people are protected where plans fail to deliver the required outcomes;
 Risks facing young people engaged in behaviours that may place them at risk of significant harm are reduced 

through a proportionate and focused response.
Actions Completed:  Team Manager development  programme established, supporting team managers to help workers to develop 

outcome focused and easy to understand plans;
 Practice workshops on developing and monitoring outcome focused plans delivered to a wide range of 

66



23

practitioners established;
 Programme of risk assessments for all young people aged 13 and above completed;
 New permanency planning process established for to run alongside legal planning meetings to ensure that 

contingencies are always in place; 
 New unborn baby protocol in place to ensure that pre-birth assessments are completed in a timely way;
 Independent chairs have begun to run focus groups with children in care and children subject to child protection 

plans, with feedback on views feeding back to team managers and social workers;
 Parent’s group established by independent chairs to seek views relating to child protection processes; 
 Work underway to expand parent groups to include children in need. 

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All plans clearly state what needs to happen, who needs to undertake the work and when it will happen, and 

describe the expected outcome. Contingencies are also described;
 Any patterns of risky behaviours are addressed by specific risk assessments which inform an appropriately 

detailed risk management plan.
Impact for Children:  Plans for children and young people progress more effectively because all those working with them are clear of 

their responsibilities and accountabilities;
 Clear plans support positive engagement by families and this engagement makes it more likely that outcomes for 

children are improved in a sustainable way;
 Children and young people are protected where plans fail to deliver the required outcomes;
 Risks facing young people engaged in behaviours that may place them at risk of significant harm are reduced 

through a proportionate and focused response.
Actions Completed  Implementation of Quality Assurance service across People and Communities completed, although delays in this 

process has impacted on establishing routine feedback loops with young people and parents; 
 Heads of service in each area review plans across their service areas with team managers ensuring that drift is 

avoided; 
 Evidence from the June case file audit on voice of the child found much clearer evidence of voice of the child 

influencing planning and review.

67



24

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All plans clearly state what needs to happen, who needs to undertake the work and when it will happen, and 

describe the expected outcome. Contingencies are also described;
 Any patterns of risky behaviours are addressed by specific risk assessments which inform an appropriately 

detailed risk management plan.
Impact for Children:  Plans for children and young people progress more effectively because all those working with them are clear of 

their responsibilities and accountabilities;
 Clear plans support positive engagement by families and this engagement makes it more likely that outcomes for 

children are improved in a sustainable way;
 Children and young people are protected where plans fail to deliver the required outcomes;
 Risks facing young people engaged in behaviours that may place them at risk of significant harm are reduced 

through a proportionate and focused response.
Actions Completed  TBC

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Case Audit Target: 85% of plans 
are outcome focused and include 
SMART targets.

 This will ensure that 
improvements in practice in 
this area are embedded across 
the service.

 Plans for children will be less 
likely to drift, leading to 
improved outcomes;

 Throughput will increase, 
contributing to reduced 
caseloads.

Alison Bennett 
– audit 
programme;
Nicola Curley – 
practice 
standards

Dec 2016 – 
unchanged 

Independent Chairs quality assure 
all plans, modelling good practice 
and escalating any recurring issues 
with line managers to support 
improved practice.

 To establish an expectation 
that this is a bedrock of good 
practice that will be addressed 
in all decision making forums 
affecting children and young 
people;

 Effective and understandable 
plans will lead to greater 
involvement by children, young 
people and families.

 All involved in the 
development and reviewing of 
plans are clear about their 
roles, responsibilities and 
accountabilities;

 Appropriate action is taken to 
address any failings by an 
individual or agency in not 
adhering to plans;

 Plans progress for children, 
resulting in improved 
outcomes. 

Alison Bennett May 2016

68



25

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Development of user involvement 
processes to include specific 
engagement with children and 
young people around 
effectiveness of plans in meeting 
their needs.

 This process will enable us to 
review the effectiveness of our 
approach to development of 
plans in delivering improved 
outcomes for children and 
young people.

 Plans become more child-
centred and described in ways 
that are understood by and 
relevant to the wishes, feelings 
and needs of children and 
young people;

 Practice will continue to 
improve in relation to 
developing relevant and 
effective plans.

Jenny Weeden 
& Alison 
Bennett

September 
[slipped from 
June 2016]

Development of user involvement 
processes to include specific 
engagement with families around 
effectiveness of plans in meeting 
their needs.

 Families will have a better 
understanding of the changes 
they are being asked to make, 
and of the responsibilities and 
accountabilities of agencies 
supporting them to help them 
to achieve success.

 Services supporting families 
continue to improve;

 Engagement of families 
improves, leading to improved 
outcomes for children and 
young people.

Alison Bennett September 
[Slipped 
from June 
2016]

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
Case Audit Target: 85% of plans are 
outcome focused and include SMART 
targets.

 Most recent case file audit 
established that the quality of care 
planning across the service continues 
to require improvement if this is to be 
good, although there is much better 
evidence of the voice of the child 
informing plans;

 Further practice workshops to be held 
over summer 2016 to reinforce 
quality of SMART Plans;

 Most recent audit identified that 

 Alison Bennett and Nicola Curley to 
review actions taken to date in order 
to establish better quality care 
planning consistently across the 
service by end August 2016;

69



26

there are improvements possible to 
the form used within Liquid Logic that 
would support better quality case 
planning 

 Alison Bennett to work with 
Performance Team to implement 
improvements to care planning 
process within LL by September 2016

Development of user involvement 
processes to include specific engagement 
with families around effectiveness of 
plans in meeting their needs.

 This has slipped slightly owing to 
delays in HR processes relating to 
Quality Assurance re-structure but 
will be in place by the next action 
plan review

 Alison Bennet by end August 2016

70



27

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Develop and Implement a Neglect Strategy. Recommendation 
7

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  Key partner agencies in the City develop an agreed understanding of the level of need in relation to the impact of 

neglect;
 This shared understanding results in the identification of key priorities for reducing the impact of neglect on the 

lives of children and young people; 
 This process results in well-coordinated actions that make a material difference to levels of neglect in the City. 

Impact for Children:  Targeted groups of children experiencing neglectful parenting are identified early in their lives or in the 
development of the problem, and action is taken to support parents and extended families to develop more 
responsive parenting approaches; 

 Numbers of children affected by Neglect will reduce, with positive physical and emotional health benefits and 
improved educational outcomes. 

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Key partner agencies in the City develop an agreed understanding of the level of need in relation to the impact of 

neglect;
 This shared understanding results in the identification of key priorities for reducing the impact of neglect on the 

lives of children and young people; 
 This process results in well-coordinated actions that make a material difference to levels of neglect in the City. 

Impact for Children:  Targeted groups of children experiencing neglectful parenting are identified early in their lives or in the 
development of the problem, and action is taken to support parents and extended families to develop more 
responsive parenting approaches; 

 Numbers of children affected by Neglect will reduce, with positive physical and emotional health benefits and 
improved educational outcomes. 

Actions Completed:  Neglect has already been identified as a priority for both the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board and the 
Children and Families Joint Commissioning Board;

 A neglect conference held in February 2016 identified priorities for tackling neglect in Peterborough and 
Cambridgeshire;

 Assistant Director has established a multi-agency task and finish group that has agreed to the use of the Graded 
Care Profile as the single assessment and distance measured tool to be used whenever neglect is the key 
presenting feature; to be rolled out through LSCB from June 2016.

71



28

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Key partner agencies in the City develop an agreed understanding of the level of need in relation to the impact of 

neglect;
 This shared understanding results in the identification of key priorities for reducing the impact of neglect on the 

lives of children and young people; 
 This process results in well-coordinated actions that make a material difference to levels of neglect in the City. 

Impact for Children:  Targeted groups of children experiencing neglectful parenting are identified early in their lives or in the 
development of the problem, and action is taken to support parents and extended families to develop more 
responsive parenting approaches; 

 Numbers of children affected by Neglect will reduce, with positive physical and emotional health benefits and 
improved educational outcomes. 

Actions Completed:  PSCB neglect strategy completed;
 PCC neglect strategy completed;
 Assessment and distance travelled tools for working with neglect agreed and will now be implemented;
 Training programme for practitioners within early help being designed for implementation from Summer 2016;
 Health and Wellbeing Board has approved specific priority areas relating to neglect following completion of needs 

analysis;
 Health and Wellbeing Strategy includes specific targets relating to child hood neglect based on above. 

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Key partner agencies in the City develop an agreed understanding of the level of need in relation to the impact of 

neglect;
 This shared understanding results in the identification of key priorities for reducing the impact of neglect on the 

lives of children and young people; 
 This process results in well-coordinated actions that make a material difference to levels of neglect in the City. 

Impact for Children:  Targeted groups of children experiencing neglectful parenting are identified early in their lives or in the 
development of the problem, and action is taken to support parents and extended families to develop more 
responsive parenting approaches; 

 Numbers of children affected by Neglect will reduce, with positive physical and emotional health benefits and 
improved educational outcomes. 

Actions Completed:   

72



29

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Key tools for assessing impact of 
neglect and measuring progress at 
targeted early help level 
identified.

 There is a common set of tools 
in place that encourages the 
development of a shared 
understanding and language 
around impact of neglect and 
how to address the issue.

 Children impacted by neglect 
are identified and offered 
effective support to address 
the issues, making a significant 
difference to short and long 
term outcomes.

Nicola Curley 
however lead 
is through 
PSCB

May 16; 
slipped from 
Feb 16

Neglect strategy developed, 
drawing including input from 
stakeholders attending Neglect 
conference Feb 2016.

 The neglect strategy ensures 
that all partners are clear 
about their responsibilities and 
accountabilities in identifying 
and addressing neglect in 
Peterborough.

 Children young people and 
their families are able to 
benefit from effective support 
from a range of support 
services that work together 
and adopt similar evidenced-
based approaches to 
addressing the issues.

Nicola Curley 
leading 

May 2016

Health and Wellbeing Board 
identifies key aspects of neglect 
on which the partnership can 
focus

 Multi-agency action and 
accountability will be required 
to tackle particular elements of 
neglect 

 Children will be able to access 
more effective, targeted 
services and will be supported 
to achieve better health and 
wellbeing outcomes

Lou Williams June 2016

Within Children’s Social Care 
services, workshops on identifying 
and working with neglect are held.

 Social workers and 
alternatively qualified team 
support workers are effective 
in addressing issues of neglect 
where these have become 
entrenched and have resulted 
in children and young people 
requiring specialist support.

 Effective action is taken to 
improve outcomes where 
parenting style is characterised 
by entrenched neglect;

 Drift and delay in taking 
appropriate action is avoided 
and children and young people 
benefit from informed decision 
making.

Alison Bennett 
and Clare 
Gregory/WFD

September 
2016 
[slipped from 
April 2016]

Audit Target: 85% of case files 
audited where neglect is a feature 
identify that issue is being 
identified and responded to 

 This will evidence that neglect 
issues are being addressed 
appropriately and consistently;

 As above. Alison Bennett 
accountable 
for QA 
programme: 

December 
2016 target 
for 
compliance 

73



30

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
appropriately.  It will also evidence that 

appropriate management 
oversight is taking place and 
that drift and delay is avoided. 

Heads of 
Service FRT 
and FST for 
practice 
quality

Progress 
update 
September 
2016

Multi-agency neglect audit 
focussed on Early help to be 
completed through PSCB to assess 
impact of the implementation of 
neglect strategies 

 We need to understand 
whether neglect strategies are 
effective in reducing impact of 
neglect on the experience of 
children and young people

 Families where parenting is 
characterised by neglect are 
supported to make changes 
that deliver improved 
outcomes for children;

 Focus on early help will lead to 
neglect issues being addressed 
before they become 
entrenched.

Jo Proctor and 
PSCB for audit 
and Nicola 
Curley and 
Karen Moody 
for 
dissemination 
of learning

March 2017

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
Within Children’s Social Care services, 
workshops on identifying and working 
with neglect are held.

 There have been delays in identifying 
a suitable provider that is best placed 
to provide the most effective 
programme of staff workshops. Leave 
over summer period means that 
delivery of actual workshops will 
need to be delayed until autumn. 
Managers remain sighted on 
identifying issues of neglect within 
the service and ensuring that 
effective action is taken to address. 

 Alison Bennett & Claire Gregory/WFD 
to identify provider by end 
July/beginning August for delivery in 
September/October  

74



31

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that the new Child Sexual Exploitation risk assessment tool is used consistently and that 
information about children missing from home, school and care and/or at risk of child sexual 
exploitation is well coordinated, analysed and acted upon.

Recommendation 
8

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  Risks of children and young people becoming victims of Child Sexual Exploitation are reduced;

 Risks facing children and young people vulnerable to CSE are identified through thorough risk assessments that 
lead to a coordinated response. Risks are regularly reviewed, and actions continue to be taken to reduce risks. 

Impact for Children:  Fewer children and young people in Peterborough are victims of Child Sexual Exploitation;
 Children and young people who are vulnerable to CSE are identified and action taken to safeguard them;
 Children and young people who are victims of CSE are identified more quickly and action taken to protect them;
 Children and young people know where they can seek help when they are worried about either themselves of 

their friends being at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation.

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Risks of children and young people becoming victims of Child Sexual Exploitation are reduced;

 Risks facing children and young people vulnerable to CSE are identified through thorough risk assessments that 
lead to a coordinated response. Risks are regularly reviewed, and actions continue to be taken to reduce risks.

Impact for Children:  There is a reduced likelihood of children and young people in Peterborough are victims of Child Sexual 
Exploitation;

 Children and young people who are vulnerable to CSE are identified and action taken to safeguard them;
 Children and young people who are victims of CSE are identified more quickly and action taken to protect them;
 Children and young people know where they can seek help when they are worried about either themselves of 

their friends being at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation.
Actions Completed:  Where any child or young person is identified as vulnerable to CSE, a strategy discussion takes place, a risk 

assessment completed and the young person is flagged as at risk on LL;
 The lead Head of Service reviews the CSE list weekly to ensure this accurately reflects those at risk of CSE and that 

appropriate assessments are in place;
 An initial risk assessment screening tool has been introduced and is completed for all children and young people 

aged 13 and above and open to CSC, informing team managers of high risk cases within their teams and on 
actions necessary; 

 Information is shared between relevant professionals [schools, police and CSC] about children and young people 

75



32

who have been missing from home, school and/or care and links are made so that the whole picture of risk to a 
child or young person is known;

 New monthly CSE and missing multi-agency meetings have been set up to ensure that risks and any emerging 
areas of need are identified with the first of these to be held in April 2016. 

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Risks of children and young people becoming victims of Child Sexual Exploitation are reduced;

 Risks facing children and young people vulnerable to CSE are identified through thorough risk assessments that 
lead to a coordinated response. Risks are regularly reviewed, and actions continue to be taken to reduce risks. 

Impact for Children:  Fewer children and young people in Peterborough are victims of Child Sexual Exploitation;
 Children and young people who are vulnerable to CSE are identified and action taken to safeguard them;
 Children and young people who are victims of CSE are identified more quickly and action taken to protect them;
 Children and young people know where they can seek help when they are worried about either themselves of 

their friends being at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation.
Actions Completed:  Multi-agency meetings are embedded and working closely with Cambridgeshire

 91% of cases sampled had an appropriate CSE assessment in place
 Good links have been built between children going missing from school with a member of staff now sitting in the 

MASH
 Clearer intelligence is gathered on those going missing who are at risk of CSE
 Cohort numbers are being reviewed to ensure information is up to date and shared across agencies


Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Risks of children and young people becoming victims of Child Sexual Exploitation are reduced;

 Risks facing children and young people vulnerable to CSE are identified through thorough risk assessments that 
lead to a coordinated response. Risks are regularly reviewed, and actions continue to be taken to reduce risks. 

Impact for Children:  Fewer children and young people in Peterborough are victims of Child Sexual Exploitation;
 Children and young people who are vulnerable to CSE are identified and action taken to safeguard them;
 Children and young people who are victims of CSE are identified more quickly and action taken to protect them;
 Children and young people know where they can seek help when they are worried about either themselves of 

their friends being at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation.
Actions Completed:  . 

76



33

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Revised practitioner workshops to 
be held to support QSW and 
alternative qualified workers to 
recognise potential vulnerabilities 
to CSE and to assess risks using the 
risk assessment tool.

 To embed this area of practice 
across the service;

 To ensure that risks to children 
and young people are 
identified and action taken for 
them to reduce;

 To ensure that a clear picture 
of the levels of risk in the City is 
provided, enabling actions to 
be taken to disrupt the 
activities of and arrest 
perpetrators.

 Children and young people 
vulnerable to CSE will be 
identified;

 Action is taken to reduce risks;
 Action is taken to disrupt the 

activities of perpetrators;
 Perpetrators are identified and 

prosecuted.

Nicola Curley 
& Jenny 
Goodes

November 
2015

Audit Target: Case file audits 
identify that potential risk of CSE 
is identified and responded to in 
at least 85% of relevant case files.

 This will enable us to assess the 
extent to which the service is 
improving as a result of 
practice workshops and 
training.

 Children and young people 
who are vulnerable to CSE are 
identified and the level of risk 
is identified.

Alison Bennet 
[audits]; Jenny 
Goodes – 
practice 

September 
2016 
[slipped from 
June 2016]

Audit Target: Case file audits 
identify that in at least 90% of 
cases where CSE has been 
identified as a potential risk, the 
appropriate risk assessment has 
been completed and that the 
outcome of this assessment has 
influenced the plan.

 This will enable us to assess the 
extent to which the service is 
improving as a result of 
practice workshops and 
training.

 Children and young people 
benefit from clear assessments 
of risks and action plans that 
are specific to the risks 
identified.

Alison Bennet 
[audits]; Jenny 
Goodes – 
practice 

June 2016 
positive 
progress 
beforehand

Audit Target: In at least 80% of 
case file audits where CSE is 
identified as a risk, plans are in 
place that identify the risk and 
include measurable targets to 
reduce risks. These plans are 
regularly reviewed and amended 

 This will enable us to assess the 
extent to which the service is 
improving as a result of 
practice workshops and 
training

 Children and young people 
benefit from clear assessments 
of risks and action plans that 
are specific to the risks 
identified, and that plans are 
reviewed to ensure that the 
risks are reduced.

Alison Bennet 
[audits]; Jenny 
Goodes – 
practice 

Sept 2016 
positive 
progress 
beforehand

77



34

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
as necessary.
The Council’s data systems are 
updated so that they are able to 
provide a single view of the child 
or young person, drawing 
together any risks associated with 
areas of life including home and 
school. 

 Information about children and 
young people is held in more 
than one system, necessitating 
the use of spreadsheets to map 
relevant information, meaning 
that there is the potential for 
information to be missed and 
risks not identified. 

 Information about children and 
young people in different areas 
of life – school and home for 
example – is drawn together, 
enabling individual children 
and young people vulnerable 
to CSE to be identified more 
effectively.

Tina Hornsby December 
2016 – 
unchanged 

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
Audit Target: Case file audits identify that 
potential risk of CSE is identified and 
responded to in at least 85% of relevant 
case files.

 Mock Joint Targeted Area Inspection 
was to have taken place by June 2016 
but has had to be re-scheduled – once 
this takes place we will have a clearer 
understanding of progress in relation 
to this objective

Alison Bennett by end September 2016

78



35

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that every child who goes missing from home or care is offered a return home interview and 
that the information obtained is used effectively to safeguard those children and young people and 
aggregated to identify themes and trends in the City.

Recommendation 
9

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  All children and young people who go missing from home or care are offered return interviews;

 Where these are declined, parents or carers are offered the opportunity to discuss any issues they may have or 
be concerned about;

 Information from return interviews is collated and any patterns that may indicate changing or emerging areas of 
risks mapped.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people who may be vulnerable as a result of going missing from home or care are offered the 
opportunity to discuss any concerns that they have that may be contributing to their going missing;

 Children and young people who have been missing from home or care are offered the opportunity to discuss any 
harm they may have experienced while missing;

 Issues of concern are addressed and fewer children and young people are at risk of significant harm because of 
going missing from home or school.  

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All children and young people who go missing from home or care are offered return interviews;

 Where these are declined, parents or carers are offered the opportunity to discuss any issues they may have or 
be concerned about;

 Information from return interviews is collated and any patterns that may indicate changing or emerging areas of 
risks mapped.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people who may be vulnerable as a result of going missing from home or care are offered the 
opportunity to discuss any concerns that they have that may be contributing to their going missing;

 Children and young people who have been missing from home or care are offered the opportunity to discuss any 
harm they may have experienced while missing;

 Issues of concern are addressed and fewer children and young people are at risk of significant harm because of 
going missing from home or school.  

Actions Completed:  A service is commissioned from Barnardos for conducting all missing from home interviews, with a worker 
situated within the MASH;

 Children and young people who go missing from  care are offered independent return interviews by the advocacy 
organisation, National Youth Advisory Service [NYAS];

79



36

 Both providers provide reports of any themes emerging from return interviews;
 A missing audit completed in January 2016 indicated that return interviews are offered to parents and carers 

where young people refuse to participate and that there is significant improvement in data recording, the 
evidence of the voice of the child and more joined up scrutiny by police and CSC following missing episodes;

 Missing is now a focus for the Safer Peterborough Partnership, and performance in this area will be scrutinised 
through this route. 

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All children and young people who go missing from home or care are offered return interviews;

 Where these are declined, parents or carers are offered the opportunity to discuss any issues they may have or 
be concerned about;

 Information from return interviews is collated and any patterns that may indicate changing or emerging areas of 
risks mapped.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people who may be vulnerable as a result of going missing from home or care are offered the 
opportunity to discuss any concerns that they have that may be contributing to their going missing;

 Children and young people who have been missing from home or care are offered the opportunity to discuss any 
harm they may have experienced while missing;

 Issues of concern are addressed and fewer children and young people are at risk of significant harm because of 
going missing from home or school.  

Actions Completed:  From a dip sample undertaken there is evidence that Return Interviews are being undertaken and if young person 
is not willing to engage then parents are offered opportunity to discuss missing episode.

 Out of the 39 Return Interviews completed in May 51% (20) were completed within 72 hours.
 Information obtained from Return Interviews is shared with police and patterns and trends are reviewed at the 

monthly Missing and CSE Operational Group

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All children and young people who go missing from home or care are offered return interviews;

 Where these are declined, parents or carers are offered the opportunity to discuss any issues they may have or 
be concerned about;

 Information from return interviews is collated and any patterns that may indicate changing or emerging areas of 
risks mapped.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people who may be vulnerable as a result of going missing from home or care are offered the 
opportunity to discuss any concerns that they have that may be contributing to their going missing;

 Children and young people who have been missing from home or care are offered the opportunity to discuss any 

80



37

harm they may have experienced while missing;
 Issues of concern are addressed and fewer children and young people are at risk of significant harm because of 

going missing from home or school.  
Actions Completed:   

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Case Audit Outcome: At least 85% 
of case files sampled in audits 
evidence that return interviews 
have taken place within 72 hours.

 This audit will enable us to 
ensure that practice standards 
are being complied with.

 Children and young people at 
risk as a result of going missing 
are seen as quickly as possible, 
enabling actions to be taken to 
reduce risks without delay.

Alison Bennett 
for audit Jenny 
Goodes for 
practice

September 
2016 positive 
progress 
beforehand

Case Audit Outcome: At least 85% 
of case files sampled in audits 
evidence that where children in 
care have gone missing, a risk 
assessment has been completed 
and this addresses risks to the 
child or young person and/or to 
others.

 This audit will enable us to 
ensure that information from 
return interviews and other 
sources is drawn together to 
inform the development of risk 
assessments that reflects the 
individual circumstances of the 
chid or young person.

 Risks facing children and young 
people who go missing are 
identified, enabling action to 
be taken for these to be 
mitigated.

Alison Bennett 
for audit Jenny 
Goodes for 
practice

September 
2016 positive 
progress 
beforehand

Case Audit Outcome: In at least 
85% of case files where children in 
care have gone missing, the care 
plan has been updated to address 
how associated risks are to be 
mitigated and how progress is to 
be measured. 

 Children in care are particularly 
vulnerable when they go 
missing and care plans must 
identify risks and seek to 
mitigate these.

 Children and young people in 
care who are at risk as a result 
of going missing are supported 
by effective plans that reduce 
those risks.

Alison Bennett 
for audit Bev 
Paris for 
practice

September 
2016 positive 
progress 
beforehand

Case Audit Outcome: Where there 
are any indications that patterns 
of missing from home or care or 
any other vulnerabilities indicate 
possible risk of CSE, the 
appropriate risk assessment is 

 Links are made between risks 
caused by children and young 
people who go missing and 
additional vulnerability that 
this may lead to in respect of 
risks of CSE.

 Children and young people are 
at reduced risks of vulnerability 
to CSE.

Alison Bennett 
audit and 
Heads of 
Service for 
Practice

July 2016 
positive 
progress 
beforehand

81



38

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
completed and actions taken to 
mitigate risk.

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
Audits around effectiveness of response 
to young people at risk because of going 
missing were intended to take place as 
part of the mock Joint Targeted Area 
Inspection which had to be re-scheduled, 
meaning audits also require re-
scheduling. Other sources of information 
evidence that risk assessments are being 
used much more comprehensively, 
however, and CSE/Missing strategic 
group has helped to ensure links made 
between vulnerabilities related to missing 
and to CSE

 Audit to be re-scheduled and 
completed prior to next Action Plan 
update

Alison Bennett – by end September 2016




82



39

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that foster carers’ files are of a consistently high standard and include all of the required 
documentation.  

Recommendation 
10

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  All foster carer files comply with at least the requirements of the Fostering National Minimum Standards and 

include all information required.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people are placed with foster carers who have been thoroughly assessed, reducing risks that 

they might otherwise be exposed to;
 Foster carers are reviewed regularly in order to ensure that they have the skills needed to provide a high quality 

of care to children and young people, resulting in improved outcomes for children in care.
Actions Completed:  Information has been provided to all supervising social workers to remind them of minimum information 

requirements for foster carer files;
 An audit of the quality of fostering files has been completed since the inspection and an action plan is in place;
 The QA team has initiated a case file audit where at least 6 foster carers’ files are audited to ensure compliance.

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All foster carer files comply with at least the requirements of the Fostering National Minimum Standards and 

include all information required.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people are placed with foster carers who have been thoroughly assessed, reducing risks that 

they might otherwise be exposed to;
 Foster carers are reviewed regularly in order to ensure that they have the skills needed to provide a high quality 

of care to children and young people, resulting in improved outcomes for children in care.
Actions Completed:   Information has been provided to all supervising social workers to remind them of minimum information 

requirements for foster carer files;
 An audit of the quality of fostering files has been completed since the inspection and an action plan put in place 

that has been completed;
 The QA team has initiated a case file audit where at least 6 foster carers’ files are audited to ensure compliance, 

however the subsequent discovery that not all case sampling was completed by team manager means that we 
cannot yet be confident that all case files are fully compliant.

83



40

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All foster carer files comply with at least the requirements of the Fostering National Minimum Standards and 

include all information required.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people are placed with foster carers who have been thoroughly assessed, reducing risks that 

they might otherwise be exposed to;
 Foster carers are reviewed regularly in order to ensure that they have the skills needed to provide a high quality 

of care to children and young people, resulting in improved outcomes for children in care.
Actions Completed:  Head of Service has reviewed 90% of foster carer files and recorded management oversight on all.  Changes to 

Liquid logic will improve compliance with minimum standards;
 New team manager in fostering completing regular case audits.

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All foster carer files comply with at least the requirements of the Fostering National Minimum Standards and 

include all information required.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people are placed with foster carers who have been thoroughly assessed, reducing risks that 

they might otherwise be exposed to;
 Foster carers are reviewed regularly in order to ensure that they have the skills needed to provide a high quality 

of care to children and young people, resulting in improved outcomes for children in care.
Actions Completed: 

84



41

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Fostering Action Plan to be 
completed.

 The audit of foster carer files 
identified some compliance 
issues and the action plan 
enables us to be sure that 
remedial actions have taken 
place.

 All foster carers have all 
necessary checks completed; 
annual reviews have been 
undertaken enabling training 
and development needs to be 
identified; 

 These steps will ensure that 
children are as well matched 
with carers as possible and 
receive safe and high quality 
care.

Simon Green March 2016

Fostering Team Manager to 
sample fostering files on a 
monthly basis and take any 
remedial action necessary.

 Regular management oversight 
is essential to ensure that 
practice standards are 
maintained.

 Children and young people in 
care benefit from a fostering 
service that operates to high 
practice standards

Fostering 
Team 
Manager

December 
2015 – now 
on-going

Compliance is assured by the 
findings of the monthly case file 
audits completed by QA service.

 Additional audit programme 
confirms compliance.

 As above. Alison Bennett 
for QA & 
Simon Green 
for practice

March 2016 
& 6 monthly 
thereafter 

Ensure new Liquid Logic 
functionality fully implemented by 
all staff and managers [new action 
June 2016]

 This will help to ensure that 
files are maintained in 
accordance with statutory 
requirements

 The quality of foster 
placements is regularly 
reviewed and outcomes for 
children promoted and 
safeguarded

Simon Green September 
2016

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
 

85



42

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that initial health assessments are routinely completed within 28 days of a child or young person 
becoming looked after and that health assessments and care plans take full account of children’s 
emotional health and wellbeing.  

Recommendation 
11

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  Initial health assessments are completed within 28 days for at least 95% of children and young people newly 

looked after and remaining in care for at least a month;
 Themes and commonly identified needs relating to children’s physical, emotional or mental health are drawn 

together and used to inform training and development programmes and the commissioning cycle, so that 
emerging needs can be better met.

Impact for Children:  Any physical or emotional or mental health issues are identified promptly and services and/or treatment offered 
in order that these children are supported to return to positive physical, emotional or mental health and 
wellbeing.

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Initial health assessments are completed within 28 days for at least 95% of children and young people newly 

looked after and remaining in care for at least a month;
 Themes and commonly identified needs relating to children’s physical, emotional or mental health are drawn 

together and used to inform training and development programmes and the commissioning cycle, so that 
emerging needs can be better met.

Impact for Children:  Any physical or emotional or mental health issues are identified promptly and services and/or treatment offered 
in order that these children are supported to return to positive physical, emotional or mental health and 
wellbeing.

Actions Completed:  A new system is in place to address issue of poor communication between Children’s Service and the health team 
responsible for children in care which is having a sustained and significant impact with typically in excess of 85% 
of assessments completed in any one month;

 Negotiations to re-establish the SDQ and to use this to inform annual health reviews for children in care aged 7-
17 have been completed and SDQ assessments are now being completed;

 Most children and young people eligible will have had an SDQ completed by mid-2016.

86



43

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Initial health assessments are completed within 28 days for at least 95% of children and young people newly 

looked after and remaining in care for at least a month;
 Themes and commonly identified needs relating to children’s physical, emotional or mental health are drawn 

together and used to inform training and development programmes and the commissioning cycle, so that 
emerging needs can be better met.

Impact for Children:  Any physical or emotional or mental health issues are identified promptly and services and/or treatment offered 
in order that these children are supported to return to positive physical, emotional or mental health and 
wellbeing.

Actions Completed: 

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Initial health assessments are completed within 28 days for at least 95% of children and young people newly 

looked after and remaining in care for at least a month;
 Themes and commonly identified needs relating to children’s physical, emotional or mental health are drawn 

together and used to inform training and development programmes and the commissioning cycle, so that 
emerging needs can be better met.

Impact for Children:  Any physical or emotional or mental health issues are identified promptly and services and/or treatment offered 
in order that these children are supported to return to positive physical, emotional or mental health and 
wellbeing.

Actions Completed: 

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Information from Health 
Assessments and SDQs inform 
care plans for children and young 
people in care, as reported by 

 Children and young people in 
care are particularly vulnerable 
to poorer physical and 
emotional health issues, 

 Children and young people 
benefit from a holistic 
assessment of their needs, 
which inform care plans and so 

Alison Bennett May 2016

87



44

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Independent chairs [IROs]. making it important that 

additional needs are identified 
and inform children’s plans.

improve short and long term 
outcomes.

Information from health 
assessments and SDQs inform 
Personal Education Plans, as 
reported by Independent chairs 
[IROs].

 Physical and emotional health 
needs can have an impact on 
children’s quality of learning.

 Personal education plans 
include specific measures to 
provide additional support to 
learning informed by the 
individual circumstances of the 
child or young person;

 Educational outcomes for 
children in care improve.

Bev Paris & 
Dee Glover

October 
2016 
[slipped from 
June 2016]

Information about the physical 
health and mental and emotional 
health needs of children and 
young people informs training and 
development plans for staff and 
carers through the Children in 
Care Board.

 Workers and carers are 
supported to meet the needs 
of children and young people 
in care as identified through 
health assessments – for 
example, attachment 
disorders, and needs arising 
from FASD and ASD.

 Workers working with children 
and young people are better 
able to understand the 
implications of health needs;

 Carers caring for children and 
young people are better 
equipped to meet needs.

Claire Gregory 
for workforce;
Simon Green 
for carers

From 
October 
2016 and 
onwards

Information about the physical 
health and mental and emotional 
health needs of children and 
young people informs 
commissioning priorities through 
the Children in Care Board, 
reporting to the Children and 
Families’ Commissioning Board.

 Services commissioned and 
provided respond to changing 
needs of care population;

 The effectiveness of services in 
addressing needs and 
improving outcomes is 
continuously monitored.

 Children and young people in 
care benefit from a range of 
support that is effective in 
meeting their needs and 
improving outcomes.

Nicola Curley 
& Lou Williams

March 2016 
and onwards

88



45

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify remedial actions required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
Information from health assessments and 
SDQs inform Personal Education Plans, as 
reported by Independent chairs [IROs].

 The start date from when SDQs 
would begin to be completed slipped 
owing to capacity issues; these have 
been addressed and are now taking 
place but delay in implementation 
has restricted amount of information 
from assessments that is available 

 Claire Gregory for workforce and 
Simon Green for carers – from 
October 2016

Information about the physical health 
and mental and emotional health needs 
of children and young people informs 
training and development plans for staff 
and carers through the Children in Care 
Board.

 The start date from when SDQs 
would begin to be completed slipped 
owing to capacity issues; these have 
been addressed and are now taking 
place but delay in implementation 
has restricted amount of information 
from assessments that is available

Nicola Curley and Bev Piper – On-going

OFSTED SAID WE Ensure that there is a more robust approach to Corporate Parenting and that elected Members and Recommendation 

89



46

MUST: senior managers listen to, and act on, the experiences of children and young people in order to improve 
their lives.  

12

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  Corporate Parenting Panel and elected Members more generally have a deeper understanding of the issues facing 

children and young people in care, enabling them to act as advocates and challenge officers from the local 
authority and key partner agencies to deliver real improvements in outcomes for children and young people in 
care.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people in care have more opportunities to engage with Members, enabling them to 
communicate their views and so influence decisions made about the service on which they rely.

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Corporate Parenting Panel and elected Members more generally have a deeper understanding of the issues facing 

children and young people in care, enabling them to act as advocates and challenge officers from the local 
authority and key partner agencies to deliver real improvements in outcomes for children and young people in 
care.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people in care have more opportunities to engage with Members, enabling them to 
communicate their views and so influence decisions made about the service on which they rely.

Actions Completed:  Children in Care Board established and will support Members to provide scrutiny on key issues affecting children 
and young people, looking at timeliness and quality issues;

 A review of the participation strategy for children and young people in care has been commissioned;
 This review identified that additional capacity was required and additional £30K funding agreed by Corporate 

Management Team for this has been identified;
 Additional post being recruited from April 2016.

90



47

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Corporate Parenting Panel and elected Members more generally have a deeper understanding of the issues facing 

children and young people in care, enabling them to act as advocates and challenge officers from the local 
authority and key partner agencies to deliver real improvements in outcomes for children and young people in 
care.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people in care have more opportunities to engage with Members, enabling them to 
communicate their views and so influence decisions made about the service on which they rely.

Actions Completed:  Children in Care and Care Leavers Strategy 2016 – 2019 completed;
 Revised pledge to children and young people in care completed;
 Participation Strategy completed;
 Additional Participation Officer to focus on children in care recruited;
 Review of status of Corporate Parenting Panel with Council to decide on whether this becomes a formal 

Committee at Council Meeting on 13th July 2016
 Training and support programme for members on Corporate Parenting Panel/Committee commissioned from LGA 

for delivery in Autumn 2016

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Corporate Parenting Panel and elected Members more generally have a deeper understanding of the issues facing 

children and young people in care, enabling them to act as advocates and challenge officers from the local 
authority and key partner agencies to deliver real improvements in outcomes for children and young people in 
care.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people in care have more opportunities to engage with Members, enabling them to 
communicate their views and so influence decisions made about the service on which they rely.

Actions Completed:   

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

91



48

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Officers to support Corporate 
Parenting Panel to develop 
themes for scrutiny and challenge.

 Members depend on an open 
and transparent approach from 
the service in order to be 
effective champions for 
children in care.

 Members are supported to 
champion the best interests of 
children and young people in 
care;

 Services to children and young 
people in care improve as a 
result of the targeted support 
of Members.

Nicola Curley 
& Arif Dar

April 16 but 
development 
offer from 
LGA not due 
until Autumn 
2016

Child in care pledge to be 
reviewed in order to ensure that it 
is easily understandable and 
relevant to the needs and 
experiences of children and young 
people in care.

 The current pledge is very long 
and may not be effective in 
supporting targeted 
approaches that improve 
services for children and young 
people in care.

 The Child in Care pledge is 
more relevant to the needs of 
children in care and is 
therefore a more effective tool 
in driving improvements to 
services.

Matt Oliver & 
Arif Dar

May 16 
[slipped from 
March 2016]

Assessment of capacity required 
to secure effective engagement.

 We need to ensure that there 
is sufficient capacity to support 
the Children in Care Council to 
advocate for children in care.

 Members are in a better 
position to understand the 
experiences of children in care 
and children in care are better 
able to influence decision 
making, with the result that 
services improve.

Matt Oliver March 2016

Participation Strategy to be 
revised and updated

 To ensure it provides the 
framework required in order 
that Members and officers are 
able to improve services based 
on learning from children and 
young people

 Children and young people 
have more and more varied 
opportunities to engage in 
development of services and 
meet Members and senior 
officers

Matt Oliver May 16 
[slipped from 
April 16]

New website to be launched, 
including any associated social 
media platforms.

 Offering more opportunities 
and ways of communicating to 
children in care will improve 
levels of engagement;

 Developing new channels of 
communication will enable 
children and young people to 
participate who may otherwise 

 Children and young people 
have more ways to 
communicate and engage with 
Members and others and are in 
a better position to influence 
decisions;

 Services development is 
informed by the experience of 

Jenny Weeden This action 
to be 
reviewed – 
see below 

92



49

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
experience barriers – those 
placed some distance from 
Peterborough, for example.

children and young people in 
care.

The QA service to analyse and 
report on how the voice of 
children and young people in care 
has influenced the decision 
making process. 

 Evidencing the impact of the 
above changes will encourage 
staff and children and young 
people to continue positive 
engagement.

 More children and young 
people in care engage with 
Members and senior officers;

 Services improve as a result.

Alison Bennett June 2016

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
New website to be launched, including 
any associated social media platforms.

 Action to be reviewed by new head of 
service for LAC in partnership with 
participation officer as more recent 
discussions with young people 
suggest that an App would be more 
used than a website…. Websites are 
now seen as somewhat old 
technology by young people

 Bev Paris to liaise with Matt 
Oliver/Jenny Weedon and new 
participation officer by October 2016

OFSTED SAID WE Further develop the role of the Children in Care Council [CiCC] to help make this happen.  Recommendation 

93



50

MUST: 13

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  A fully functioning Children in Care Council is established that is able to inform and influence decisions made by 

the Council that affect the progress of children and young people in care.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people in care are represented by a Council that reflects the diversity of their backgrounds, 

experiences and needs;
 Children and young people who participate within the CiCC develop new skills, abilities and confidence;
 All children and young people in care benefit from an active CiCC that is effective in advocating for them and 

ensuring that decisions made about services reflect their views, experiences and wishes;
 Overall services to children and young people improve as a result of this participation, securing better outcomes 

as a result. 
Actions Completed: 

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  A fully functioning Children in Care Council is established that is able to inform and influence decisions made by 

the Council that affect the progress of children and young people in care.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people in care are represented by a Council that reflects the diversity of their backgrounds, 

experiences and needs;
 Children and young people who participate within the CiCC develop new skills, abilities and confidence;
 All children and young people in care benefit from an active CiCC that is effective in advocating for them and 

ensuring that decisions made about services reflect their views, experiences and wishes;
 Overall services to children and young people improve as a result of this participation, securing better outcomes 

as a result. 
Actions Completed:  A review of the current participation strategy has commissioned;

 This review has identified the need for additional capacity and funding has been identified for recruitment of a 
new participation officer role for which recruitment will commence in April 2016;

 Additional capacity has been identified to support the Quality Assurance service to seek the views of children and 
young people in care and will be in place by May 2016;

 The Cabinet Adviser has taken a lead role in understanding the views and experiences of children and young 
people in care and care leavers.

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG

94



51

Outcome Required:  A fully functioning Children in Care Council is established that is able to inform and influence decisions made by 
the Council that affect the progress of children and young people in care.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people in care are represented by a Council that reflects the diversity of their backgrounds, 
experiences and needs;

 Children and young people who participate within the CiCC develop new skills, abilities and confidence;
 All children and young people in care benefit from an active CiCC that is effective in advocating for them and 

ensuring that decisions made about services reflect their views, experiences and wishes;
 Overall services to children and young people improve as a result of this participation, securing better outcomes 

as a result. 
Actions Completed:  New Participation officer appointed to support the CiCC

 Participation strategy completed with specific focus on CiC

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  A fully functioning Children in Care Council is established that is able to inform and influence decisions made by 

the Council that affect the progress of children and young people in care.
Impact for Children:  Children and young people in care are represented by a Council that reflects the diversity of their backgrounds, 

experiences and needs;
 Children and young people who participate within the CiCC develop new skills, abilities and confidence;
 All children and young people in care benefit from an active CiCC that is effective in advocating for them and 

ensuring that decisions made about services reflect their views, experiences and wishes;
 Overall services to children and young people improve as a result of this participation, securing better outcomes 

as a result. 
Actions Completed: 

95



52

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
The review of the participation 
strategy to include views of 
children and young people and to 
be completed and findings 
implemented.

 We need to ensure that there 
is sufficient capacity to support 
the Children in Care Council to 
advocate for children in care. 

 Members are in a better 
position to understand the 
experiences of children in care 
and children in care are better 
able to influence decision 
making, with the result that 
services improve.

Matt Oliver May 16 
[Slipped 
from March 
2016]

The new website and social media 
platforms to be developed in 
partnership with the CiCC.

 Offering more opportunities 
and ways of communicating to 
children in care will improve 
levels of engagement;

 Developing new channels of 
communication will enable 
children and young people to 
participate who may otherwise 
experience barriers – those 
placed some distance from 
Peterborough, for example.

 Children and young people 
have more ways to 
communicate and engage with 
Members and others and are in 
a better position to influence 
decisions;

 Services development is 
informed by the experience of 
children and young people in 
care.

Jenny Weeden Action needs 
to be 
reviewed – 
see below

The QA service to analyse and 
report on how the voice of 
children and young people in care 
has influenced the decision 
making process.

 Evidencing the impact of the 
above changes will encourage 
staff and children and young 
people to continue positive 
engagement.

 More children and young 
people in care engage with 
Members and senior officers;

 Services improve as a result.

Alison Bennett June 2016

96



53

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
New website to be launched, including 
any associated social media platforms.

 Action to be reviewed by new head of 
service for LAC in partnership with 
participation officer as more recent 
discussions with young people 
suggest that an App would be more 
used than a website…. Websites are 
now seen as somewhat old 
technology by young people

 Bev Paris to liaise with Matt 
Oliver/Jenny Weedon and new 
participation officer by October 2016

The QA service to analyse and report on 
how the voice of children and young 
people in care has influenced the decision 
making process

 An audit has been completed but the 
scope was not sufficiently broad to 
capture this element and so will be 
repeated prior to next action plan 
update

 Alison Bennett: audit to be completed 
before end September 2016

97



54

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that the Virtual School has sufficient capacity to monitor and improve education outcomes for 
looked after children, including those in post 16 education. 

Recommendation 
14

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  The Virtual School has sufficient capacity to ensure that children and young people are supported to achieve their 

full potential in school and post 16 learning
Impact for Children:  Educational outcomes for children and young people in care are improved;

 The gap in achievement between children in care and all children and young people is narrowed;
 Fewer young people leaving care are Not in Employment, Education or Training [NEET];
 The virtual school helps to secure apprenticeships for young people in care and leaving care.

Actions Completed:  The Assistant Director for Education has commenced a review of the Virtual School, including consideration of the 
resources needed to achieve the above;

 The Children in Care Board will support the operation of the Virtual School and improve quality of personal 
Education Plans.

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  The Virtual School has sufficient capacity to ensure that children and young people are supported to achieve their 

full potential in school and post 16 learning
Impact for Children:  Educational outcomes for children and young people in care are improved;

 The gap in achievement between children in care and all children and young people is narrowed;
 Fewer young people leaving care are Not in Employment, Education or Training [NEET];
 The virtual school helps to secure apprenticeships for young people in care and leaving care.

Actions Completed:  The Assistant Director for Education has commenced a review of the Virtual School, including consideration of the 
resources needed to achieve the above;

 The Children in Care Board will support the operation of the Virtual School and improve quality of personal 
Education Plans;

 E-PePs implemented and measures in-place to enable reporting of quality of ePePs as well as whether completed;
 Implemented interim measures to ensure Pupil Premium attached to outcomes in PePs, pending full review by 

Assistant Director;
 Pupil achievement gap at Peterborough and national levels at  key stage  2 in L4+ combined subjects has reduced 

significantly between 2014 and 2015 [-40 to -13];
 Pupil achievement gap at Peterborough level at key stage 4 in 5+ A-C GCSEs has reduced significantly between 

2014 and 2015 [-35 to -17]; 

98



55

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  The Virtual School has sufficient capacity to ensure that children and young people are supported to achieve their 

full potential in school and post 16 learning
Impact for Children:  Educational outcomes for children and young people in care are improved;

 The gap in achievement between children in care and all children and young people is narrowed;
 Fewer young people leaving care are Not in Employment, Education or Training [NEET];
 The virtual school helps to secure apprenticeships for young people in care and leaving care.

Actions Completed:  An outline plan regarding the future structure of the Virtual School has been produced.  This, if enacted, will 
result in an expansion of staffing and enable greater capacity to both support and monitor;

 There is a draft job description and person specification for the role of Post-16 adviser, and recruitment to this 
post is to commence shortly;

 There is effective monitoring of pupil progress via contact with designated teachers and through ePEP, although 
this is more difficult with schools which are outside of Peterborough;

 Monitoring activity suggests that the impact of the KS1 literacy project has been good – outcomes are awaited;
 It is impossible at this stage to be able to predict the outcomes in relation to narrowing the gap due to the 

extensive changes made to the assessment process at both KS2 and KS4;
 Information regarding NEET will be available during the autumn term.  However, the proportion of children in 

care who are at risk of becoming NEET is lower than it has been in previous years, and advisory work is being 
undertaken with the small number who fall into this category;

 The funding of schools via Pupil Premium Grant is now dependent upon receipt of an acceptable ePEP, and the 
targets within are now more easily and effectively monitored as outcomes.

Position as of 1stNovember 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  The Virtual School has sufficient capacity to ensure that children and young people are supported to achieve their 

full potential in school and post 16 learning
Impact for Children:  Educational outcomes for children and young people in care are improved;

 The gap in achievement between children in care and all children and young people is narrowed;
 Fewer young people leaving care are Not in Employment, Education or Training [NEET];
 The virtual school helps to secure apprenticeships for young people in care and leaving care.

Actions Completed: 

99



56

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
The Assistant Director for 
Education to complete a review of 
the Virtual School.

 In order to develop a targeted 
action plan that includes 
consideration of any need for 
additional capacity/skills mix.

 Increased capacity within the 
Virtual School will support 
improved educational 
outcomes.

Terry Reynolds Feb 2016

This review to explore capacity 
issues and to ensure that activities 
of the virtual school are focused 
on where they can have most 
impact.

 While there may be a need for 
additional capacity, resources 
are limited and the activities of 
the Virtual School need to be 
focused where they have 
greatest impact – for example 
in ensuring that initial PEP 
meetings are effective.

 Children and young people in 
care benefit from targeted 
support that is effective in 
improving outcomes.

Terry Reynolds 
& Dee Glover

March 2016

This review to explore use of Pupil 
Premium Plus in supporting 
improved outcomes.

 This funding should be clearly 
linked to needs identified 
within PEPs so that children 
and young people in care are 
supported to achieve improved 
learning outcomes.

 Where children and young 
people in care have additional 
learning needs, they are 
provided with effective support 
which improves learning 
outcomes;

 Use of resources in this way is 
regularly reviewed to ensure 
continuing benefit to children 
and young people in care.

Terry Reynolds 
& Dee Glover

Feb 2016

The Virtual School needs to have 
embedded its support to young 
people in post 16 education in 
accordance with their wishes.

 Young people’s learning should 
extend beyond 16;

 Young people in care may have 
particular support needs post 
16 as earlier learning may have 
been disrupted.

 Young people benefit from 
effective support to improve 
their learning outcomes 
beyond 16.

Terry Reynolds 
& Dee Glover

September 
2016 
[slipped from 
Feb 2016]

E-PEPS to be fully implemented.  E-PEPs enable the more 
effective gathering of 
information about the needs 

 Better information about the 
needs and progress of children 
in care supports improved 

Terry Reynolds 
& Dee Glover

Jan 2016

100



57

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
and progress of children and 
young people in care

learning outcomes

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
Although most actions have now been 
completed, there is not yet evidence to 
show that the impact of these changes is 
feeding through into demonstrable 
impact for children and young people as 
changes will take time to have impact

 Continued monitoring by service 
director and head of service

Terry Reynolds and Gary Perkins – on-
going

The Virtual School needs to have 
embedded its support to young people in 
post 16 education in accordance with 
their wishes.

 Recruitment process to be completed Terry Reynolds and Gary Perkins by 
September 2016

101



58

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure birth relatives of children who are being adopted can access counselling and support without 
excessive delay.  

Recommendation 
15

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  All birth relatives are able to access counselling and support without excessive delay
Impact for Children:  Birth families are supported to manage the feelings associated with adoption, and this is likely to benefit their 

own children 
Actions Completed:  A review of systems and processes enabling birth relatives undertaken since the inspection has not identified any 

birth relatives facing significant delays. 

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  All birth relatives are able to access counselling and support without excessive delay.
Impact for Children:  Birth families are supported to manage the feelings associated with adoption, and this is likely to benefit their 

own children.
Actions Completed:  Completed. 

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Actions completed  N/A  N/A N/A

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas in future/uncompleted actions table above, and any targets where trajectory of improvement indicates will not be met, specify 
any remedial actions required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed




102



59

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that, at the point at which they stop being looked after, all care leavers have access to 
comprehensive, accessible information about their health histories. 

Recommendation 
16

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  Systems are in place to ensure that at the point of leaving care, all care leavers have access to accessible and 

comprehensive information about their health histories.
Impact for Children:  Care leavers are aware of any relevant health histories, enabling them to access better quality medical care in 

later life for themselves and ensure that their own children’s health care is also informed by any relevant familial 
factors, improving health outcomes for themselves and their families.

Actions Completed:   

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Systems are in place to ensure that at the point of leaving care, all care leavers have access to accessible and 

comprehensive information about their health histories.
Impact for Children:  Care leavers are aware of any relevant health histories, enabling them to access better quality medical care in 

later life for themselves and ensure that their own children’s health care is also informed by any relevant familial 
factors, improving health outcomes for themselves and their families.

Actions Completed:   Designated Nurse has reviewed priorities for the LAC health team and has ensured that capacity is available to 
take this forward;

 Care leavers have been engaged and have done some preparatory work around their expectations for the Health 
Passport, and will contribute to the planned task and finish group.

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Systems are in place to ensure that at the point of leaving care, all care leavers have access to accessible and 

comprehensive information about their health histories.
Impact for Children:  Care leavers are aware of any relevant health histories, enabling them to access better quality medical care in 

later life for themselves and ensure that their own children’s health care is also informed by any relevant familial 
factors, improving health outcomes for themselves and their families.

Actions Completed:  Health passport has been designed and agreed in consultation with the Care Leavers’ Group; 
 Leaving Care pack has been completed in consultation with Care Leavers’ Group

103



60

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Leaving care pack to be reviewed 
by a task and finish group in 
partnership with care leavers.

 There will be some elements of 
the current pack that are 
effective, and we need to 
retain these.

 Continuity of practice with 
positive impact will be 
maintained.

Head of 
Service 
Children in 
Care

March 16

Revised leaving care pack to be 
developed by task and finish 
group in partnership with care 
leavers, to include a health 
passport.

 The pack needs to be reformed 
in order that it provides 
information needed by care 
leavers in an accessible format. 

 Care leavers have information 
about their health histories as 
well as other relevant 
information about their 
personal histories.

Arif Darr End June 16 
[slipped from 
May 16]

New process for ensuring that a 
comprehensive health passport 
forms part of revised care leaver 
pack implemented and 
established

 To establish the practice across 
the service and ensure that all 
children and young people 
have this information at the 
point they leave care.

 As above. Arif Dar End June 
2016 
[slipped from 
May 2016]

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed


104



61

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Strengthen Care Leavers’ engagement in their pathway plans, and their awareness of their rights and 
entitlements. 

Recommendation 
17

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  For all care leavers to participate in the development of their pathway plans, and to be fully informed of their 

rights and entitlements
Impact for Children:  Care leavers are more involved and in control of plans that affect them, enabling them to have greater ownership 

in the support they need to achieve independence;
 Care leavers are aware of their rights and entitlements and are in a better position to proactively seek support 

and assistance before issues become more complex and embedded;
 Care leavers feel more in control of their transition to adulthood. 

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  For all care leavers to participate in the development of their pathway plans, and to be fully informed of their 

rights and entitlements
Impact for Children:  Care leavers are more involved and in control of plans that affect them, enabling them to have greater ownership 

in the support they need to achieve independence;
 Care leavers are aware of their rights and entitlements and are in a better position to proactively seek support 

and assistance before issues become more complex and embedded;
 Care leavers feel more in control of their transition to adulthood. 

Actions Completed:  Additional Head of Service capacity in Children Looked After and Leaving Care services in order to improve 
practice standards;

 Review of CLA and Leaving Care Service structure to improve focus on care leavers through development of a 
dedicated sub team to ensure needs of care leavers aged 18 and above are met; 

 Review of capacity within participation services including analysis of whether additional capacity is required to 
enable effective participation by children in care and care leavers; 

 External website developer commissioned to develop a website for children and young people in care to be asked 
to explore a dedicated area for care leavers, which can provide advice, guidance and signpost care leavers to 
support as needed;

 Practice workshops held with all relevant team managers and practitioners to ensure awareness of information to 
be given to care leavers as they reach 16 years of age providing information on rights and entitlements;

 All care leavers provided with further information at least 3 months before age of 18 including details of useful 
websites, contact information and national and local sources of information on entitlements and rights.

105



62

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  For all care leavers to participate in the development of their pathway plans, and to be fully informed of their 

rights and entitlements
Impact for Children:  Care leavers are more involved and in control of plans that affect them, enabling them to have greater ownership 

in the support they need to achieve independence;
 Care leavers are aware of their rights and entitlements and are in a better position to proactively seek support 

and assistance before issues become more complex and embedded;
 Care leavers feel more in control of their transition to adulthood. 

Actions Completed:  Leaving care information pack for care leavers has been developed in partnership with the Care Leavers’ Group

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  For all care leavers to participate in the development of their pathway plans, and to be fully informed of their 

rights and entitlements
Impact for Children:  Care lea   vers are more involved and in control of plans that affect them, enabling them to have greater 

ownership in the support they need to achieve independence;
 Care leavers are aware of their rights and entitlements and are in a better position to proactively seek support 

and assistance before issues become more complex and embedded;
 Care leavers feel more in control of their transition to adulthood. 

Actions Completed:   

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
Case File Audit Target: for case file 
audits to evidence effective 
participation in development of 
pathway plans gradually 
increasing to 85% by Dec 2016.

 Pathway plans developed in 
partnership with young people 
will be more relevant to their 
needs;

 Young people will have a 
greater sense of control over 
their transition to adulthood.

 Where young people are more 
involved in planning and 
decision making, outcomes are 
likely to be improved as aims 
and objects are in line with 
their wishes and feelings.

Bev Paris Steadily 
improving 
trend 
required, 
with 
compliance 
by Dec 2016

Task and Finish group established  We need to ensure that  Care leavers will be better Arif Dar Feb 2016

106



63

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
to work in partnership with care 
leavers to review current leaving 
care pack. 

information provided to care 
leavers is relevant and 
accessible.

informed of rights and 
entitlements and will be in a 
better position to seek support 
early should they encounter 
any difficulties.

Ensure leaving care pack provides 
accessible information about 
rights and entitlements.

 We need to ensure that 
information provided to care 
leavers is relevant and 
accessible.

 Care leavers will be better 
informed of rights and 
entitlements and will be in a 
better position to seek support 
early should they encounter 
any difficulties.

Arif Dar June 2016

Website developed in partnership 
with external provider to include 
section for care leavers.

 A dedicated area of the 
website can be used to help to 
ensure that care leavers are 
able to access advice and 
support

 Young people are better 
informed about issues of 
importance to them and are 
able to identify sources of 
support and advice.

Jenny Weeden Action 
requires 
review 

 

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
New website to be launched, including 
any associated social media platforms.

 Action to be reviewed by new head of 
service for LAC in partnership with 
participation officer as more recent 
discussions with young people 
suggest that an App would be more 
used than a website…. Websites are 
now seen as somewhat old 
technology by young people

 Bev Paris to liaise with Matt 
Oliver/Jenny Weedon and new 
participation officer by October 2016

107



64

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Make greater use of apprenticeships to increase opportunities for care leavers. Recommendation 
18

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  Care leavers are supported to access a range of learning, training and employment opportunities in accordance 

with their needs and aspirations.
Impact for Children:  Young people leaving care have more choices available to them as they continue learning and training post 16 

and post 18;
 Young people leaving care receive the support they need in order to successfully manage the eventual transition 

into employment;
 Fewer young people leaving care are at risk of spending periods when they are not in education, employment or 

training.

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Care leavers are supported to access a range of learning, training and employment opportunities in accordance 

with their needs and aspirations.
Impact for Children:  Young people leaving care have more choices available to them as they continue learning and training post 16 

and post 18;
 Young people leaving care receive the support they need in order to successfully manage the eventual transition 

into employment;
 Fewer young people leaving care are at risk of spending periods when they are not in education, employment or 

training.
Actions Completed:  Agreement that the local authority will provide financial support to care leavers taking apprenticeships to ensure 

that they are not financially disadvantaged compared with accessing benefits or collage bursaries;
 Partnership established between Peterborough City College to help raise the profile of apprenticeships among 

young people in care and care leavers;
 Partnerships with corporate partners to explore offering apprenticeships to care leavers;
 Corporate Parenting Panel priorities include delivery of apprenticeships for care leavers;
 NEET team has dedicated care leaver champion;
 Training identified for Personal Advisers in relation to supporting care leavers into employment;
 Work is taking place within key partner agencies including Cross Keys and AMEY to identify bespoke care leaver 

employment training packages;
 Three young people accessing supported workforce training through AMEY;

108



65

 All apprenticeship vacancies circulated to relevant teams in CSC;
 Arrangements in place for any young people for whom apprenticeship is the primary Education, Employment and 

Training Plan to be monitored via weekly performance management report

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Care leavers are supported to access a range of learning, training and employment opportunities in accordance 

with their needs and aspirations.
Impact for Children:  Young people leaving care have more choices available to them as they continue learning and training post 16 

and post 18;
 Young people leaving care receive the support they need in order to successfully manage the eventual transition 

into employment;
 Fewer young people leaving care are at risk of spending periods when they are not in education, employment or 

training.
Actions Completed:  New information packs to provide information for young people in care about staying on in education post 16 

have been developed or are in development; 
 New performance group has been established to explore range of post 16 and adult skills learning and reporting 

to Children and Families Joint Commissioning Board;
 Virtual school has formed closer relationship with NEET team to improve information and support to young 

people at risk of becoming NEET as care leavers;
 New appointment to virtual school agreed from September 2106 to enhance capacity and provide additional 

support to post 16’s;
 Post 16 education is now agreed as a priority theme for the Council as a whole.

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Care leavers are supported to access a range of learning, training and employment opportunities in accordance 

with their needs and aspirations.
Impact for Children:  Young people leaving care have more choices available to them as they continue learning and training post 16 

and post 18;
 Young people leaving care receive the support they need in order to successfully manage the eventual transition 

into employment;
 Fewer young people leaving care are at risk of spending periods when they are not in education, employment or 

training.
Actions Completed: 

109



66

Future/Uncompleted Actions [note these are revised actions compared to previous action plan]:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
New strategic group to identify 
work plan and priorities to 
promote post 16 learning 
including apprenticeships for care 
leavers 

 In order to set objectives for 
post 16 career options for care 
leavers.

 More care leavers supported in 
appropriate apprenticeships 
which they successfully 
complete.

Alison Sunley 
& Pat 
Carrington

October 
2016

Specific key performance 
indicators relating to care leavers 
and post 16 opportunities 
including apprenticeships agreed

 Targets help to ensure that 
appropriate focus is 
maintained on performance 
and assists with monitoring 
progress.

 More care leavers supported in 
appropriate apprenticeships 
which they successfully 
complete.

Alison Sunley 
& Pat 
Carrington

October 
2016

Ensure that PEPs for older children 
and young people include 
consideration of the 
appropriateness of 
apprenticeships as part of overall 
planning and target setting. 

 Children and young people 
need time and support in order 
to consider their options and 
what careers may best suit 
them.

 Children and young people are 
better prepared to make 
decisions about their futures, 
and have more information 
about the choices available to 
them.

Alison Sunley 
& Dee Glover

November 
2016

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
e-PEPs for older young people to include 
consideration of the appropriateness of 
apprenticeships as part of overall 
planning and target setting

 This action will be completed 
following appointment of new post 
within Virtual School to enhance post 
16 capacity

110



67

OFSTED SAID WE 
MUST:

Ensure that learning from complaints is used to shape and inform frontline practice and influence 
service improvements. 

Recommendation 
19

Position as of 1st November 2015 RAG
Outcome Required:  Complaints help services to improve and deliver a more customer focused service;

 Collating feedback from complaints and identifying common themes provides an opportunity for practice and 
procedures to change in order to support the continuous improvement of services.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from a service that learns from events in the past that could have been 
handled better;

 Children and young people who make complaints in their own right do so knowing that where their experience 
contributes to learning by the service as a whole, outcomes for other children and young people will be improved 
along with their own.

Actions Completed: 

Position as of 1st March 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Complaints help services to improve and deliver a more customer focused service;

 Collating feedback from complaints and identifying common themes provides an opportunity for practice and 
procedures to change in order to support the continuous improvement of services.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from a service that learns from events in the past that could have been 
handled better;

 Children and young people who make complaints in their own right do so knowing that where their experience 
contributes to learning by the service as a whole, outcomes for other children and young people will be improved 
along with their own.

Actions Completed:  The Corporate Complaints Service already analyses complaints received including themes, outcomes and any 
learning that would benefit future users of children’s services;

 This learning is shared with Corporate Parenting and Scrutiny panels;
 Since May 2015, themes from complaints are a standing item on service improvement meetings chaired by the 

Assistant Director in order to support practice improvements;
 This approach has had an impact and complaints are being responded to in a much more consistently timely way;
 There has been a reduction in complaints indicating that practitioners and managers are adapting their practice 

to ensure that issues are addressed before becoming a cause for complaint. 

111



68

Position as of 1st July 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Complaints help services to improve and deliver a more customer focused service;

 Collating feedback from complaints and identifying common themes provides an opportunity for practice and 
procedures to change in order to support the continuous improvement of services.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from a service that learns from events in the past that could have been 
handled better;

 Children and young people who make complaints in their own right do so knowing that where their experience 
contributes to learning by the service as a whole, outcomes for other children and young people will be improved 
along with their own.

Actions Completed:  Quarterly report produced by QA team on complaints, follow up of action taken and learning shared with teams

Position as of 1st November 2016 RAG
Outcome Required:  Complaints help services to improve and deliver a more customer focused service;

 Collating feedback from complaints and identifying common themes provides an opportunity for practice and 
procedures to change in order to support the continuous improvement of services.

Impact for Children:  Children and young people benefit from a service that learns from events in the past that could have been 
handled better;

 Children and young people who make complaints in their own right do so knowing that where their experience 
contributes to learning by the service as a whole, outcomes for other children and young people will be improved 
along with their own.

Actions Completed: 

Future/Uncompleted Actions:

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
There needs to be a more direct 
link between the QA process and 
workforce development and so 
that the latter can be influenced 
by the former. Although this is 
agreed in principle, clear 
expectations required about how 
this will work in practice.

 Workforce development and 
training plans can respond 
more quickly to themes from 
QA audits;

 QA will ensure that workforce 
development and training 
plans are also informed by 

 Children and young people 
benefit from a continuously 
improving service informed by 
a clear understanding of 
strengths and weaknesses of 
past service delivery.

Alison Bennett 
& Claire 
Gregory

March 2016

112



69

What Needs to Happen? Why? What will the difference be? Lead Due by RAG
themes form complaints.

Develop further approaches to 
seek the views of children and 
young people about the quality of 
services by increasing capacity 
within QA service to undertake 
user feedback surveys, linking 
these to the participation strategy.

 Complaints are only one source 
of information about the 
quality of services. More 
general approaches to securing 
feedback captures other 
information we can use to 
support service improvement.

 The experiences of the wider 
population of children and 
young people inform 
continuous service 
improvement.

Alison Bennett 
& Claire 
Gregory

September  
2016 
[slipped from 
March 2016]

QA Service to publish quarterly 
factsheets summarising learning 
from complaints and any feedback 
exercises and to circulate these 
through the Social Work Forum 
and use of team meetings.

 This approach will help to 
support the dissemination of 
learning across the service. 

 As above. Alison Bennett April 2016 
[slipped from 
Feb 2016]

Remedial/Recovery Actions

For any RED rated areas or areas where dates have slipped from original targets in future/uncompleted actions table above, specify any remedial actions 
required:

Outstanding Action Remedial Actions Required Person Responsible & to be completed by Date Completed
Develop further approaches to seek the 
views of children and young people about 
the quality of services by increasing 
capacity within QA service to undertake 
user feedback surveys, linking these to 
the participation strategy.

 Post has been created within new QA 
structure to undertake consultation 
with young people and families. 
However dome delays with HR 
process meant that implementation 
of new service was delayed, leading 
to a delay in delivering this process. 

Alison Bennett September 2016

113



70

114



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Agenda Item No. 8

18 JULY 2016 Public Report

Report of the Corporate Director for People & Communities
Lee Miller, Head of Transformation and Commissioning 
(Children & Maternity), Cambridgeshire & Peterborough 
Health & Care System

Tel. 07538 276106Contact 
Officer

Lou Williams, Service Director for Children’s & Safeguarding Tel: 01733 864139

CHILD AND ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME

1. PURPOSE

1.1 This paper discusses Emotional Health and Wellbeing Services for Children and Young People. 
Background, work completed in 15/16, work and priorities for 16/17.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Committee notes and supports the plans outlined in this paper.

3. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PRIORITIES

3.1 This links to the following priorities; Safeguard vulnerable children and adults and Achieve the best 
health and wellbeing for the city.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 In April 2015 there were waiting lists for the Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 
of up to two years with demand increasing significantly especially for specialist CAMHS up by 20% 
in 2014/15. 

4.2 There was a significant increase in emergency assessments and gaps in provision coupled by 
confusing and ineffective pathways.

4.3 It was agreed to temporarily close the Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and Attention Deficit 
Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) waiting lists. The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) invested 
£600k recurrent funds and £150k non-recurrent to reduce waiting lists for core CAMHS and 
ASD/ADHD.

4.4 It was also agreed that a redesign of the Emotional Health and Wellbeing services across whole 
pathway, using THRIVE Framework was needed and there was a national 5 year funding 
announcement made for CAMHS in September 2015.

4.5 The local approach taken is as follows:

• Development of Local Transformation Plan: 
– First year plan detailing vision, issues for improvement, children & young people 

/families feedback, plans for additional funding.
• November 2015 redesign project commenced;

115



• Became one of 10 NHS implementer sites for ITHRIVE; and
• Since November, 4 workshops held to date, 8 multi-stakeholder events and 1 for CAMHS 

practitioners.

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1 What is THRIVE?

• Thrive is a conceptual framework for delivering a need based model for child and 
adolescent mental health; 

• Developed by the Anna Freud Centre to enable local areas to meet the recommendations 
of ‘Future in Mind’ and prepare for proposed payment models for NHS CAMHS;

• Offering a set of principles and values to guide implementation;
• i-Thrive relates to the implementation of the Thrive framework, principles and aims 

translating the Thrive framework into a model of care;
• Use of children & young people Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 

principles of; Participation, Access, Evidence based interventions, Routine outcome 
measures;

• 5 groupings –Thriving, Getting Advice, Getting Help, Getting More Help, Risk Support;
• Shared decision making is a key aspect of the framework; 
• Provide evidence based interventions that are outcome focused; and
• Use of language that promotes strength based collaborative work towards shared goals 

with CYP and families.

5.2 THRIVE Principles

• Groups are needs based and not distinguished by severity but by different supportive 
activities;

• Use of tools to support empowerment and shared decision making;
• Use of toolkits to aid decision making across the groupings;
• The workforce skills is more important than particular professional disciplines to deliver the 

interventions; and 
• Interagency ownership of the framework including cross-sector outcome measurement.

5.3 Local Approach

• 5 task and finish groups: 
– Thriving;
– Getting Advice;
– Getting Help;
– Getting More Help; and
– Risk Support.

• To define interventions, workforce skills, outcome measures, which children and young 
people to be supported in each group, must do’s;

• Development of local model – end June 2016;
• Short, medium and longer improvements to be made;
• Single gateway for Children’s Services;
• Increase early intervention and effective use of specialist CAMHS; and
• Single integrated pathway.

5.4 CCG Investment 15/16 across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

• £600k recurrent investment in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust 
(CPFT) for specialist CAMHS 15/16 – Core CAMHS waiting times below 18 weeks;

• £245k investment in CPFT 15/16 to reduce waiting times for ASD/ADHD – now below 18 
weeks; and

• Investment in Parent support and expert parent training programmes delivered by Pinpoint 
and Family Voice – excellent feedback.

116



5.5 Additional Investment 16/17 across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough against the ITHRIVE 
Framework.

5.6 Thriving

• Thriving. Including website development, PSHE programme for schools, support for 
vulnerable groups and parents; and

• Young people’s engagement worker – to cover Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.

5.7 Getting Advice

• Wellbeing leads – new role based in Localities, to raise the level of knowledge and skills 
and build community resilience by support, advice, training, consultation, with GP’s, 
schools, other health staff, community groups; and

• £43k – Parent support and Expert parent training programmes (Family Voice and 
Pinpoint). Extending well received programme from 15/16.

5.8 Getting Help

• ASD/ADHD –to increase capacity to deal with increased demand. Relies on, revised 
pathway, appropriate evidence based parenting programmes and integrated working 
between CPFT and CCS – details to be agreed;

• Parenting Programmes. To include all ages and specialist (post diagnosis) programmes; 
and

• Counselling services– focus on 11-17 year olds, increasing access to evidence based 
programmes.

5.9 Getting More Help

• Eating Disorders, to develop an intensive, community based evidence based programme, 
based on national Specification. CPFT to provide, planning for September 16 start.

5.10 Risk Support

• Intensive Support Team – to provide emergency assessments and support, to extend 
hours from 9-5pm until 12am, to match peak demand.

5.11 Total additional funding 16/17 - £1.664m

5.12 Additional ‘one off funding’

• £815k (From NHS Vanguard funding for 2016/17 only) to increase capacity of the Intensive 
support Team, to have Childrens Mental Health workers in the Tele Triage team and to set 
up and staff a ‘Discovery College’ in Peterborough.

6. IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The implementation of the THRIVE framework locally, will take place in stages. Some parts, such 
as the development of Emotional Wellbeing leads in Local areas, will take place quickly, others will 
require cultural change with organisations and individuals, to embed the principles of integration, 
multi agency teams, co working and shared decision making.

6.2 LEGAL

The Council must ensure that the implementation of the THRIVE framework will comply with 
Equalities and Human rights duties under the relevant Acts.

7. CONSULTATION

7.1 The relevant committees at the CCG, Peterborough City Council and Cambridgeshire County 

117



7.2

Council are now being briefed with regards to the developments.

A full consultation will be detailed within the implementation plan.

8. NEXT STEPS

8.1 An Implementation plan will be developed and overseen through the Joint Commissioning Unit, 
with Strategic Oversight from the Children and Young People’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing 
Board.

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

9.1

9.2

‘Future in Mind’; Promoting, Protecting and Improving our Children and Young People’s Mental 
Health and Wellbeing; NHS England 2015.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_
Mental_Health.pdf

The THRIVE Framework
http://www.annafreud.org/service-improvement/service-improvement-
resources/thrive/

10. APPENDICES

10.1 None.

118

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf
http://www.annafreud.org/service-improvement/service-improvement-resources/thrive/
http://www.annafreud.org/service-improvement/service-improvement-resources/thrive/


CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY PANEL

Agenda Item No. 9

18 JULY 2016 Public Report

Report of the Executive Director of People and Communities                            

Contact Officer(s) – Iain Easton
Contact Details – (01733) 864210

PREVENT AND THE WORK OF THE CHANNEL PANEL

1. PURPOSE

1.1 To advise the panel on the progress in implementing the Prevent Strategy and the work of the 
Channel Panel.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Scrutiny is asked to scrutinise the council’s approach to preventing extremism and to offer ideas  
that can improve the delivery model and the outcomes.

3. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PRIORITIES

3.1 This report links to the local authority priorities in respect of safeguarding vulnerable children 
and adults and keeping all our communities safe, cohesive and healthy.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 Prevent and Channel are key responsibilities for the local authority both of which contribute to 
reducing the risks of vulnerable young people and adults becoming radicalised and reducing 
any terrorist threats to the city. This was placed on a statutory footing in 2015.  

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1

5.2

5.3

From the 1st July 2015 the government introduced a specific duty to a wide range of public 
bodies which requires them to have “due regard to the need to prevent people from being 
drawn into terrorism”.

The specified bodies included in the Act are:

• Local authorities
• Police
• Prisons
• Young offender institutions 
• Providers of probation services
• Schools
• Colleges
• Universities
• NHS bodies

The Prevent strategy, published by the Government in 2011, is part of the overall counter 
terrorism strategy, CONTEST. The aim of the Prevent strategy is to reduce the threat to the UK 
from terrorism by stopping people becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism.  In the Act this 
has simply been expressed as the need to “prevent people from being drawn into terrorism”.

119



5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

5.10

5.11

The duty does not confer new functions on any specified authority. The term “due regard” as 
used in the Act means that the authorities should place an appropriate amount of weight on the 
need to prevent people being drawn into terrorism when they consider all the other factors 
relevant to how they carry out their usual functions.

The Prevent Strategy has three specific strategic objectives:

• to respond to the ideological challenge of terrorism and the threat we face from
those who promote it;

• to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism and to ensure that they are given 
appropriate advice and support; and

• to work with sectors and institutions where there are risks of radicalisation that
•  need to be addressed.

The Government has defined extremism in the Prevent strategy as: “vocal or active opposition 
to fundamental British values, including democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty and mutual 
respect and tolerance of different faiths and beliefs. It also includes calls for the death of 
members of the British armed forces”.

Channel

Channel is a key element of the Prevent strategy.   It was first piloted in 2007 and rolled out 
across England and Wales in April 2012 and became a statutory body in 2015.  It is a multi-
agency approach to protect people at risk from radicalisation. Channel uses existing 
collaboration between local authorities, statutory partners (such as the education and health 
sectors, social services, children’s and youth services and offender management services), the 
police and the local community to: 

• identify individuals at risk of being drawn into terrorism; 
• assess the nature and extent of that risk; and
• develop the most appropriate support plan for the individuals concerned. 

Channel is primarily about safeguarding children and adults from being drawn into committing 
terrorist-related activity. It is about early intervention to protect and divert people away from the 
risk they face before illegality occurs. 

The Channel Assessment Framework

The assessment framework involves three dimensions: engagement, intent and capability, 
which are considered separately. These factors must be carefully assessed prior to the case 
coming to panel.  However there is no threshold for referrals to Channel, which may result in an 
apparently high rejection rate. 

Engagement with a group, cause or ideology.

Engagement factors are sometimes referred to as “psychological hooks”. They include needs, 
susceptibilities, motivations and contextual influences and together map the individual pathway 
into terrorism. 

Intent to cause harm.

Not all those who become engaged by a group, cause or ideology go on to develop an intention 
to cause harm, so this dimension is considered separately. Intent factors describe the mind-set 
that is associated with a readiness to use violence and address what the individual would do 
and to what end. 

120



5.12

5.13

5.14

5.15

5.16

5.17

5.18

Capability to cause harm

Not all those who have a wish to cause harm on behalf of a group, cause or ideology are 
capable of doing so, and plots to cause widespread damage take a high level of personal 
capability, resources and networking to be successful. What the individual is capable of is 
therefore a key consideration when assessing risk of harm to the public. 

Local Authority Responsibility for Channel and Panel Purpose

Legislation requires that: 

a. local authorities  ensure that a multi-agency panel exists in their area; 
b. the local authority chairs the panel; 
c. the panel develop a support plan for individuals accepted as Channel cases; 
d. the panel consider alternative forms of support, including health and social services, 

where Channel is not appropriate; and 
e. all partners of a panel so far as appropriate and reasonably practicable, cooperate with 

the police and the panel in the carrying out of their functions.

The Local Authority Chair’s Responsibilities

The Channel Panel Chair is responsible for: 
a. having oversight of all Channel cases in their area; 
b. ensuring that the appropriate representatives are invited to each meeting as panel 

members; 
c. establishing effective relationships across statutory agencies to ensure effective co-

operation over information sharing and attendance at panel meetings; 
d. establishing the appropriate support plan for identified individuals by using the expertise 

of the panel; 
e. ensuring that the risks of persons being drawn into terrorism are identified and are 

referred to the appropriate agencies for action; 
f. ensuring an effective support plan is put in place, and that consent is sought from the 

individual before that plan is put in place; and 
g. ensuring individuals and/or organisations on the panel carry out their elements of the 

support plan so that an effective support package is delivered. 

The Chair should be fully briefed by the Channel Police Practitioner on every referral so that 
they can assess all aspects of the case with rigour and agree the most effective response. 

Panel Membership

Government guidance suggests that individuals drawn from the following groups should be 
considered as members of the Channel Panel:

NHS staff; Social workers; Schools, further education colleges and universities staff; Youth 
offending service staff; Local authority safeguarding managers (adult and/or children); Local 
authority Troubled Families Teams; Home Office Immigration (Immigration Enforcement, UK 
Visas & Immigration); Border Force; Housing staff; prison staff.

Other professionals should be called on to attend the panel to discuss specific cases.

The Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Combined Channel Panel

It has been agreed that there should be a combined panel which covers both Peterborough and 

121



5.19

5.20

5.21

5.22

5.23

5.24

5.25

5.26

Cambridgeshire.  This is permitted by the legislation and the panel is currently chaired by a staff 
member from the Peterborough Local Authority.  The panel meets monthly at police 
headquarters in Huntingdon.  

The panel membership currently includes the following partner agencies.  

• An adult mental health representative who covers both Peterborough and 
Cambridgeshire.

• An adult social care representative who covers Cambridgeshire
• Representatives from both Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Youth Offending Services 
• Representatives from both Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Children’s Social Care 

services
• Representatives for education (schools) in both Peterborough and Cambridgeshire
• A representative from both Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Regional Colleges
• A number of police officers including Safer Schools in Peterborough and the public 

protection unit
• Community Cohesion representatives from both Peterborough and Cambridgeshire
• A Fire Service representative
• The Channel Police Practitioner, the regional police prevent manager and the police link 

to accessing interventionists
• A regional National Probation Service / Community Rehabilitation Company 

representative  

Referral Information

There has been a steady flow of referrals into Channel over the first six months of the year, with 
Peterborough referring just over half the cases.  Cases were referred from a variety of sources 
but come mainly from schools, the police and the Probation Services.  Around half the cases 
referred concerned young people.

However given there is no referral threshold for Channel most of the cases are at the lower end 
of the risk spectrum and very few are offered an intervention although others are referred to 
other more appropriate agencies.  

The relatively low level of cases adopted by the panel appropriately reflects Cambridgeshire’s 
low radicalisation risk status.  

However the number of referrals received indicates that there is good awareness in the local 
area of the importance of Prevent and that the Prevent Action Plan is having the desired effect. 

Prevent Action Plan

Although Channel plays a key role in identifying and supporting people vulnerable to being 
drawn into terrorism the Local Authority also has wider responsibilities to reduce the risks of 
radicalisation in their area.  

At a general level local authorities must:

• Assess risk of radicalisation in their area; 
• Develop an action plan to reduce this risk;
• Train staff to recognise radicalisation and extremism;
• Work in partnership with others;
• Establish referral mechanisms and refer people to Channel; and
• Maintain records and reports to show compliance.

In response to the duties placed on the local authority a Prevent Action Plan has been 
established, covering the key areas set out above.  Good progress is being made against the 
plan.

122



5.27

5.28

5.29

5.30

5.31

5.32

5.33

Risk assessment

The Counter Terrorism Local Profile was refreshed in April 2015 and is due to be published 
shortly.  The risk to Cambridgeshire and Peterborough remains low.  The Police are working on 
ensuring that intelligence from partner agencies is captured within this and mechanisms are 
being considered to support this.

Training

To date over 100 frontline Council staff have undertaken the mandatory Prevent WRAP 
(Working to Raise Awareness of Prevent) training, which has been provided by the City 
College.  A further 100 frontline staff will receive the training in June and July.  Mandatory 
Prevent training for non-frontline staff will start this month via an e-Module made available on 
Insite.  

Working in Partnership 

The Multi-Agency Prevent Delivery Board has had its first meeting.  Meetings are held on a 
quarterly basis, chaired by Cambridgeshire Police, with representatives from both 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.  This allows for a strategic oversight of Prevent across the 
County and allows action plans for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough to be aligned.

Referral Mechanism for Channel

The process for making referrals to Channel is now in place with referrals initially following the 
same process as any safeguarding referral.  However once a case has been identified as a 
potential Channel case it is passed to the Prevent police officer who will then implement a 
partnership wide information gathering process in advance of the case being considered at the 
next Channel Panel.  

Use of LA Resources 

Work has been completed to ensure that policies are in place to prevent local authority 
resources from being used as a platform for extremists.  The Room Booking Policy has been 
updated to reflect this.  Work has also been done with community centres to ensure they are 
aware and guidance has been provided on ensuring rental of community spaces is not being 
used to promote extremist views.

Mainstreaming Prevent into Everyday Activities 

Prevent now forms part of overall safeguarding policies for both children and adults which are 
clear and robust to ensure all those at risk are identified. 
  
Conclusion

Overall good progress is being made in both Channel’s work and the wider duties required of 
the local authority.  Good systems and processes are in place to tackle the risk of radicalisation 
and support for Channel by partners is generally very positive.  Although the assessed risk of 
people becoming radicalised in Peterborough is low the local authority continues to take its 
responsibilities seriously and invests the appropriate time and resources to deliver against the 
responsibilities conferred on it.

6

6.1

IMPLICATIONS

Legal

Section 26 of the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 (the Act) places a duty on certain 

123



bodies (“specified authorities” listed in Schedule 6 to the Act), in the exercise of their functions, 
to have “due regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism”. This 
guidance is issued under section 29 of the Act. The Act states that the authorities subject to the 
provisions must have regard to this guidance when carrying out the duty.

7. CONSULTATION

7.1 None.

8. NEXT STEPS

8.1 Progress of the Prevent Action Plan and the Channel Panel to be reviewed.

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 None

124



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Agenda Item No. 10

18 JULY 2016 Public Report

Report of the Director of Governance

Contact Officer – Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Contact Details – (01733) 452508 or email paulina.ford@peterborough.gov.uk

REVIEW OF 2015/2016 AND DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2016/17

1. PURPOSE

1.1 To provide the Committee with a review of the work undertaken during 2015/16 by the Creating 
Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny Committee and to approve the draft work 
programme for 2016/17.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Committee considers the 2015/2016 year in review and makes recommendations on 
the future monitoring of these items where necessary.

2.2 That the Committee determines its priorities, and approves the draft work programme attached 
at Appendix 2.

3. REVIEW OF 2015/16

3.1 The Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny Committee was established by 
Council at its annual meeting on 18 May 2009.  During the year 2015/2016, the Committee 
considered the following issues:

Information / Update
 Review of 2014/15 and Future Work Programme
 Childrens Services and Safeguarding:  Introduction, Overview and Work Programme
 Appointment of a Co-Opted Member

Monitoring / Calling to Account
 Service Directors Report for Children and Safeguarding 
 Children’s (Social Care) Services Statutory Complaints Process (Children act 1989) Annual 

Report 2014/2015
 Presentation of 2015 KS 4 & KS2 Unvalidated Examination Results
 Recruitment and Retention of Social Workers (report to include assessment of the impact of 

capping agency fees, website)
 Service Directors Report for Education including Portfolio Progress Report for Cabinet 

Member for Education, Skills and University
 City College Peterborough (including Apprenticeships and NEET)
 Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report (PSCB) 2014/15 
 Placement Strategy for Children Looked After and the Implementation of the  Fostering 

Action Plan
 Presentation Of 2015 Final and Validated Assessment Results By Pupil Characteristics for 

EYFS, Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2
 Children and Families Joint Commissioning Board Achievement Report
 Supporting The Mental Health Needs Of Care Leavers
 Progress on SEND Reforms

125



 Ofsted Inspection Report
 Review of Outcomes of Peterborough Self Improvement School Network
 Vulnerable Children In Education including Closing the Gap Strategy / EAL Strategy and 

Virtual School
 Impact of Early Help (including Connecting Families) 
 Service Director And Portfolio Overview Report: Children & Safeguarding

Policy  / Plans /  Consultation
 Schools Organisation Plan
 Proposal To Develop A Permanency Service In Peterborough
 Skills Strategy
 Outline Child Poverty Strategy
 Alternative Governance
 Joint Scrutiny of the Budget 2016/17 and Medium Term Financial Plan – Phase One
 Joint Scrutiny of the Budget 2016/17 and Medium Term Financial Plan – Phase Two

3.2 For the information of the Committee, copies of the recommendations made during the year are 
attached at Appendix 1.

4. WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17

4.1 In accordance with the Constitution, the Committee is responsible for setting its own work 
programme in line with the Council’s key priorities and the Committee’s remit.

4.2 The Committee’s remit is:

To review and scrutinise the delivery of the Sustainable Community Strategy priority of 
creating opportunities, tackling inequalities.  This will include reviewing and scrutinising the 
performance of other public bodies in their activities and performance in the delivery of the 
Single Delivery Plan.

Hold the Executive to account for the discharge of functions in the following ways:

 by exercising the right to call-in, for reconsideration, decisions made but not yet 
implemented by the Executive or key decisions which have been delegated to an 
officer.  

 by scrutinising Key Decisions which the Executive is planning to take, as set out in the 
Forward Plan

 by scrutinising Executive decisions after they have been implemented, as part of a 
wider policy review.

To review and scrutinise the planning, decisions, policy development, service provision and 
performance relating to the following service areas:

 Adult Learning and Skills
 Children’s Services
 Education
 Safeguarding Children 

To assist and advise the Council and the Executive in the development of its budget and 
policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues in relation to the terms of reference of 
the committee.

Make recommendations to the Executive and/or Council arising from overview and scrutiny 
activity.
Establish ad-hoc Task and Finish Groups to investigate specific topics on a time-limited 
basis.

126



To consider any appeals from petition organisers who are not satisfied with the outcome of 
the Council’s consideration of their petition.

4.3 A draft work programme which shows the items identified for scrutiny at the work programming 
session held on 13 June is attached at Appendix 2.

5. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

5.1 Minutes of the Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny Committee held on 15 
June, 20 July, 14 September, 16 November, 18 January 2016 and 14 March 2016.

6. Appendices

6.1 Appendix 1 - Recommendations made during 2015/2016
Appendix 2 – Draft Work Programme 2016/17

127



This page is intentionally left blank

128



APPENDIX 1
CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
RECOMMENDATIONS MADE DURING 2015-2016

MEETING DATE / 
ITEM

RECOMMENDATION REFERRED 
TO

RESPONSE TO RECOMMENDATIONS

14 September 2015 
Draft School 
Organisation Plan 
2015/20 - 
Delivering Local 
Places For Local 
Children

The Committee endorsed the Draft School 
Organisation Plan 2015/20 and 
recommended that the document was 
submitted to Cabinet for approval.

Councillor 
Holdich OBE 
and 
Jonathan 
Lewis

Presented and adopted by Cabinet on 25 November 2015, 
where Cabinet noted and approved the appropriate action 
was being undertaken to deliver the statutory requirement 
for school places.

16 November 2015

Vulnerable 
Children In 
Education 
including Closing 
the Gap Strategy / 
EAL Strategy and 
Virtual School

The Committee recommended that the 
Leader of the Council - Cabinet Member for 
Education, Skills and University considered 
and carefully monitored the underfunding 
position for the Virtual Schools team.

Councillor 
Holdich OBE 
and Terry 
Reynolds.

There is currently a piece of work underway to develop a 
new model for the delivery of the Council’s education 
function.  This is based on consultation with schools (Head 
teachers and governors) and will include the VS, leading to 
a proposed new structure in due course (probably in April).

In addition, the VS is currently in the process of recruiting 
an additional member of staff for post-16 CiC.  Response 
provided by Terry Reynolds.

18 January 2016

City College 
Peterborough 
(including 
Apprenticeships 
and NEET)

The Committee recommended that the 
Cabinet Member for Growth Planning, 
Housing and Economic Development hold a 
meeting with the Peterborough City College 
Access Champions and Peterborough bus 
companies to discuss ideas with the aim to 
formulate an access improvement plan for 

Cllr North, 
Pat 
Carrington 
and Peter 
Tebb

Initial meeting held with Access Champions and Richard 
Mayes. A demonstration of the Traveline GB app was 
presented to the group and work on an improvement plan 
for disabled users will be explored further. 

In addition to the ongoing work of the access improvement 
plan the group will include accessibility options of walking 

129



APPENDIX 1
CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
RECOMMENDATIONS MADE DURING 2015-2016

MEETING DATE / 
ITEM

RECOMMENDATION REFERRED 
TO

RESPONSE TO RECOMMENDATIONS

disabled users to encourage independent 
travel in the City.  

and cycle routes.  Response provided by Richard Mayes.

14 March 2016

Skills Strategy The Committee endorsed the Skills Strategy 
for approval by Cabinet and recommended 
that there was more involvement in 
consulting with local businesses going 
forward to undertake the actions included in 
the Skills Strategy.

Cabinet and 
Wendi Ogle-
Welbourn

Cabinet Members were advised at the meeting held on 21 
March 2016 that engagement with employers would be wide 
and it would include ‘Small and Medium Sized Enterprises 
(SMEs)’. 

130



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE                                                                        APPENDIX 2                                  
DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17                                                                                                                                            Updated 14 June 2016

Meeting Date Item Indicative 
Timings

COMMENTS

Co-opted Member

Contact Officer:  Paulina Ford
School attendance including Behaviour and Attendance Panels and 
pressure on school places

Contact Officer:  Gary Perkins/Terry Reynolds

Update on Action Plan following Ofsted inspection of children’s 
services

Contact Officer:  Nicola Curley/ Lou Williams
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Transformation Programme

Contact Officer:   Lee Miller
Prevent and work of Channel Panel

Contact Officer: Iain Easton
Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their 
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.

Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

18 July 2016

Draft Report 24 June
Final Report  06 July

Review of 2015/16 and Work Programme 2016/17

To review the work undertaken during 2016/17 and to consider the work 
programme of the Committee.

Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

131



Meeting Date Item Indicative 
Timings

COMMENTS

Service Director & Portfolio Overview Report – Children & 
Safeguarding

Contact Officer:  Lou Williams

SEND Reforms – Update (Special Education Needs & Disability)

Contact Officer:  Terry Reynolds

Poverty Strategy

Contact Officer:   Hayley Thornhill and Ian Philips 

Report on Activities of Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board

Contact Officer:  Russell Waite

12 September 2016

Draft Report 18 Aug
Final Report 31 Aug

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their 
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.

Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

Work Programme 2016/2017
To consider the Work Programme for 2016/2017.

14 November 2016
Draft Report 21 Oct
Final Report  2 Nov

Results – Key Stage 1 & Phonics

Contact Officer:  Terry Reynolds/Gary Perkins

132



Meeting Date Item Indicative 
Timings

COMMENTS

Impact of Early Help & update on Troubled or Connecting Families

Contact Officer Karen Moody  
Neglect Strategy

Contact Officer:  Lou Williams/Nicola Curley
Child Sexual Exploitation & Children Missing including Response & 
Serious Case Review

Contact Officer:   Lou Williams/Nicola Curley
Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their 
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

Work Programme 2016/2017
To consider the Work Programme for 2016/2017.

16 November 2016
(Joint Meeting of 
the Scrutiny 
Committees and 
Commissions) 

Budget 2017/18 and Medium Term Financial Strategy to 2026/27 Phase 
One
To scrutinise the Executive’s proposals for the Budget 2017/18 and Medium 
Term Financial Plan 2026/27.
Contact Officer:  John Harrison/Steven Pilsworth 

5 January 2017
Draft Report 6 Dec
Final Report 16 Dec

Implications of Education Bill

Contact Officer:  Terry Reynolds

133



Meeting Date Item Indicative 
Timings

COMMENTS

Service Director Report: Children & Safeguarding

Contact Officer:  Ian Williams

Educational Attainment Key Stage 2 Results

Contact Officer:  Terry Reynolds/Gary Perkins

Developing the Healthy Child Programme

Contact Officer:  Ian Williams

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their 
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

Work Programme 2016/2017
To consider the Work Programme for 2016/2017.

(Joint Meeting of 
the Scrutiny 
Committees and 
Commissions)
8 February 2017

Budget 2017/18 and Medium Term Financial Strategy to 2026/27 
Phase Two
To scrutinise the Executive’s proposals for the Budget 2017/18 and 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2026/27.

1. Contact Officer:  John Harrison/Steven Pilsworth

13  March 2017
Draft Report 17 Feb
Final Report  1 Mar
 

Educational Attainment Key Stage 4 & Review of Impact of Virtual 
Schools

Contact Officer:  Terry Reynolds/ Gary Perkins

134



Meeting Date Item Indicative 
Timings

COMMENTS

Placement Strategy & Update on Implementation of Permanency 
Services

Contact Officer:  Lou Williams

Apprenticeships, Skills & Impact on Reduction in NEET figures

Contact Officer:   Terry Reynolds/Pat Carrington

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their 
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

Work Programme 2016/2017
To consider the Work Programme for 2016/2017.135



T
his page is intentionally left blank

136



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM NO. 11

18 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of the Director of Governance

Report Author – Karen S Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer
Contact Details – 01733 452233 or email karen.dunleavy@peterborough.gov.uk

FORWARD PLAN OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

1. PURPOSE

1.1 This is a regular report to the Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny 
Committee outlining the content of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their work programme.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 The latest version of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions is attached at Appendix 1.  The 
Forward Plan contains those Executive decisions, which the Leader of the Council believes that 
the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Member(s) can take and any new Executive decisions to be 
taken after 25 July 2016.

3.2 The information in the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions provides the Committee with the 
opportunity of considering whether it wishes to seek to influence any of these Executive 
decisions, or to request further information.

3.3 If the Committee wished to examine any of the Executive decisions, consideration would need to 
be given as to how this could be accommodated within the work programme.

3.4 As the Forward Plan is published fortnightly any version of the Forward Plan published after 
dispatch of this agenda will be tabled at the meeting.

4. CONSULTATION

4.1 Details of any consultation on individual decisions are contained within the Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions.

5. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

None

6. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 

137



This page is intentionally left blank

138



PETERBOROUGH CITY 
COUNCIL’S FORWARD PLAN 
OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 

PUBLISHED: 24 JUNE 2016

139



FORWARD PLAN                                                                                                                                     AB
PART 1 – KEY DECISIONS
In the period commencing 28 clear days after the date of publication of this Plan, Peterborough City Council's Executive intends to take 'key decisions' on the issues set out 
below in Part 1.  Key decisions relate to those executive decisions which are likely to result in the Council spending or saving money in excess of £500,000 and/or have a 
significant impact on two or more wards in Peterborough.

If the decision is to be taken by an individual Cabinet Member, the name of the Cabinet Member is shown against the decision, in addition to details of the Councillor’s portfolio. 
If the decision is to be taken by the Cabinet, this too is shown against the decision and its members are as listed below:
Cllr Holdich (Leader); Cllr Fitzgerald (Deputy Leader); Cllr Elsey; Cllr Goodwin; Cllr Hiller, Cllr Lamb; Cllr Smith; Cllr Seaton and Cllr Walsh.

This Plan should be seen as an outline of the proposed decisions for the forthcoming month and it will be updated on a fortnightly basis to reflect new key-decisions.  Each new 
Plan supersedes the previous Plan and items may be carried over into forthcoming Plans.  Any questions on specific issues included on the Plan should be included on the form 
which appears at the back of the Plan and submitted to Gemma George, Democratic Services Manager, Governance Department, Town Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 
08702 388039). Alternatively, you can submit your views via e-mail to gemma.george@peterborough.gov.uk or by telephone on 01733 452268. For each decision a public 
report will be available from the Governance Team one week before the decision is taken.

PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISION IN PRIVATE
Whilst the majority of the Executive’s business at the Cabinet meetings listed in this Plan will be open to the public and media organisations to attend, there will be some 
business to be considered that contains, for example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information.  In these circumstances the meeting may be held in private, 
and on the rare occasion this applies, notice will be given within Part 2 of this document, ‘notice of intention to hold meeting in private’. A further formal notice of the intention to 
hold the meeting, or part of it, in private, will also be given 28 clear days in advance of any private meeting in accordance with The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

The Council invites members of the public to attend any of the meetings at which these decisions will be discussed (unless a notice of intention to hold the meeting in private 
has been given).

PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS
For complete transparency relating to the work of the Executive, this Plan also includes an overview of non-key decisions to be taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet 
Members, these decisions are listed at Part 3 and will be updated on a weekly basis.

You are entitled to view any documents listed on the Plan, or obtain extracts from any documents listed or subsequently submitted to the decision maker prior to the decision 
being made, subject to any restrictions on disclosure. There is no charge for viewing the documents, although charges may be made for photocopying or postage.  Documents 
listed on the notice and relevant documents subsequently being submitted can be requested from Gemma George, Democratic Services Manager, Governance Department, 
Town Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 08702 388038), e-mail to gemma.george@peterborough.gov.uk or by telephone on 01733 452268. 

All decisions will be posted on the Council's website: www.peterborough.gov.uk/executivedeisions. If you wish to make comments or representations regarding the 'key 
decisions' outlined in this Plan, please submit them to the Democratic Services Manager using the form attached.  For your information, the contact details for the Council's 
various service departments are incorporated within this Plan.

140

mailto:gemma.george@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:gemma.george@peterborough.gov.uk
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/executivedeisions


PART 1 – FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS

KEY DECISIONS FROM 25 JULY 2016
KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

1. Business Advice 
Charging Policy – 
KEY/25JUL16/01
To approve the 
charging policy.

Councillor Irene 
Walsh
Cabinet Member for 
Communities and 
Environment Capital

August 2016 Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Peter Gell
Head of Regulatory 
Services
Tel: 01733 453419
Peter.gell@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

141



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED DECISIONS

1. Delivery of the 
Council's Capital 
Receipt Programme 
through the Sale of 
Dickens Street Car 
Park - KEY/03JUL/11
To authorise the Chief 
Executive, in 
consultation with the 
Solicitor to the Council, 
Corporate Director 
Resources, the 
Corporate Property 
Officer and the Cabinet 
Member Resources, to 
negotiate and conclude 
the sale of Dickens 
Street Car Park. 
For Cabinet to consider 
future options for 
service delivery. 

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

August 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Consultation will 
take place with 
the Cabinet 
Member, Ward 
Councillors, 
relevant internal 
departments & 
external 
stakeholders as 
appropriate.

Richard Hodgson
Head of Strategic 
Projects
Tel: 01733 384535
richard.hodgson@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

142



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

2. Award of Contract 
for Build of a Waste 
Transfer Station - 
KEY/18APR14/02
To award a contract 
for the build of a 
waste transfer 
station.

Councillor Gavin 
Elsey
Cabinet Member for 
Waste and Street 
Scene 

July
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Paul Robertson
Waste Project Officer
Tel: 01733 864740
paul.robertson@peterbo
rough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

3. Print Managed 
Services - 
KEY/13JUN14/01
To enable Council 
officers to be able to 
print, copy and scan.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

July
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Vicki Palazon
Financial Services 
Manager – Planning and 
Reporting
Tel: 01733 864104
Vicki.palazon@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

4. Real Time 
Passenger 
Information – 
KEY/10JUL15/02
To approve the 
expansion and 
maintenance 
contract.

Councillor Peter 
Hiller
Cabinet Member for 
Growth, Planning, 
Housing & 
Economic 
Development 

August
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and External 
stakeholders.

Amy Pickstone
Senior ITS Officer
Tel: 01733 317481
Amy.pickstone@peterb
orough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

143



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

5. Delivery of the 
Council’s Capital 
Receipt 
Programme 
through the sale of 
Welland House, 
Dogsthorpe – 
KEY/24JUL15/01
To authorise the 
sale of Welland 
House, Dogsthorpe 
– (non-key)

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

July
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

David Gray
Capital Projects Officer
Tel: 01733 384531
david.gray@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

6. Sale of the 
Lindens, Lincoln 
Road – 
KEY/24JUL15/04
To authorise the 
Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the 
Solicitor to the 
Council, Corporate 
Director Resources, 
the Corporate 
Property Officer and 
the Cabinet Member 
Resources, to 
negotiate and 
conclude the sale.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

September
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Brian Davies
Sales and Acquisitions
Tel: 01733 384547
Brian.davies@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

144



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

7. Sale of Bretton 
Court, Bretton 
North – 
KEY/24JUL15/05
To authorise the 
Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the 
Solicitor to the 
Council, Corporate 
Director Resources, 
the Corporate 
Property Officer and 
the Cabinet Member 
Resources, to 
negotiate and 
conclude the sale.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

July
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Brian Davies
Sales and Acquisitions
Tel: 01733 384547
Brian.davies@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

8. Draft Housing 
Strategy – 
KEY/21SEPT15/03
For Cabinet to 
approve the Strategy 
for public 
consultation.

Cabinet September 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Anne Keogh
Housing and Strategic 
Planning Manager
Anne.keogh1@peterbo
rough.gov.uk
Tel: 01733 863815

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

145



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

9. Passenger 
Transport Services 
AMEY – 
KEY/27NOV15/01
To approve the 
award of six routes 
to Amey under the 
existing contract 
arrangements. 

Councillor John 
Holdich
Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for 
Education, Skills 
and University

July
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Sara Thompson
Team Manager, 
Passenger Transport 
Operations
Tel: 01733 317452
Sara.thompson@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an
exempt annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person
(including the authority 
holding
that information).

10. Intelligent 
Transport Systems 
Infrastructure – 
KEY/11DEC15/01
To introduce the use 
of Variable Message 
Signs (VMS) on the 
road network to 
provide real-time 
driver information.

Councillor Peter 
Hiller
Cabinet Member for 
Growth, Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

July
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Peter Tebb
Network and Traffic 
Manager
Tel: 01733 453519
Peter.tebb@peterborou
gh.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an
exempt annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person
(including the authority 
holding
that information).

146



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

11. Direct Payment 
Support Service – 
KEY/11DEC15/02
To approve the 
direct payment 
support service.

Councillor Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health

July 2016 Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Richard Redmond
Head of 
Commissioning – Older 
People, Physical 
Disability, Sensory 
Impairment, HIV and 
Carers
Richard.redmond@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an
exempt annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person
(including the authority 
holding
that information).

12. Offtake 
Arrangements for 
Power from the 
Energy Recovery 
Facility – 
KEY/25DEC15/01 
To approve putting 
into place 
arrangements for the 
sale of heat and/or 
electricity from the 
Energy Recovery 
Facility.

Councillor Gavin 
Elsey
Cabinet Member for 
Waste and Street 
Scene

July
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital 

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Richard Pearn
Waste Partnership 
Manager
Tel: 01733 864739
Richard.pearn@peterb
orough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information relating 
to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding 
that information).

147



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

13. Delegation of 
Authority under the 
ASB, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014 
to Registered 
Social Landlords – 
KEY/25DEC15/02
To authorise 
Peterborough City 
Council to designate 
authority to 
registered social 
landlords to enforce 
Part 4 Sections 43-
48 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 
2014.

Councillor Irene 
Walsh
Cabinet Member for 
Communities and 
Environment Capital

July
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders 
including social 
landlords through 
the Peterborough 
Registered Social 
Landlord Forum

Laura Kelsey
Anti-Social Behaviour 
Co-ordinator
Tel: 01733 453563
Laura.kelsey@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

14. Review of 
Emergency 
Stopping Places – 
KEY/25JAN16/02
For Cabinet to 
review existing and 
proposed 
emergency stopping 
places.

Cabinet September 
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Belinda Child
Head of Housing and 
Health Improvement
Tel: 01733 863769
Belinda.child@peterbor
ough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

148



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

15. Provision of Non 
Social Care 
Temporary Agency 
Workers – 
KEY/25JAN16/04
To approve the 
provision of 
temporary agency 
workers.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

July
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

James Fordham
Recruitment and 
Retention Officer
Tel: 01733 864581
James.fordham@peter
borough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

16. Provision of 
Permanency 
Services – 
KEY/21MAR16/01
To approve the 
award of the 
Provision of 
Permanency 
Services contract.

Councillor Sam 
Smith
Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services

July 2016 Creating 
Opportunities 
and Tackling 
Inequalities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Lou Williams
Service Director 
Children’s Services and 
Safeguarding
Tel: 01733 864139
Lou.williams@peterbor
ough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

149



KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS 
/ REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

17. Traffic Signals 
Maintenance and 
Supply Contract – 
KEY/21MAR16/03
To jointly procure a Traffic 
Signal Maintenance and 
Supply and Installation 
Contract with 
Cambridgeshire County 
Council, Central 
Bedfordshire, Bedford 
Borough, Luton and 
Peterborough City 
Council (5 authorities)  
through a NEC 3 contract 
with a Single Supplier 
Framework with call off 
contract for 5 plus 3 
years.

Councillor Peter 
Hiller
Cabinet Member 
for Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

July 2016 Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Peter Tebb
Network and Traffic 
Manger
Tel: 01733 453519
Peter.tebb@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information).

18. Increased Number of 
Connectivity/Access 
Points (CityFibre) 
Within the Managed 
ICT Contract – 
KEY/21MAR16/04
To approve the number 
of connectivity/access 
points within the ICT 
contract.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member 
for Resources

July
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Richard Godfrey
Assistant Director 
Digital
Tel: 01733 317989
Richard.godfrey@pet
erborough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

150



KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS 
/ REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

19. Transfer of Housing 
Needs Staff to Serco 
– KEY/29MAR16/01
To approve the transfer 
of Housing Needs Staff 
to Serco as part of the 
Council’s Customer 
Experience Front Door 
Programme. 

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member 
for Resources in 
consultation 
with Councillor 
Peter Hiller 
Cabinet Member 
for Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

July 2016 Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Belinda Child
Head of Housing and 
Health Improvement
Tel: 01733 863769
Belinda.child@peterb
orough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraphs 1&3, information 
relating an individual and to 
the financial or business 
affairs of any particular 
person (including the 
authority holding that 
information).

20. Personal Care and 
Support  (Homecare) 
in Peterborough – 
KEY/02MAY16/01
To approve the 
awarding of a contract 
to an external provider 
following a competitive 
tender exercise.

Councillor 
Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 

December 
2016

Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Karen Hodsdon
Senior Category 
Manager
Karen.hodsdon@pete
rborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

151



KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

21. Independent 
Advocacy Services in 
Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough – 
KEY/02MAY/02
To approve the 
awarding of a contract 
to an external provider 
following a competitive 
tender exercise.

Councillor 
Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 

August 2016 Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Richard Redmond
Head of 
Commissioning – Older 
People, Physical 
Disability, Sensory 
Impairment, HIV and 
Carers
Richard.redmond@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

22. Peterborough City 
Council Construction 
Framework – 
KEY/30MAY16/01
Approval of 
Peterborough City 
Council Construction 
Framework

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member 
for Resources

August 2016 Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Brian Howard
Head of Schools 
Infrastructure
Tel: 01733 863976
Brian.howard@peterbo
rough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information relating 
to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding 
that information).

23. Provision of Social 
Care Temporary 
Agency Staff – 
KEY/13JUN16/01
To approve the provision 
of Social Care temporary 
agency staff. 

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member 
for Resources

July 
2016

Scrutiny 
Committee 
for Health 
Issues

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

James Fordham
Recruitment and 
Retention Manager
Tel: 01733 864581
James.fordham@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

152



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

24. Procurement 
Services – 
KEY/27JUN16/01
To approve updates 
to the Procurement 
Services provided 
by Serco.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

July 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Steven Pilsworth
Service Director 
Financial Services 
Tel: 01733 384564
Steven.pilsworth@pete
rborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

25. A1139 Junction 17-
2 Widening 
Scheme – 
KEY/27JUN16/02
To approve the final 
accounts for the 
A1139 Jct 17-2 
widening scheme.

Councillor Peter 
Hiller
Cabinet Member for 
Growth, Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

July 2016 Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Andy Tatt
Head of Peterborough 
Highway Services
Tel: 01733 453469
Andy.tatt@peterboroug
h.gov.uk
Peter Garnham
Highway Service 
Delivery Manager
Tel: 01733 453458
Peter.garnham@peterb
orough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information relating 
to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding 
that information).

26. Farm Estate Action 
Plan – 
KEY/27JUN16/03
To approve the 
Council Farm Estate 
Action Plan.

Cabinet 25 July 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Jo Gresty
Farms Manager
Tel: 01733 384605
Jo.gresty@peterboroug
h.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

153



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

27. East Anglia 
Devolution 
Agreement 
Governance 
Review – 
KEY/27JUN16/04
To agree to 
undertake a 
Governance 
Review. 

Cabinet 27 June 
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Kim Sawyer
Director of Governance
Tel: 01733 452361
Kim.sawyer@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

28. Amendment of 
Existing Loan 
Arrangements to 
Empower – 
KEY/05JUL16/01
To agree the 
amendment to 
existing 
arrangements to 
Empower.

Cabinet July 2016 Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

John Harrison
Corporate Director 
Resources
John.harrison@peterbo
rough.gov.uk
Tel: 01733 452520

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

 

154



PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISIONS IN PRIVATE

KEY DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 

1. Creating a Housing 
Delivery Company and 
the Reallocation of 
Corporate Affordable 
Housing Funds – 
KEY/31MAY16/02
For Cabinet to agree to 
the establishment of a 
new joint venture for the 
delivery of all types and 
tenure of housing and 
related accommodation 
and review corporate 
affordable housing 
funding allocations 
processes. 

Cabinet July 2016 Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Simon Machen
Corporate Director for 
Growth and 
Regeneration
Tel: 01733 453475
Simon.machen@peterb
orough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information relating 
to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding 
that information).

2. Potential Energy Joint 
Venture – 
KEY/07MAR16/04
For Cabinet to consider 
and approve a potential 
energy joint venture. 

Cabinet September 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Richard Pearn
Waste Partnership 
Manager
Tel: 01733 864739
Richard.pearn@peterb
orough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information relating 
to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding 
that information).

155



PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS

NON-KEY DECISIONS 

DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

1. Food Safety Service 
Plan – To approve the 
service plan.

Councillor Irene 
Walsh
Cabinet Member 
for Communities 
and 
Environment 
Capital

August 2016 Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Peter Gell
Head of Regulatory 
Services
Tel: 01733 453419
Peter.gell@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

2. Safer Peterborough 
Partnership Plan – To 
approve the Safer 
Peterborough 
Partnership Plan and 
recommend its 
adoption by Full 
Council.

Cabinet July 2016 Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Gary Goose
Head of Community 
Services
Tel: 01733 863901
Gary.goose@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

156



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

3. Transforming Care 
Plan – To approve the 
Plan which has been 
produced by the 
Transforming Care 
Partnership and as 
required by DOH by 
July 2016.

Councillor 
Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health

July 2016 Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues 

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Nigel Harvey-Whitten
Interim Head of Mental 
Health and Learning 
Disability 
Commissioning
Tel: 01733 452474
Nigel.harvey-
whitten@peterborough.
gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

4. Contract for Personal 
Care and Support 
Transfer - 
Agreement to assign 
the contract for 
personal care and 
support from Housing 
and Care 21 to 
Carewatch Care 
Services Limited 

Councillor 
Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 

July 2016 Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Richard Redmond
Head of 
Commissioning – Older 
People, Physical 
Disability, Sensory 
Impairment, HIV and 
Carers
Richard.redmond@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

157



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

5. Child Poverty 
Strategy
To approve the Child 
Poverty Strategy.

Cabinet September 
2016

Creating 
Opportunities 
and Tackling 
Inequalities

Consultation to 
take place in 
June 2016 with 
voluntary and 
community sector 
partners.

Ian Phillips
Social Inclusion 
Manager
Tel: 01733 863849
Ian.phillips@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

6. To Adopt the 
Highway Asset 
Management Policy 
and Strategy
To approve the 
adoption of the 
Highway Asset 
Management Policy 
and Strategy.

Councillor Peter 
Hiler
Cabinet Member 
for Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

July 2016 Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Lewis Banks, Principal 
Transport Planning 
Officer
Tel: 01733 317465 
Lewis.banks@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

7. Empty Homes 
Strategy – To approve 
the Empty Homes 
Strategy.

Councillor Peter 
Hiller
Cabinet Member 
for Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

September 
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities 

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Belinda Child
Head of Housing and 
Health Improvement
Tel: 01733 863769
Belinda.child@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

158



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

8. Vivacity Funding –
To fund Vivacity £1278
until March 2016 (via
DWP grant funding) to
provide digital support 
for
UC claimants to make
benefit claims online at
Central Library.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

July
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Ian Phillips
Social Inclusion 
Manager
Tel: 01733 863849
Ian.phillips@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

9. Vivacity Premier 
Fitness Invest to Save 
Scheme - 
To authorise 
investment in 
developing Vivacity 
Premier Fitness on an 
invest to save basis

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member 
for Resources

July 
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities 

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

John Harrison
Corporate Director 
Resources
Tel: 01733 452520
John.harrison@peterbo
rouh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that 
information).

159



DIRECTORATE RESPONSIBILITIES

RESOURCES DEPARTMENT Corporate Director's Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
City Services and Communications (Markets and Street Trading, City Centre Management including Events, Regulatory Services, Parking Services, Vivacity Contract, CCTV 
and Out of Hours Calls, Marketing and Communications, Tourism and Bus Station, Resilience)
Strategic Finance
Internal Audit
Schools Infrastructure (Assets and School Place Planning)
Waste and Energy
Strategic Client Services (Enterprise Peterborough / Vivacity / SERCO including Customer Services, ICT and Business Support)

PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES DEPARTMENT Corporate Director’s Office at Bayard Place, Broadway, PE1 1FB
Adult Services and Communities (Adult Social Care Operations, Adult Social Care and Quality Assurance, Adult Social Care Commissioning, Early Help – Adults, Children and 
Families, Housing and Health Improvement, Community and Safety Services, Offender Services)
Children’s Services and Safeguarding (Children’s Social Care Operations, Children’s Social Care Quality Assurance, Safeguarding Boards – Adults and Children’s, Child 
Health, Clare Lodge (Operations), Access to Resources)
Education, People Resources and Corporate Property (Special Educational Needs and Inclusion, School Improvement, City College Peterborough, Pupil Referral Units, 
Schools Infrastructure)
Business Management and Commercial Operations (Commissioning, Recruitment and Retention, Clare Lodge (Commercial), Early Years and Quality Improvement)

GOVERNANCE DEPARTMENT Director’s Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
Legal and Democratic Services 
Human Resources (Business Relations, HR Policy and Rewards, Training and Development, Occupational Health and Workforce Development)
Performance and Information (Performance Management, Information Governance, Systems Support Team, Coroner’s Office, Freedom of Information)

GROWTH AND REGENERATION DEPARTMENT Corporate Director’s Office Stuart House, St Johns Street, Peterborough, PE1 5DD
Development and Construction (Development Management, Planning Compliance, Building Control)
Sustainable Growth Strategy (Strategic Planning, Housing Strategy and Affordable Housing, Climate Change and Environment Capital, Natural and Built Environment)
Opportunity Peterborough
Peterborough Highway Services (Network Management, Highways Maintenance, Street Naming and Numbering, Street Lighting, Design and Adoption of Roads, Drainage and 
Flood Risk Management, Transport Policy and Sustainable Transport, Public Transport)
Corporate Property

PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT Director’s Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
Health Protection, Health Improvements, Healthcare Public Health.

160


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 March 2016
	5 Appointment Of A Co-Opted Member
	6 School Attendance Including Behaviour and Attendance Panels and Pressure on School Places
	6. July 16 - Education Appendix 1 - Attendance Pb v National Data Trend
	6. July 16 - Education Appendix 2 - Attendance Case Study 1
	6. July 16 - Education Appendix 3 - Attendance Case Studies 2,3,4
	6. July 16 - Education Appendix 4 - Attendance Case Study 5
	6. July 16 - Education Appendix 5 - Attendance Case Study 6
	6. Appendix 6 School Places Plan
	6. COTI  July 16 - Education Appendix 6 - School Places Plan (2)
	6. COTI July 16 - Education Appendix 6 Secondary data


	7 Review of Progress Against Action Plan Following Ofsted Inspection of Children's Services, 2015
	ofsted action plan update july Appendix 1

	8 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Transformation Programme
	9 Prevent and the Work of the Channel Panel
	10 Review Of 2015/2016 and Draft Work Programme for 2016/17
	Appendix 1 - Recommendations from 2015 - 2016  -  160718
	Appendix 2 Draft WorkProgramme 2016-17

	11 Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
	11. Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 25 July 2016 APPENDIX 1




